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HIGHLIGHTS

S

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31st March

MBERE

BE=A=+—AIFE

2022 2021
—E—— —E-—F
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET
Revenue LON 2,807.9 2,073.6 +35.4%
Gross profit EN 339.7 253.0 +34.3%
Operating profit KR F 157.0 96.0 +63.5%
Profit for the year F R 63.4 3.8 +1,559.4%
Profit attributable to owners KRRHEBA 65.5 1.7 +3,815.3%
of the Company FEAE 3
Basic earnings per IR T @R AR 10.22 0.26 +3,830.8%
ordinary share (HK cent) (&L
Interim dividend per FRE RS RS 1.50 — N/A 38 A
ordinary share (HK cent) (&L
Proposed final dividend per BESREBRRERE 1.50 — N/A 38 B
ordinary share (HK cent) (&L
Special dividend per BT @R RIIRE — 1.00 N/A “1iE
ordinary share (HK cent) (&L
Gross profit margin ER=E 12.1% 12.2% -0.1p.p.BDE
Operating profit margin B B 5.6% 46% +1.0pp.BEDH
Net profit margin F M & 2.3% 02% +21p.p.BDE

REVENUE BY LINES OF BUSINESS
BEFRH2ZWA

3.5% .j

14.0%

@  Steels Distribution and Processing Business

i $2 55 38 M opl T 7%

®  Building Products Distribution Business £ $ p
BREMHIDHER X
2021/22

Property Investment and Fund Management

Business

EHERERESEESER 82.5%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFEMBREE

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated NTABEHMEZERBERAR(ART ) REWE
financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance NEHBIAEE DR TIEFEZEEZEEH
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries BT E -

(collectively, the “Group”) for the respective years as

hereunder stated.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT SERER

Yearended VYear ended Yearended Yearended Year ended
3ist March @ 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
e R Bz BZE BZE

—2—= —E--F CZE-2F “E-AF ZE-N\F

SASTSEN —A=+-H ZA=t-B ZA=t+-A =ZA=+-H

EEE EEE EFE EFE IEFE

HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000

FAT FET FET FET FET

Revenue WA 2,807,900 2,073,632 2,325,031 2,882,605 3,032,852
Operating profit/(loss) mERT/ (B1E) 156,992 96,000 4,812 74,268 (90,680)
Net finance costs FUBER (61,436) (62,914) (78,400) (75,718) (65,698)

Share of results of investments [EMRIREZREAEZ
accounted for using equity KREZEE

method - net — 58 (12,550) (19,724) (12,947) 19,276 14,366
Profit/(loss) before BRATISTUAD
income tax wA,/ (EE) 83,006 13,362 (86,535) 17,826 (142,012)
Income tax (expense)/credit  FiEH (%), HE (19,567) (9,539) (1,616) (13,447) 1,772
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF/(E8) 63,439 3,823 (88,151) 4,379 (140,240)
Attributable to: [
— Owners of the Company S YNGIEFE N 65,503 1,673 (90,309) 13,888 (147,712)
- Non-controlling interests — JEPEHI (2,064) 2,150 2,158 (9,509) 7,472
63,439 3,823 (88,151) 4,379 (140,240)
Dividends RE 19,212 6,412 — 12,825 10,057

2021/22 Annual Report | %R 5



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEMHERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF REBMBMR R R
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at As at As at As at As at
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2021 2020 2018
R-E=—F RZE-N\E
= EN —A=1+—H =A=t+—-H
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,966,749 1,881,726 1,792,413 1,907,672 1,604,281
Current assets MBBE 1,401,472 1,079,044 940,636 1,088,949 1,527,607
Current liabilities MENBE (1,374,122)  (1,065,294) (857,014)  (1,070,938)  (1,350,186)
Non-current liabilities ERBERE (879,871) (886,968) (959,267) (812,247) (694,261)
Net assets BEFHE 1,114,228 1,008,508 916,768 1,113,436 1,087,441
Equity: T
Share capital AR 64,041 64,123 64,123 64,123 64,055
Reserves 1B 926,794 823,598 741,722 926,223 993,648
Capital and reserves AREHEEA
attributable to AR REA
owners of the Company Rkt 990,835 887,721 805,845 990,346 1,057,703
Non-controlling interests JEIR G MR 123,393 120,787 110,923 123,090 29,738
Total equity A 1,114,228 1,008,508 916,768 1,113,436 1,087,441

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present you the audited consolidated results for the year
ended 31st March 2022 (the “Year”).

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
TEgsz PN

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

pha e
B

BALRIR -

AAEBRREBEEBEERARAFLENB LA
(AR AKEDESS([EFE])  MARIEE
TR F-A=+-BUFE(AFE)ZEE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRMES

Over the past year, the business environment continued to
be unpredictable and challenging. The sporadic COVID-19
outbreak has brought significant disruptions to the global
supply chain. Compounded by the recent geopolitical
tension, that has led to a drastic change in the commodity
market, which in turn, putting notable cost pressure on our
Steels Distribution and Processing Business. The subsequent
social distancing measures in Hong Kong and Macau also
restricted retail and commercial sales of sanitary ware;
whereas in Shanghai, the commercial property market also
suffered from worsening occupancy and rent rate, as well as
deteriorating investment appetite, at the time of lockdown.

Yet, despite facing such strong headwinds, we believe the
Group has displayed exemplary agility and awareness to
counter the “new normal”.

Our proven and refined steel procurement strategy was able
to protect margins and ensure project deliveries even at the
darkest times. Riding on our market-leading position, we
also saw a much higher adoption rate for our offsite rebar
processing services, laying a solid foundation for future
revenue growth and margin enhancement.

On the other hand, we were able to gain notable orders for
our Building Products Distribution Business in Hong Kong
and Macau. We also invested in research and development
by collaborating with a Hong Kong start-up which
specialises in AloT Smart Toilet Solutions. The combination
of “Product+Service” should offer great value to property
developers and management companies, which will help us
to boost client acquisition, increase customer stickiness, and
improve sales in the medium-term.

For our Property Investment and Fund Management Business
in Shanghai, tenant acquisition work was able to continue
at pace, and our Central Park e Huangpu was able to
complete its revitalisation work, achieving a satisfactory
increase in occupancy and rent rates during the Year. We
also made attempts in redesigning and refitting our office
space, so that potential tenants can efficiently and cost-
effectively moving into our properties, allowing us to capture
opportunities once the market rebounds.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR
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We also aimed to do good while doing well. As a responsible
corporate citizen, we have devoted much effort in aiding the
fight against the new wave of COVID-19. In Hong Kong, we
supplied high-quality, tested, and readily available rebar
for the construction of community isolation and treatment
facilities. In Shanghai, we also provided accommodation
for medical personnel through a hotel under one of our
managed properties. In addition to our effort on COVID-19,
we also strive to reduce our carbon footprint and contribute
to the future, by partnering with a green equipment company
for the installation of solar panels at our Tsing Yi plant.

Looking ahead, we believe there are reasons to be
optimistic. In the case of Hong Kong, the construction
industry is steadily recuperating from the impacts of
COVID-19. We saw an increasing efficiency in civil
projects approval, while private projects were also making
strides as investment sentiment recovered. Along with the
establishment of the National Security Law, as well as the
succession of a new Chief Executive and government, Hong
Kong is expected to enter a new stage of stability and
development, laying a solid foundation for future construction
projects.

In Shanghai, the COVID-19-induced lockdown has recently
come to a close. Although it remains to be seen on how soon
Shanghai can fully recover, we believe it continues to be an
attractive proposition, with its unique positioning as one of
best international business hubs in Mainland China remains
intact even under COVID-19. To be better prepared for the
changing demand in commercial properties, our property
management team shall work closely with our tenants and
customers, so that our workspace can best facilitate the new
modes of working.

Overall, we are grateful with our financial performance
during the Year. | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to our business partners, staff
and shareholders for their trust and support. We will continue
to take our business to new heights and generate greater
values for our shareholders and the greater community in the
future.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June 2022

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRMES

BPEMTEENRE IR NITE - (EAEEEN
TEAR  BABEBHSANEH —F2019T
MREREE - £EE - BB REEE R AER
MEIR A TBE - 4RI R AT BIE 3 R A TR 2R 5 B
me E G RMABEASRME T EEFERE -
ZHMMAFEMEF —EEENEHEBEE T
B —REDBEE - BT HRMEREZ2019BRESHN
B BAME—REBRRERERAREIE " B
BB XBE MR ARIFREZEER - BB DRI
e - BARERE—D7 -

ARH - BN BRELBRE - SLEETIHM
CBEEEESEL2019BRESHNEE -

D> ik
fuck

ZIREMRL OF - BEEECERBEZE)NE
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BEEARTERNHBE  AREZBEBEKEF
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EAE R ERE 2019 BARE S M B i r) 3 28
I o BEAREREREERRFNE —BRERE - RFAE
ELBANEZRIENEE - BIELT B ALK
B E PO AR ARSI AE - A BB R e R Sl
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Central Park ® Huangpu, a 53-storey building
located at Huangpu District, Shanghai
HFiEEEHAESSENAE YR LEEHE

FELEL_ W TR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

New initiatives to drive
business growth in the
post-pandemic era

L BERIFB#

HIERERBRHANTE KB

OVERVIEW

During FY2021/22 (the “Year”), the Novel Coronavirus
(“COVID-19") pandemic has unfortunately persisted, and
the subsequent infection control measures in Hong Kong
and Shanghai have restricted both infrastructure projects
development as well as rebound of consumption activities.
Together with rising inflation, growing difficulties in global
supply chain, and the regional conflict which severely
disrupted the global steel and energy supply and demand,
these have all posed significant challenges to the Group’s
daily operation and financial performance, particularly in
the fourth quarter of the Year. Nonetheless, as economies
slowly adapted to the “new normal”, construction projects
in Hong Kong and Macau, whether private or public,
have demonstrated a gradual yet sustainable rebound in
demand, while the Shanghai office market is also regaining
momentum. In tandem with the Group’s unremitting effort in
steel sourcing, improving steels processing efficiency and
asset management capability, the Group was able to deliver
another set of encouraging results for the Year.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | BB AR B[R AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB W&o

During the Year, revenue increased from approximately
HK$2,073.6 million for the same period last year, to
approximately HK$2,807.9 million for the Year, representing
a year-on-year growth of 35.4%, mainly attributable to the
increase in steel price as well as the surge in order delivery
from our Steels Distribution and Processing Business
(formerly known as Construction Materials Business). In
line with the increase in revenue, gross profit increased
from approximately HK$253.0 million to approximately
HK$339.7 million, with gross profit margin maintained at
approximately 12.1% (FY2020/21: approximately 12.2%),
as a result of the Group’s proven procurement strategy
and increasing processing efficiency. Profit attributable to
owners of the Company reached approximately HK$65.5
million, representing a significant increase of 38.2 times as
compared with same period last year.

In terms of business segments, whilst Property Investment
and Fund Management Business (formerly known as Property
Investment and Project Management Business) remained
resilient, Steels Distribution and Processing Business and
Building Products Distribution Business (formerly known
as Building and Design Solutions Business) have achieved
encouraging results during the Year, with an increase in
segment profit before income tax of approximately 117.1%
and 25.9% respectively.

For the Year, the basic earnings per ordinary share was
HK10.22 cents, as compared with HK0.26 cent in last year.

The Group also strived to do good while doing well. During
the Year, the Group joined hands with local communities to
fight against the pandemic in Hong Kong and Shanghai. Its
reinforcing bar processing plant in Tsing Yi has supplied
high-quality, tested, and prefabricated rebar for the
construction of community isolation and treatment facilities.
The Pullman Shanghai Skyway Hotel located in its Central
Park ® Huangpu, Shanghai also served as an accommodation
facility for local medical staff.

RAFE - ;R IRPIME D 85 Kohn T35 (A 18 2

SEMBER)NFTEINEREEMN - H0 LM E
R WAREFREN2,073.6 BEE LM
ERFEH28079BEETL  ALLIER35.4% °
EMBA2308EBABTEMEL3I30.78 8B
TC - B AE R RBA D o BEEAEERRERE
BENWANTIRETEIRS  EAREFEY
121A%(ZZT =T/ ——§F : £912.2%) - XA T
BEARGEFEZNES5BEBTL REFR
B KIE 14 0 38.21% »

REBRRME  FHEREIESBLEK(A
MEBERERFEREEREER ) BRAR TR
550 70 35 B pD T 3675 DA R SR R 0 8 26 7% (BT
BREEMERANRER)TRAFERFT TS
ANBEFRERESE - 0 RRR TS B ATE A 2 BIE &4
117.1% }225.9% °

AEE > FREBEREAZETAE10.2280 - mE
F20.26 8l -

EHEXBEROER  AEBEELE TENRTE
B RAFE » AEBEBER HENE LR
BFEIUES - RS XA I TR AL =R

ABEREIRE TEE - N R AR E A&
TERMMER - MAER EEFBE « EHAET
BEHREXNBETK AT EHMEEABNIBER
iiiid
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB W&o

Our track record in Shanghai
BN LN RRES

HONGKOU
OX

Lujiazui CBD
BERIE R REHEE

HRBE « BH HRIBE « B2 HRABE o AR
Central Park ® Huangpu Central Park ® Jing'an Central Park ® Pudong
; FHHE Huangpu District EFZ & Jing'an District JHSR3E Pudong New District
BAEREEGEE Y 4
Office & Hotel Complex Office Building
DB FHBHE « Tt Bz
Park Lane Central Park  Putuo The Point Jing’an
i REE Changning District S wel- EPE& Putuo District L& Jing’an District
BEXAE R=B—tFAANE wag R-F—tF=AlE R=Z-—ME=AHE
Serviced Apartment Disposed in September 2017 Office Building Disposed in March 2017 Office Building Disposed in March 2014
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Investment and Fund Management Business
(formerly known as Property Investment and Project Management
Business)

Positioned as a niche market specialist with proven track
record in asset revitalisation and value optimisation, the
Group’s Property Investment and Fund Management
Business primarily focuses on the commercial property
market in Shanghai, through (i) direct acquisition of
commercial properties, with a view to generate sustainable
rental and property management fee income and achieving
fair value appreciation in the medium-to-long term; and (ii)
investing in properties via partnerships or investment funds,
where the Group takes an equity stake and acts as a general
partner and/or investment manager to earn fee income.

GFA UNDER MANAGEMENT
EEEREER

@  Central ParkeHuangpu
HIBTE « FH

161,724
Central Parkejing'an Sq.m
RBTE o« 5% 161,724 75K
®  Central ParkePudong OCE:Q o
BT o HE e

The Group embraced its “asset-light” model when
developing its property projects. As at 31st March 2022,
the Group is managing a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 161,724 square meters, with asset under
management of approximately HK$9,828.0 million in values.
Among the three Central Park projects under management,
Central Park ¢ Pudong is wholly-owned by the Group, while
it is partnering with leading investment funds for the other
two revitalisation projects, namely Central Park ¢ Jing’an and
Central Park ® Huangpu.

@  Ceniral ParkeHuangpu

BEERWE D

EBOE

FHERERECELERE
(FIBEERERAH EEXY)

EREERLELEBRATENAITSEER » K
SECFHERENESELERHR I LENER
WEMS  WREANRBRIFEELE  BIB()
ERWEEHWERR H NEATHERSRYEK
A ARFERABRAABERES k(i) AE%
SRERSHAREFMEERR - MARERES
BEFBEALETEREBARRIRELE - U
FRERE R o

ASSET UNDER MANAGEMENT
HEEE

FIBEE o FH

HK$9.8
N Billion
RISIE ¢ BF R 98@%7_1',

=

Cenfral ParkeJing’an

Ceniral ParkePudong
FIBIE « R

AEBEREREFMEBEEREA TIEREE &K
N -HRZE-_—F=ZA=+—H AEEEENZ
BEAmE(RBEAR DAA 161,724 F K £F
BEBEYAIB8280EEBT EEM=+hE
[EIEE R - AEE o HFRAAEEZ2ERH @ F
TEIE o B NPERE o EEMEE(LFARIEE A
DRIRELMIREESEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE D

Even though the tightened infection control measures in
Shanghai posed momentary impact on the Group’s operation
and hindered commercial activities like new tenants visits,
our property management team in Shanghai was committed
to staying in the managed properties and maintaining the
necessary supporting services to tenants and customers.
Thanks to the improvement in video conferencing facilities
and remote working technologies, our leasing team was
able to interact with our existing tenants as well as potential
tenants without interruptions. For the Year, rental income
of our wholly-owned property, Central Park ® Pudong, has
increased to approximately HK$50.0 million, representing
a 33.1% growth as compared with last year. Also, major
revitalisation work of Central Park e Huangpu was completed
in September 2021, and tenants have gradually moved into
this landmark building located in Huangpu District, Shanghai
during the second half of the Year.

RENTAL INCOME V.S. FEE INCOME
HEWA BABA

@ Renfal income

HEBA

Fee income

ZREA

HK$47.1 million |
AT1EBER —
(48.5%)

All in all, the Group’'s Property Investment and Fund
Management Business recorded a profit before income tax of
approximately HK$10.0 million on revenue of approximately
HK$97.1 million for the Year, representing a turnaround from
a loss before income tax of approximately HK$7.6 million
on revenue of approximately HK$94.1 million for the same
period last year.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | BB AR B[R AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Building Products Distribution Business
(formerly known as Building and Design Solutions Business)

Building Products Distribution Business represents a
comprehensive value proposition for architects and designers.
It offers an extensive, well-designed, and popular portfolio of
branded sanitary wares, fitting and kitchenware products for
hotels, residential, shopping malls, airport and commercial
buildings, providing full-chain services covering design,
installation, logistics and technical support.

Contributed by the notable rebound in renovation projects
for commercial buildings and hotels in Hong Kong, as
well as the successful order fulfillment for key projects in
Macau, the segment achieved a remarkable results for the
Year, with profit before income tax increasing by 25.9% to
approximately HK$43.1 million, on revenue of approximately
HK$393.7 million, as compared with a profit before
income tax of approximately HK$34.2 million, on revenue
of approximately HK$313.9 million last year. During the
Year, the segment has completed several iconic projects,
including the new Phase 3 of Macau Galaxy project, AIRSIDE
at Kai Tak as well as the renovation projects for Alexandra
House and Central Plaza.

TOTO Sanitary Wares
TOTO#TPARA

BEETWE D

BEME D HER
(BB E R Rt T FEH)

REMB D HERE ERREEM KRR EE
MEERR - HREE - T BYRES #E5K
BERHEBER S - Rt E R BV mEESR
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At REK - MR REMSE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE D

During the Year, the Group has become a strategic investor
as well as one of the distributors of a leading “Smart Toilet
Solution” service provider, BluTech loT, the award winner
of the 14th edition of the Hong Kong ICT Awards. Blutech
loT is a startup company focusing on building intelligent
AloT systems used in commercial properties and shopping
malls, whose solutions would improve property management
efficiency for property owners or management companies.
By leveraging the Group’s comprehensive brand portfolio
in sanitary ware, together with the AloT solutions offered
by BluTech loT, the Group is well-positioned to capture the
rising demand from the growing hygiene awareness amidst
the pandemic, as well as the growing call for high-quality
and “smart” property management services.

Smart Toilet Solution

BROAFRBRAR

Steels Distribution and Processing Business
(formerly known as Construction Materials Business)

Steels Distribution and Processing Business mainly offers
construction and industrial steel in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. During the Year, the segment continued to face
challenges on various fronts, with the COVID-19 pandemic
as well as regional conflict both have caused notable
disruption to steel supply and demand, thus increasing
the volatility of global steel price. Thankfully, the Group'’s
proven procurement strategy was able to effectively manage
the price risk, allowing it to improve its margin. In the
case of Hong Kong, as COVID-19 slowly stabilised, there
was also an increase in the number of public and private
construction projects, laying a solid foundation for profit
growth. In particular, its delivery volume has increased
by approximately 29% and 8% for its construction steels
processing business and construction steels distribution
business in Hong Kong, respectively during the Year. All
in all, the segment profit before income tax also increased
by 117.1% to approximately HK$88.4 million, on revenue
of approximately HK$2,317.2 million, as compared with a
profit before income tax of approximately HK$40.7 million,
on revenue of approximately HK$1,660.8 million for the same
period last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DN

Automated Rebar Processing and Assembly Plant
B Bt A5 i T R R B

The key projects that the Group has participated include
both civil infrastructure works and private projects, such
as Tseung Kwan O - Lam Tin Tunnel, Shek Wu Hui Effluent
Polishing Plant, Water Supplies Department headquarters,
hotels project in Cheung Sha Wan, and private residential
project in Siu Hong station.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PLAN
Property Investment and Fund Management Business

Shanghai has made concerted and all-out effort against
the current wave of pandemic in the past two months, the
COVID-19-induced lockdown has recently come to a close
and the impact to the Group’s operation in Shanghai was
temporary. Although it remains to be seen on how soon
Shanghai can fully recover, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic over Shanghai’s long-term economy growth as
well as the growth momentum from the office leasing market
upon easing of anti-epidemic restriction measures.

With major renovation work of Central Park ® Huangpu being
completed, the Group will strive to increase its occupancy
rate in the upcoming year, and will work closely with its
partners for providing a better workspace for tenants to
grow their businesses. The Group will also keep a keen eye
on other possible opportunities in Shanghai for property
revitalisation and management.

AEE2ENEHANERRZER  BESER-
EMBE - AR E - KEERE - ROE
BEEER MK FLAEEIER ©

RE N RRETE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE D

Building Products Distribution Business

By leveraging the strong market presence of its brand
partners as well as their comprehensive, well-designed
sanitary product and fitting portfolio, the Group endeavor to
capture the market opportunities arising from rising hygiene
awareness and growing call on product customisation.
Also, the introduction of Smart Toilet Solution would further
enrich the Group’s brand portfolio, allowing it to offer a more
comprehensive “Product+Service” solutions to its clients,
which in turn, would drive product adoption and market
penetration. The Group’s growing capability, meanwhile,
would also make it a more attractive proposition to other
potential branded partners, laying a solid foundation for
future brand expansion.

Steels Distribution and Processing Business

The Group remains cautiously optimistic in the outlook of
the construction industry in Hong Kong. According to the
Government’s Budget 2022/23 and the Chief Executive's
2022 Policy Address, the Hong Kong Government continues
to take forward the development of an international
innovation and technology hub in the Northern Metropolis,
setting aside HK$100 billion in the Future Fund to
expedite infrastructure works relating to land, housing and
transportation. This should lay a solid foundation of the
pipeline for the demand of construction steel materials.

Currently, the business is well on track to deliver profit
growth. Supported by the expanded production capacity
and the continuous improvement processing efficiency of its
off-site steel processing plant in Tsing Yi, the Group is well-
positioned to capture the rising demand from public housing
development, as well as the increasing acceptance of off-
site cut-and-bend for a green construction future.

The Group will also maintain its prudent procurement

strategy in order to mitigate the risks brought by steel price
volatility, lingering COVID-19, and potential inflation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Position

Compared with the financial year ended 31st March 2021,
the Group's total assets increased from approximately
HK$2,960.8 million to approximately HK$3,368.2 million
as at 31st March 2022. The Group’s inventories increased
from approximately HK$443.1 million to approximately
HK$547.5 million, mainly due to the continuous surge in
steel price in the Year. The average inventory days of
supply is at approximately 73 days. The Group’s trade
and bill receivables also increased from approximately
HK$363.8 million to approximately HK$509.6 million. The
average overall days of sales outstanding slightly decreased
to 49 days. Net asset value of the Group increased
from approximately HK$1,008.5 million to approximately
HK$1,114.2 million, mainly attributable to the translation gain
arisen from the appreciation on Renminbi (“RMB”) for the
Group’s net investments in Mainland China as well as the
profit attributable to owners gained in the Year. Net asset
value per ordinary share was equivalent to approximately
HK$1.55 as at 31st March 2022.

Compared with the financial position as at 31st March
2021, the Group's cash and cash equivalents and pledged
bank deposits increased by approximately HK$58.9 million
to approximately HK$232.0 million, while the Group’s
borrowings increased by approximately HK$44.3 million to
approximately HK$1,499.0 million as at 31st March 2022.
Current ratio maintained at approximately 1.0, with gearing
ratio (net debt, which is total borrowings minus pledged
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents, divided by
capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company
plus net debt) slightly decreasing from 59.1% to 56.1%. The
Group will continue to monitor the turnover of its working
capital, and take various measures on cost containment
and operational efficiency improvement to preserve working
capital and strengthen its liquidity.

Financial Resources

The Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally
managed and controlled at the corporate level. The
Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus on
managing financial risks including interest rate and foreign
exchange risks; cost efficient funding of the Company and
its subsidiaries; and yield enhancement from time to time
when the Group’s cash position allows. The Group has
always adhered to prudent financial management principles,
including the selection of investment securities according to
the Group’s treasury investment policy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE D

The Group’s trade financing remained primarily supported
by its bank trading and term loan facilities. As at 31st March
2022, approximately 59.0% of the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings were denominated in HK dollar, approximately
33.7% in RMB and approximately 7.3% in US dollar. These
facilities are either secured by the Group’s inventories held
under short-term trust receipts bank loan arrangement and/or
pledged bank deposits and/or corporate guarantee provided
by the Company. All of the above borrowings were on
floating rate basis except for certain term loans of HK$98.0
million, which is converted to a fixed rate basis through an
interest rate swap arrangement. Interest costs of import
bank loans were levied on interbank offered rates plus very
competitive margin. RMB loans of the Group have been
obtained from domestic and foreign banks in Mainland China
in the amount of RMB409.9 million. Interest costs of RMB
banking facilities were based on standard loan rates set by
the People’'s Bank of China/Loan Prime Rate adjusted with
competitive margin. The maturity of the Group’s borrowings
as at 31st March 2022 was as follows:

$Elz %ﬂézxmﬁﬁﬁ%%&m%% A
B W_TE-_—F=ZA=+—H AEEHAE
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Maturity Profile

2 HAHEE R
Within 1 year 1-2 years
1R 12245
49.2% 46.4% 4.4% 100%
Charges on Assets BEEEH
As at 31st March 2022, the Group had certain charges on R-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H AEEHEETEE

assets which included (i) bank deposits of approximately
HK$43.1 million (2021: approximately HK$54.0 million) and
bill receivables of approximately HK$20.7 million (2021:
approximately HK$18.1 million) which were pledged as
collateral for the Group’s bill payables; (ii) investment
properties of approximately HK$1,482.1 million (2021:
approximately HK$1,422.0 million) which were pledged as
collaterals for certain bank borrowings of the Group; and
(iii) machineries of approximately HK$6.0 million (2021:
Nil), included in property, plant and equipment, which was
secured for the Group’s hire purchase liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK
dollars, US dollars and RMB. As exchange rate between HK
dollars and the US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its
exposure to exchange rate risk arising from US dollars is not
material. Facing the volatility of RMB, the Group will continue
to match RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimise
exchange exposure.

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management of
the Group considers appropriate, to hedge against major
non-HK dollars currency exposures. It is the Group’s policy
not to enter into any derivative transaction for speculative
purposes.

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, the Group’s total capital expenditure
amounted to approximately HK$9.1 million (2021:
approximately HK$2.2 million).

Capital Commitments

As at 31st March 2022, the Group’s total capital
commitments amounted to approximately HK$11.3 million
(2021: approximately HK$18.4 million).

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed in Note 40 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, as at 31st March 2022,
the Group had no other material contingent liabilities (2021:
Nil).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

Except for the capital contribution to Skyline Holdings
(BVI) Limited, the associate of the Company, the Group did
not have any other material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SEEN R E NSl

PARTICULAR OF MAJOR PROPERTIES TEYECHE

As at 31st March 2022, the Group’s properties held for RZB-ZF=A=+—"H cEBZHEREZH
investment and their particulars are as follows: M EREFBFHINMOT :

Approximate
attributable
above-ground
GFA

(square meters)

(excluding Number of

Property name and Existing car-parking car park Group’s
location use Tenure spaces) spaces interests
B PR SE
HE&E(FHK)

L EZE SR B HgRAE FERHR (FEEEFEEMN) FENHE TEEz2EZR
Central Park ® Pudong
RBE o HR
No. 2399 Zhangyang Road, Commercial Medium 24,752 170 100%

Pudong New Area, offices term*

Shanghai, China
PR TR RSR BERNE hER

SR15HE 2399 9%
Unit 606, Sanlian Building
= KE606ZE
No. 8 Huajing Road, Commercial Medium 37.64 — 83.3%

Pudong New Area, offices term*

Shanghai, China
PR TR RTR BERNE hER

R 85

Medium terms are for lease less than 50 years but not less than 10 * FHARELRE0EBTALR10F
years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Central Park e Pudong

Central Park e Pudong is a 12-storey office tower with a total
above-ground GFA of approximately 24,752 square meters.
Situated in Inner Ring Road, a prime location of the Pudong
New District, Shanghai, the tower is in close proximity to
Luijiazui's Central Business District and Beiyangjing Road
Station of Line 6 of Shanghai metro.

The Group strives to create a perfect workspace and office
environment for existing and potential tenants. Hence, the
Group has taken various initiatives to offer fit-out office
space (“Workspace@CP"), allowing instant and flexible

move-in services for tenants. This initiative idea was well
accepted by the market, and the Group has subsequently
replicated it to other Central Park projects. Both occupancy
and rent rates of Central Park e Pudong have enjoyed a
steady rebound, with rental income reaching HK$50.0 million
during the Year, representing a 33.1% growth.

BEETWE D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE W RO

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Central Park ® Jing'an

Central ParkeJing’an is a 29-storey Grade A office
building with a retail podium on the ground floor, totalling
approximately 58,601 square meters in above-ground
GFA. The premises is situated at the junction of Hengfeng
Road and Hanzhong Road, two major pathways across
Jing’an District and within the Everbright City of Jing'an.
Surrounded by metro-connected retail shopping malls, hotel
amenities and a number of Grade A office buildings, Central
Park e Jing'an enjoys locational excellence with 3 easily-
accessible metro lines, and is within 10 minutes’ walking
distance to Shanghai Railway Station.

The Group invested in Central Park e Jing'an by partnering
with a leading sovereign wealth fund to form a joint venture,
namely HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited, which the
Group holds an effective 9.3% equity interests. In addition
to the potential value appreciation, the Group also earns
fee income through the provision of management services.
The project underwent revitalisation in September 2018, and
upon completion, it is positioned as a Grade A office with
modernised office and workspace facilities.

During the Year, Central Park e Jing'an recorded an
improving financial performance, with the Group’s share of
loss of investment accounted for using the equity method
reduced to approximately HK$6.8 million (FY2020/21: share
of loss of approximately HK$9.7 million). No gain or loss on
disposal was recorded and no dividend was received during
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Central Park ® Huangpu

Central Park ® Huangpu is a 53-storey high-rise landmark
located at the heart of Huangpu’s central business district,
near the intersection of Dapu Road and Xujiahui Road
and a 5-minute-walk from metro station. As a regional
landmark commercial complex with an above-ground GFA of
approximately 78,371 square meters, Central Park ® Huangpu
is the host of Pullman Shanghai Skyway Hotel (a 5-star
hotel managed by Accor Hotel Group) with office building,
conference halls, catering facilities and retail outlets.

The Group invested in Central Park ® Huangpu through
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited, by partnering with a leading
private equity fund which the Group holds 5% equity
interests. In addition to the potential value appreciation,
the Group also earns fee income through the provision of
management services. The project underwent revitalisation
in June 2020, and thanks to the dedicated efforts from its
execution team and partners, main renovation and facilities
upgrade has been completed within the 15-month period,
despite conducted under the COVID-19 pandemic. During
the Year, there was a notable increase in fair value of
Central Park ® Huangpu after the completion of revitalisation.
Occupancy rate has also improved notably while overall
average rent rate has already increased for approximately
20% as compared with the time of acquisition. Thus, further
showcasing the Group’s revitalisation capabilities.

During the Year, the Group’s share of loss of investment
accounted for using the equity method for this project
continued to narrow to approximately HK$5.8 million
(FY2020/21: share of loss of approximately HK$10.0 million).
No gain or loss on disposal was recorded and no dividend
was received during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE D

As at 31st March 2022, the particulars of the significant

investments held by the Group are as follows:

RZZB-_ZF=A=+—B AEEHFZEXRR

BHIBEIIWT

Total number of shares and
percentage of ownership
interest attributable
to the Group
KrEBRFRODEER

BEREREZASL
Place of business/ Percentage
country to total 31st 31st
establishment/ (o7:144 assets of March March
Name of entity incorporation amount the Group 2022 2021
RREE hAER
EEWE HK$’'000 EE#Er —ZT-= —E--F
BEREAR Al B 3L B =R THET Bt E F =S
Unlisted, ordinary shares
FLEm o BER
HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Mainland China/ 289,056 8.6% 3,690.93 3,690.93
Limited and its subsidiaries British Virgin shares shares
(collectively “HSO Group”) (Note i) Islands and 15% and 15%
HSL Shanghai Office Partners | FREIARE 3,690.93 1% 3,690.93 %
Limited & B KA R) RERURE % 15% % 15%
(FeRB[HSO S & 1) (B3t
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited and Mainland China/ 58,719 1.7% 5 shares 5 shares
its subsidiaries (collectively British Virgin and 5% and 5%
“Skyline Group”) (Note ii) Islands
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited B KR, 5 % 5% 58 % 5%
NP B 22 R (FERE[ Skyline &£ ) EBRTES
(P aE i)
Notes: B3

HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and fund
management business in Mainland China and is owned as to 15% by
Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62% owned subsidiary
of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria Private Limited ("RECQO”")
(an independent third party). As at 31st March 2022, Plentiful has
contributed capital, aggregated to US$36,909,000 (2021: Same) and
the investment in HSO Group is accounted for using equity method in
accordance with HKAS 28 (Amendments). Please refer to Note 20 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for details.

Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment and fund
management business in Mainland China and is owned as to 95% by
Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (“Apollo”) (an independent third party)
and 5% by Top Bloom Group Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company). As at 31st March 2022, Top Bloom
has contributed capital, aggregated to US$8,569,700, equivalent to
approximately HK$67,315,000 (2021: US$7,645,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$60,114,000) and the investment in Skyline Group
is accounted for using equity method in accordance with HKAS 28
(Amendments) Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures. Please
refer to Note 20 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for details.
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%7 - i Apollo Skyline Holding Limited ([Apollo])
(RBILE=7)¥HB 5% &% & HTop Bloom Group
Limited ([Top Bloom])(BARRMEZEMEAR)#E
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B & 7 H & 8,569,700 % T (18 & 1 4967,315,000/% 7T )
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in Note 42 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, there is no other
significant subsequent event occuring after the reporting
period.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group is focusing on nurturing talents to support its
business development. Our growth strategy has always
emphasised our strong commitment to people. We provide
competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
employees. We always commit to provide a safe and
pleasant working environment with constant learning and
growth opportunities.

The remuneration packages for directors and employees are
normally reviewed annually and are structured by reference
to prevailing market terms and individual competence,
performance and experience. Other employee benefits
include training subsidy, discretionary bonus, retirement
benefits, insurance, medical coverage and share option
scheme.

As at 31st March 2022, the Group employed 235 staff (2021:
244). Total staff costs including the contribution to retirement
benefit schemes incurred during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$133.8 million. During the Year, no option
has been offered and/or granted to directors and our
employees under the share option schemes adopted on 11th
August 2011 and 11th August 2021.

BEERWwNE D

BEHPRER

FREEFT < %7 & B TS SRR M RE 42 BT BB S - ¥R
et EMEmEARER -

ADER R 5 BR

AEBEIBEBEAT - WXFHEEBER - RFIW
BRRIE—ERAUAT OEGE - LPIREARF
NHFHM TR - LRSI RABET - RABNSE
TRIEZ 2 MR THERE - X TEREEE K
HEEES -

EENBIZHEMWGEBRESFEMRAL2ER
TSGR REAREN - RIRMERMBIFT - Efh
BTREMNBEEIED - BISIEA - BIKEHN - 4R
B - BEURRL MR E o

RIEBE-__F=A=1+—H AEFHEM235%
BI(ZZEZ—F :244%871) - XFEMBE LK
NEE(BIEHRRENEFENHER)NA133.88
BAETL - RAFE  AEEVERBER_T——F
NA+—BRZZEZ—FN\A+—BEMNZEBRE
FEmEZEREMAZ B TRER SR T ER
1 o
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TEERHmSE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
It believes that high standards of corporate governance
provide a framework and solid foundation for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) to manage
business risks, enhance transparency, maintain high
standards of accountability and protect shareholders’
interest in general. The Company has applied the principles
and complied with the applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) except for CG Code
provision A.2.1 (which has been re-numbered as CG Code
provision C.2.1 since 1st January 2022) for the year ended
31st March 2022 (the “Year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and decision
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time, as its own code of conduct (the “Company’s Model
Code”) regarding securities transactions by the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”). Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they all confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Company’s Model
Code during the Year. The Company’s Model Code also
applies to other specified relevant employees of the Group,
who are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the Year and
up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages
71 to 74 of this annual report.

Board Process

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeding one-third of the Board. One of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. In addition, any further re-appointment
of an Independent Non-executive Director who has served
the Board for more than nine (9) years will be subject to
separate resolution to be approved by shareholders of the
Company. The Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material relevant relationships with each
other.
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TERERRE

The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the
overall business. They are mainly involved in the formulation
and execution of the corporate strategies. The Independent
Non-executive Directors consist of eminent business
executives from Hong Kong and Mainland China, who
provide independent advices to the management through
their wide range of skills and experiences. The Executive
Directors have regular meetings with general managers of
respective business units and key staff of support units to
discuss major business plans and review operational and
financial performance. The Independent Non-executive
Directors are also invited to participate in special review
meetings.

The Company has established four Board Committees,
namely Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee to oversee
various aspects of the affairs.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the
recommendations made by the Nomination Committee),
material contracts and transactions, corporate governance
as well as other significant policy and financial matters.
The daily operations of the Group’s business are executed
by the management of the respective business units under
the instruction and supervision of the Executive Committee
which has its specific written terms of reference.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and
interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be
dealt with. Individual attendance records of each Director at
the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee as well as the general
meeting during the Year are set out below:

TERERRE

EXeEHEMERNTRAREZBERBEIAL
2ENMWHRE - TERARILERSEZ2F LT
HFENEMAREZFHER - RAFE 88
ENEER  FMEZEE FHRZESRREZEER
e UMBRAGZEHN L FELEHNIT

Number of meetings attended/held
HE/ BIERZRE

Remuneration Audit  Nomination General
Board Committee  Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Name of Directors EZE §MEEE® ENZE® 2 REZRE8 RRAE
Executive Directors: HITEE
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew phEE L 414 11 NATER 11 11
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) — (ZE#BEHITE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu El bt 44 NATER  NATER  NATER 11
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFHTEE
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny EBRELE 4/4 1 2/2 il 1
Mr. Xu Lin Bao FMELE 4/4 11 2/2 11 11
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BRSSE 44 NATHEFA 2/2 il 1
Mr. Li Yinquan FER%AE 4/4 11 212 N/ATNER il
Total number of meetings held BTERMAY 4 1 2 1 1

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to give all Directors an opportunity to attend, and
are structured to encourage open discussion. At least 14
days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all
Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment
before being tabled at the following Board meeting for
approval. All minutes and written resolutions of the Board are
taken and kept by the Company Secretary and these minutes
and written resolutions, together with any supporting board
papers, are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

EZeEHeReBFRARE  UEMEAES
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TERERRE

The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely
basis. The Directors are free to have access to the
management for enquiries and to obtain further information
when required. The Directors are encouraged to update their
skills and knowledge, and familiarity with the Group through
ongoing participation at Board and Board Committees
meetings.

The Company has adopted a procedure for directors to
seek independent professional advice. All Directors, in the
discharge of their duties from time to time, may request the
Company to pay for independent professional advice for the
Directors in appropriate circumstances, such request must
be made by the relevant Directors to the Company Secretary
in writing and with stated reasons for the request.

The Company Secretary shall then make the necessary
arrangements for professional advisor(s) proposed to be
appointed and the associated fees to be borne by the
Company. The Company Secretary shall inform and make
such proposed arrangements to the Board.

The Board shall consider the request and the reasons
provided by the relevant Director and the arrangements
proposed by the Company Secretary. The Board may resolve
to obtain independent professional advice to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company if
the request is considered to be reasonable and appropriate
in the circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

When appointed as a Director, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policies and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure
that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
All Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.
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The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company has been
encouraging the Directors and senior management to
participate in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, applicable
regulatory requirements, corporate governance practices and
environmental, social and governance issues organised by
professional bodies and/or independent auditors to further
improve their relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities
by attending seminar, including the e-training provided
by Independent Commission Against Corruption on 21st
January 2022, or conference relating to the Company’s
business or corporate governance and regulations or by
reading materials relevant to their duties and responsibilities
during the Year.

Participation of Directors in continuous professional
development activities for the Year is set out below:

TEERHE

EETRBRMUEE - RAIRROZERTHRIR
RZHEBER  UWERREFEHEZTSFELAGE
LAEZER - AR —BESBEERSREEA
E2EAEEEBL YBIREMER 2 ERE
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2REFERRNATEEEBUFRAVEH A
CEEARADIEMZINE - EAREAER
—EoG— A+ ARG E Y S
SMEEMABERAEZEN  SRBEHET
EREED) -

EERNAFE2EFBEEERR ADHIWNT ¢

Attending
Reading workshops,
journals, seminars,
updates, conferences,
articles and/or e-training
materials  and/or forums
R - HE TS
R¥EM - HEE 8%
NER/ R
Name of Directors THEAE R
Executive Directors: HITESE -
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew AR IR S A v v
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFEEHTE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu B FERLLE v v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIHHTEE -
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny EBIESLE v v
Mr. Xu Lin Bao TMELE v v
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike CE 3ot v v
Mr. Li Yinquan FE|RELE v v
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TERERRE

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has reviewed and revised the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy, which is available on the Company’s
website, during the Year. Under this policy, the Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. All
appointments to the Board will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against selection criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board
and this policy. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, which would include but not
limited to gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and educational
backgrounds, professional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service and other factors that may be
relevant from time to time towards achieving the objective of
the Board diversity. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

At present, more than half of the Directors on the Board
are Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board
composition reflects various cultural and educational
backgrounds, professional development, length of service,
knowledge of the Company and a broad range of individual
attributes, interests and values. The Board has reviewed the
current composition and is committed to achieve gender
diversity on the Board by maintaining an appropriate level of
female members on the Board and to provide the Company
with a good balance and diversity of skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of its business. The Board
will continue to review its composition from time to time
taking into consideration specific needs for the Group's
business.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers
of the Group.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(i.e. the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew.
CG Code provision A.2.1 (which has been re-numbered as
CG Code provision C.2.1 since 1st January 2022) stipulates
that the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should
be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Board believes that the vesting of the roles
of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Yao
will enable him to continue to provide the Group with strong
leadership, efficient usage of resources, as well as effective
planning, formulation and implementation of the Company’s
business strategies. The day-to-day management and
operation of the Group will continue to be the responsibility
of the management team under the monitoring of the
Executive Committee and Mr. Yao's leadership.

SPECIFIC TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

According to the CG Code provision A.4.1 (which has been
deleted since 1st January 2022), the non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to
re-election. The Company’s Independent Non-executive
Directors are appointed for a term of three years and
shall determine upon expiry subject to renewal by mutual
agreement prior to the expiry of the term. All Independent
Non-executive Directors (including all other Directors) are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting at least once every three years according to
the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of
which has its specific written terms of reference. Minutes
and written resolutions of all committee meetings are taken
and kept by the Company Secretary and, together with any
committee papers, are available to all Board members.
The committees are required to report to the Board on their
decision and recommendations where appropriate.
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Executive Committee

Executive Committee has been established since March
2006 and now consists of two Executive Directors, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew as chairman and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu as a
member.

When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee
discharges the specific power and administrative functions
authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.

The Company has revised the terms of reference of the
Executive Committee during the Year in order to conform with
the provisions set out in the CG Code and it is responsible
for performing the corporate governance duties as follows:

(i) implementing and compliance with the laws, regulations,
Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal regulations applicable
to the Company;

(i) providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

(iii) ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

(iv) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board,;

(v) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(vii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(viii) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Executive Committee has carried out

the duties on the corporate governance functions of the
Company in accordance with its terms of reference.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
July 2005 and as at the date of this report consists of
four members, including Mr. Xu Lin Bao (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
and Mr. Li Yinquan, all being Independent Non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, being an Executive
Director. The Remuneration Committee’s role is to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for Directors and senior management and
to ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their individual
contribution to the Group’s overall performance, having
regard to the interests of shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee has to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management as
well as reviewing and approving management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. No Director or any of
his associates may be involved in any decisions as to his
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has specific
written terms of reference that is in compliance with the CG
Code and it has been revised by the Company during the
Year. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities are
available both on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and determined the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and made recommendations to the Board as to the
remuneration policy and structure for senior management of
the Company.

Details of the remuneration of every Director and senior
management for the Year are set out in Note 9 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Remuneration Committee meeting
is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since December
1998 and as at the date of this report consists of four
Independent Non-executive Directors, including Mr. Tam
King Ching Kenny (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr.
Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike and Mr. Li Yinquan.
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny is an Independent Non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice
a year to review and discuss the various audit issues as
reported by the external auditor. It also reviews the interim
and annual financial statements. Additional meetings may
also be held by the Audit Committee from time to time to
discuss special projects or other issues, which the members
consider necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and
approved by the Board in relation to various internal control,
risk management and audit issues with a view to further
improve the Company’s corporate governance. The Audit
Committee has specific written terms of reference that is
in compliance with the CG Code and it has been revised
by the Company during the Year. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st March 2021 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

(i) reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the six months ended 30th September 2021 and
recommended to the Board for approval;

(iii) reviewed and discussed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting policies
and practices which may affect the Group and the
scope of the audit;
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(iv) reviewed reports from the external auditor of the
Company regarding their audit on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2021 and their review on the Company’s
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30th September 2021;

(v) reviewed and discussed reports from the internal
auditor of the Company regarding their review on the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group to ensure the effectiveness of the systems;

(vi) reviewed the effectiveness of co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors to ensure the internal
audit function with adequate resources; and

(vii) reviewed and approved the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the Company’s auditors; and
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the re-appointment of the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the Year and the attendance
record of the Audit Committee meetings is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since
March 2012 and as at the date of this report consists of four
members, includes an Executive Director, being Mr. Yao Cho
Fai Andrew (chairman of Nomination Committee) and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, being Mr. Xu Lin Bao,
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating
policy and making recommendations to the Board on
nominations, appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
Board succession. The principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and accessing the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.
During the Year, the Company has revised the specific
written terms of reference of Nomination Committee that is
in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee setting out its authority, duties
and responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board,
reviewed and recommended the Board's approval for
the proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring
Directors at the 2021 annual general meeting, reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting is
set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.

NOMINATION POLICY

During the year, the Board has reviewed and revised the
Company’s Nomination Policy, which is available on the
Company’s website and sets out the criteria and process in
the nomination and appointment of Directors. Below are the
criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship
and nomination procedures and the process.

Selection criteria

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the Nomination Committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age,
culture, ethnicity and gender diversity. The Nomination
Committee shall evaluate potential candidate(s) for election
as member(s) of the Board on the basis of the entirely of
their credentials and in light of the criteria set forth below:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) accomplishment, qualifications, perspectives, skills and
experience relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

(iii) willingness to devote adequate time to participate in
the Board’s affairs such as attending meetings of the
Board and its committees to discharge his/her duties;

(iv) willingness and ability to represent the general best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole;

(v) diversity criteria set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on
the Board;
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requirements for the Board to have sufficient independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and the independence of the candidates,
if applicable, with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

if a proposed candidate will be holding his/her seventh
(or more) listed company directorship, the candidate’s
ability to devote sufficient time to the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These aforesaid criteria are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

Nomination and Selection Process

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

the Nomination Committee, based upon the needs of the
Board for additional or replacement Board members,
solicits ideas for possible candidates from a number
of sources, including capable individuals personally
known to and recommended by the members of the
Board and research undertaken by or on behalf of
the Nomination Committee or professional firms. The
Nomination Committee also considers recommendations
and nominations made by shareholders of the Company,
as described in (iv) below;

if one or more desirable candidate(s) is/are identified,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate(s), based on the criteria set out in above
selection criteria, and determine whether such
candidate(s) is/are qualified for directorship;

the Nomination Committee shall select and rank
desirable candidates by order of preference based on
the needs of the Company, and make recommendations
to the Board for directorship;

any shareholder of the Company who wishes to
nominate a person to stand for election as a Director at
any general meeting in accordance with requirements
under the Company’'s Bye-laws, lodge with the
Company (a) a written nomination of the candidate; (b)
a written confirmation from such nominated candidate
of his or her willingness to stand for election; and (c)
biographical details of such nominated candidate as
required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and

vi)

(vii)
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(v) for any person nominated by a shareholder for election
as a Director at any general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, the Nomination
Committee shall apply the same criteria as set out in the
above selection criteria to evaluate and determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendations to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
Details of the proposed candidate(s) including his/her/their
personal particulars and the Board’s recommendation(s)
will be included in a circular to be sent to the shareholders
for consideration in accordance with the applicable Listing
Rules.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy and make
necessary amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Nomination Policy and compliance with
regulatory requirements and corporate governance practice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for
the corporate governance functions of the Company, it has
delegated the relevant duties to the Executive Committee
to ensure the proper performance of corporate governance
functions of the Company. In this connection, the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee includes various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set out
in paragraph “Executive Committee” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board
and Board Committees by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that Board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary reports to the
Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively and
efficiently. The Company Secretary also advises the Board
on governance matters and facilitates the induction and
professional development of Directors. All Directors may call
upon the Company Secretary for advice and assistance at
any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation
of the Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Wong Yuen Sze is the Company Secretary. She is a
full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Wong undertook no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for developing and
maintaining sound and effective risk management and
internal control procedures and systems of the Group and
reviewing their effectiveness to protect shareholders’ interest
and to safeguard the Group’s assets at least annually. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The review covers financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions.

During the Year, the Company has taken risk management
as a core part of its business activities and operations.
The Company is taking steps to refine its comprehensive
risk management system that is aligned with the strategies
and operations of the Company by standardising its
risk management procedures, adopting qualitative and
quantitative measures to identify, evaluate and mitigate the
identified significant risks. Furthermore, the Company has
increased the level of synergy between risk management and
internal audit by identifying the potential risks by reviewing
the internal control system, policies and/or procedures
relating to the Group’s business operations so as to promote
the risk control capabilities.

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which
manages the risk associated with its businesses and
operations. The system comprises the following phases:

° Identification: identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement
of objectives;

° Evaluation: analyse the likelihood and impact of risks
and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly; and

° Management: consider the risk exposures, ensure
effective communication to the Board and monitor the
residual risks on an ongoing basis.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system
which enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as
follows:

° Control environment: a set of standards, processes
and structures that provide the basis for carrying out
internal control across the Group;

° Risk assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed;

° Control activities: actions established by policies and
procedures to ensure that management’s directives
to mitigate risks for the achievement of objectives are
carried out;

° Information and communication: internal and external
communications to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out the daily controls; and

° Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to
ascertain whether each component of the internal
control system is present and functioning.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an independent
professional firm as internal audit advisor (the “Internal
Audit Advisor”) to provide risk management and internal
control assessment services to assist the Board and the
Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring and in performing
the internal audit functions for the Group. The review
included interviews with relevant management and key
process owners and preforming walkthrough tests to identify
the major risk and significant deficiencies, and making
recommendation for approving the internal control system
to the Audit Committee for further approval. The Board,
through the Audit Committee, has reviewed, considered and
discussed the findings and recommendations of the internal
audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor for the
Year. Having taken the recommendations in the internal
audit reports into consideration, the Group will continue to
improve its risk management and internal control systems.
In addition, the Internal Audit Advisor has also performed
a follow-up assessment on the findings as identified in the
internal audit reports to assess the remediation status.
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The Board has considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programs and budget, by reviewing the internal audit reports
prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor and management
letters submitted by external auditor, if any. The Board
and the Audit Committee met with the internal and external
auditors and management to discuss the findings from their
works and recommendations.

During the Year, the Board is not aware of any significant
internal control and risk management weaknesses or
inconsistencies with the risk management policies, and
considered that the existing risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate. The Company
has complied with the relevant code provisions of the CG
Code relating to risk management and internal control.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company is aware of its continuing disclosure
obligations as to inside information and has a policy with
regard to the principles and procedures for handling
and disseminating the Company’s inside information in
compliance with the requirements under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee and the designated executives
of the Company are responsible for assisting the Board in
reviewing potential inside information and assessing the
need for disclosure and to oversee the internal reporting
system and procedures. The Company has taken reasonable
precautions for preserving the confidentiality of the inside
information, including inter alia:

(i) access to inside information is restricted to specific
persons on a need-to-know basis;

(i) enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements when
negotiating on potential and significant transactions;

(iii) codify a strict prohibition on unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee handbook;
and

(iv) circulate reminder, from time to time, to the Directors
and specified relevant employees of the Group, who
are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, of their duties and obligations in respect of
dealings in the securities of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external
auditor of the Company, provided the following services
to the Group and their respective fees charges are set out
below:

BB &=

RAFE - RNARZIMNEZ BB LR K EZRTAD
EBMBAAEERE T RS D B WE 2 BB
=2

HK$'000

Types of services REERE FET

Audit fee for the Group NEBEEZEBR 2,667

Taxation services W% AR 125
Environmental, social and RN gk

governance report services ERME IR 150

Total k] 2,942

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
A statement by the external auditor about its reporting
responsibilities is set out in the independent auditor’s report
included in this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and
maintaining effective communication with shareholders,
investors, analysts and the press. During the Year, the
Company has reviewed and revised its shareholders
communication policy, which is available on the Company’s
website, to ensure the effective implementation of this policy
and the effective and timely dissemination of information
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments, corporate governance and
risk profile) to shareholders and the investment community.
The management from time to time meets with existing and
potential investors to make corporate presentations.
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The Group also promotes communications with its shareholders
and the investment community mainly through (i) Company’s
financial reports (interim and annual reports), corporate
governance report, environmental, social and governance
reports, results announcements, other corporate announcements
and circulars which are submitted to the website of the
Stock Exchange; and (ii) annual general meetings and other
general meetings which may be convened. Such general
meetings are presided over and led by the Chairman,
Board members, in particular, either the chairmen or deputy
chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives and external auditor will attend annual
general meetings and/or other general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions. The Company’s user-friendly website,
http://www.hkshalliance.com, provides investors with the latest
news, corporate profile, business information and financial
information including announcements, circulars, annual and
interim reports, etc.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to
attend general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and
the Board Committees should attend annual general meeting
(the “AGM”) to answer questions.
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i

(A)

(8)

EERBE

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If the
Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

A meeting convened under this section by the
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to
be convened by Directors. Any reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the failure of
the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionists by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company
to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any
resolution which is intended to be moved at an AGM
or circulate a statement in respect of any proposed
resolution or business to be considered at a general
meeting of the Company. Under section 79 of the
Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists
unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall be the
duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by
such number of shareholders:

(a) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting;
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(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the
abovementioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to
which the requisition relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred shareholder.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice
of the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall
be given to any other shareholder by giving notice of the
general effect of the resolution in any manner permitted
for giving him notice of meetings of the Company,
provided that the copy shall be served, or notice of the
effect of the resolution shall be given, as the case may
be, in the same manner and, so far as practicable, at the
same time as notice of the meeting and, where it is not
practicable for it to be served or given at that time, it shall
be served or given as soon as practicable thereafter.

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions
to be met before the Company is bound to give any
notice of resolution or to circulate any statement.
Pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act, the
Company shall not be bound to give notice of any
resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned in
the above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain the
signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the
registered office of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before
the meeting; and
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TERERRE

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less
than one week before the meeting; and

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures in the
above (i.e. the giving of notice of resolution and/or
circulation of statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
registered office of the Company, an AGM is called
for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been
deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
above-mentioned time shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

(C) Making Enquiry

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. For other enquiries, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention
of Company Secretary by mail to Rooms 1103-05, 11th
Floor, East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as
a Director are made available at the Company’s website
(http://www.hkshalliance.com).

DIVIDEND POLICY

During the Year, the Company has reviewed and revised
the Dividend Policy, which aims to set out the approach
with the objective of achieving right balance of the amount
of dividend and profits retained in the business for various
purposes.

In determining whether to propose a dividend and the
dividend payment ratio in respect of any particular financial
year or period, the Board will take into account a desire to
maintain a constant and stable dividend level with an overall
objective of maximising shareholders’ value over a longer
term while retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future
growth, and will consider the following factors in declaring
or recommending dividend to the shareholders from time to
time:
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(i)  financial results of the Group;

(i) shareholders’ interests;

(iii) general business conditions and strategies;

(iv) expected financial performance and market conditions;

(v) projected level of capital expenditures and future
investment plans;

(vi) level of cash and retained earnings;
(vii) possible effects on liquidity and financial position;

(viii

=

statutory and regulatory restrictions (including the laws
of Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws and any other
applicable laws and regulations);

(ix) tax considerations; and
(x) any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
for a financial year or period in the form of interim dividend,
final dividend, special dividend and any distribution of net
profits that the Board may deem appropriate. The Company
may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

The actual dividend that the Board may declare or
recommend in respect of any particular financial year or
period will be subject to the factors under this policy and
there can be no assurance that dividend will be declared or
paid in any particular amount for any particular financial year
or period.

The Board will review this policy and make necessary
amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
this policy.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June 2022
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents its
annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March
2022 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in distribution and
processing of construction materials such as steel products;
trading of sanitary wares and kitchen cabinets; and property
investment and fund management businesses.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information
by business segments and geographical markets are set
out in Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 82 of this annual
report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.50 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31st
March 2022 (2021: Nil), payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on Friday, 26th August 2022, subject to
the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on Thursday, 18th August 2022
(the “2022 AGM”). Final dividend is expected to be paid on
Monday, 5th September 2022.

During the Year, an interim dividend of HK1.50 cents per
ordinary share and a special dividend of HK1.00 cent
per ordinary share were paid to the shareholders by the
Company on 4th January 2022 and 27th August 2021,
respectively.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
during the following periods and during these periods, no
transfer of shares will be registered:

(i)

(if)

For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2022 AGM:

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 15th August 2022 to Thursday, 18th
August 2022, both days inclusive, for the purpose of
ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2022 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2022 AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited (the “Branch Share Registrar”) of Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12th August 2022.

For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the
final dividend:

On the assumption that the resolution for declaring
the final dividend is duly passed at the 2022 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 24th August 2022 to Friday, 26th
August 2022, both days inclusive, for the purpose of
ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the final
dividend. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Branch Share Registrar for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 23rd August 2022.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) covering a review of the
Group’s business, an analysis of the Group’s performance
using financial key performance indicators and the future
development in the Group’s business, are provided in the
sections headed “Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report, which shall form an integral part of this “Report of the
Directors”.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group’s financial condition, results of
operation and business prospects may be affected by
certain risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining
to the Group’s businesses, some of which are beyond our
control. The followings are the major risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other possible risks
and uncertainties which we are not aware of or which may
not be material at present but may turn out to be material in
the future.

Financial Risks

The Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus
on managing financial risks including interest rate, foreign
exchange and liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered
to prudent financial management principles. Facing the
volatility of RMB, the Group will continue to match RMB
payments with RMB receipts to minimise exchange exposure.
Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management of
the Group considers appropriate, to hedge against major
non-HK dollars currency exposures. The Group always
monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash
and cash equivalents to ensure the ability to finance the
Group’s operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in
cash flows to mitigate liquidity risk.

Operational Risk

The Group may face operational risk resulting from inadequate
or deficiency in internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. The Group has clear responsibility
and accountability rests with every function at divisional and
departmental levels. The Group are governed and guided by
good standard operating procedures, proper authorisation
policies and reporting framework. Our management will identify
and assess key operational exposures from time to time to
adjust potential risk response.
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Business Risk

The Group’s business performance will be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions, competitive environment of steels and building
industry, performance of property markets and regulatory
changes in regions where our business carry on or
investments locate, which would not be mitigated even
with careful and prudent investment strategy and strict
procedure.

Human Capital and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract
and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and
required skills, experience and competence to meet the
business objectives and strategy. We will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.
Through training of existing personnel and hiring of new
personnel that raise the average, we continue to create a
great team capable of making sure we are one of the best
long-term investments for our shareholders and a great
place to work for our employees.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to achieving environmental
sustainability. Our commitment to protect the environment is
well reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote
awareness towards environmental protection to our employees
and other stakeholders. An environmental, social and
governance (“ESG") working group, which is chaired by an
Executive Director, Mr. Lau Chi Chiu, and consists of our
several line managers, has been set up to assist the Board
in enhancing ESG implementation. The Group strives to
reduce its emission intensity in our daily business operations
through various measures, including but not limited to, the
installation of renewable energy facilities, adoption of energy
saving measures for our office as well as properties under
our management, recycling and reducing of paper, metal and
plastic used in our daily operation.
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Community Involvement

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has
sponsored and participated in a wide range of charitable
activities. Our employees have also participated in various
corporate social responsibility initiatives. We care about our
employees. We provide an enjoyable working environment
and an integrity platform to ensure employees’ well-being
and safety.

We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service since 2007, and “Heart to
Heart Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth
Group in 2010.

For further information about the environmental policies and
performance and community involvement of the group during
the year, please refer to the ESG report (the “Report”) which
will be separately released on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and the website of the Company under the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section, the discussions of
which form shall form an integral part of this “Report of the
Directors”.

To access the online version of the ESG Report, please refer
to the website address set out in the “Corporate Information”
on page 3 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure
and accountability for implementation of procedures and
monitoring of risk, which helps to ensure adequacy and
effectiveness of controls over the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

During the Year, as far as the Company is concerned, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders.
We will consistently execute our strategies to provide
desired returns on investment and sustainable growth to
our shareholders. We recognise that employees are our
valuable assets. We hire people for attitude and invest in
development of our employees to create loyalty and love to
the Company. We understand the importance of maintaining
good relationship with our stakeholders (including but not
limited to, employees, customers, suppliers and business
partners) to achieve our long-term goals. To accomplish this,
we continue to get closer to our stakeholders, build lasting
relationship, and keep good communication to understand
their needs and share with them our business development.
During the Year, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Company and its stakeholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2022 and as at the date of this report,
there were 640,414,315 ordinary shares of the Company
issued and fully paid.

Details of share capital and share options of the Company
are respectively set out in Notes 33 and 34 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group
and the Company during the Year are respectively set out in
Notes 35 and 41 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st March 2022, approximately HK$53,986,000
(2021: approximately HK$53,986,000) of the reserves
and approximately HK$47,940,000 (2021: approximately
HK$41,168,000) of the retained earnings were available for
distribution to the Company’s owners.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company repurchased a total of
818,000 shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration (before expenses) of HK$317,710 and all the
repurchased shares were cancelled. The directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) believe that share repurchases
will be beneficial to the shareholders as the shares are
traded at a discount to the net asset value per share. Details
of the shares repurchased are as follows:

BE HEFIWEEAQRTLTES

il

RAFEE - NARIRBRFTEES 818,000 %
D KRB A317, 7108 T (R AT) - AT
EEBROEFHE - ARRDASREEFEIN
R AREEB([EE)RAERMHEBEEARE
RS o RO BEFIFEHIT ¢

Aggregate
Number of shares consideration paid
Month of repurchase repurchased Consideration per share (before expenses)
ENREELRRE
B & A 17 BERHEE RAE (H1BRBAZ AT )
Highest Lowest
== =45
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(&) (&) &)
September 2021 318,000 0.300 0.300 95,400
2 —FNA
November 2021 346,000 0.450 0.435 153,010
—E_—%+—A
December 2021 154,000 0.450 0.450 69,300
—E_—%+ZA
Total
g@xt 818,000 817,710
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of B FHiPriE R EAN - A AR SEF M B A T &
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the BE  HERBLOERAATZ FHES
Company’s listed securities.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BErhRBEEE

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets of the
Group during the Year are set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16,
respectively, to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures are set out in Notes 19 and 20, respectively, to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31st March 2022
are set out in Note 32 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$2,541,000 (2021: approximately
HK$720,000).

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Mr. Xu Lin Bao and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike will retire
from office by rotation at the 2022 AGM and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at such meeting.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a
fixed term of office for three years which can be terminated
by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice.
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None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"))
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long positions in shares and options of the Company

EEEAREMETLERMTATHAEER —FR
RIEMBAS NEECEERMERIN ZRBEAHL -

EERKRS - ARG KR ERE 2E
HmIKR

RIE-F=A=+—8 BFENARAZEH
TTEABRAR RS EEMMAEEZE(TERES
KEAEEBI(TFH R B GRG )% XV E) 2B’k -
HERD REEFPHEB 2B RAR BIE (a) iR
BRSNS EMEXVIET7 MESD ZE AL
SRR RERZM(BIEREES BRI Z %
LHTWEESRIERB 2R RXE) + 2 (b) &
BIARBBELSNRPEROIEIS2ETUFEZE
A gk () IRIE AR BT ER- Pk 2 ETE
TAZEFETELRZZMEESTA([1ZRESFRI]) 2
B ARRNE Nz Bm A B ST

RRAzRORBREZFR

Number of
Attributable interest Number of ~ Approximate  share options Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity {o the Directors shares  percentage (Note c) interest
BREHR
EEfE % EEL I 5 Rl (tztc) CHL
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew  Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 89,337,806 13.95% — 89,337,806
gaBE Perfect Capital International Corp. (Note a)
S| A Perfect Capital International Corp. 8 (E A 2 EX ()
L (Mita)
Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 190,424,000 29.73% — 190,424,000
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (Note b)
5E4251 72 7 Huge Top Industrial Ltd. WRMERE 2R (RS
g (M)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.61% — 3,918,000
BEAAA 100% (B#)
283,679,806 44.29% — 283,679,806
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — - 2,246,622 2,246,622
Hridks ERARA 100% (E#%)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 5,246,622 0.82% - 5,246,622
RHELE BRBEAA 100% (B%)
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Notes:

a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested in these
shares through his wholly-owned company, Perfect Capital International
Corp. (“Perfect Capital”). Mr. Yao is a sole director of Perfect Capital.

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these shares through his
controlling company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (“Huge Top”). Mr. Yao
directly held approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owned approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top.
Mr. Yao is a sole director of Huge Top.

C. Details of the interests of the Director(s) in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2022, none of
the Directors, chief executives of the Company and their
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (include interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate, and no Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their respective spouses or
children under the age of 18 had been granted any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor
exercised any such right.
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PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31st
March 2022, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following
entities had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

REFSRBERGEXVEHFE2RE
SO MEAAKRBRBIAXRZAL

B EXTEFERED - HERD REEE 2 #EE R
KR - BE RN R_E - —F=H
=t+—B  BARAIREES MG R 336 &
FENERME - NHIERR IO KA
THRAREBEESFLMEEIEXVEE2REID
RAMARRWE ZHEIAR

Number of Approximate
Name Capacity shares percentage
L2 %) %10 & H BH B DL
Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,337,806 13.95%
Em#EEA
Interest of controlled corporation a 190,424,000 29.73%
| N o ey
279,761,806 43.68%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.73%
EmEEA
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 38,224,000 5.97%
B v s EmfAA
Note: BaE -
a. These shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned a. ZE R A Huge Top#FA - Perfect Capital A Huge

approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and therefore
was deemed to be interested in these shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2022, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
2011 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11th
August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The participants of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme includes any employee, agents, consultant
or representative, including any executive or non-executive
Director, of any member of the Group or any other person
who satisfies the selection criteria prescribed by the rules of
the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date
(i.e. 11th August 2011) and expired on 10th August 2021.

Before the expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
under the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at their discretion, grant options to the participants
who fall within the definition prescribed in the 2011 Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for shares of the Company at
the price not less than the highest of: (a) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets on the date of offer of the grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (b) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the grant of the option; and (c) the nominal
value of the shares. Details of the terms of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme were contained in the Company’s circular
dated 8th July 2011.

Upon expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, no further
share options will be granted by the Company thereunder
but in all other respects the provisions of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force and all share options
granted prior to such expiration shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance therewith.
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The particulars of the share options under the 2011 Share REFE  —T——FERETEE THERENT
Option Scheme during the Year are as follows: BT

Number of share options

BREHR
Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
Name or category Exercise price Beginning during during during during End of
of participant Date of grant Validity period per share Note  of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Y the Year
SREMZHER RTAH BHH BRTEE i3 AEEY AFERT AFEGE AFEAN  AFEEH REER
Director:
B
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,2 1,246,622 — — — — 1,246,622
15th November 2022
3RS ZT-Zf+-A+t~A ZE-ZFt-AF+RHE 0537ER
“R--f+-AtIA
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
“Z-15-A=1H “E-RE-AZtHE 09281
ZZ-RF-ATNhB
Sub-total 2,246,622 — — — — 2,246,622
IEF
Employees:
E&:
In aggregate 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,2 1,097,027 — — — — 1,097,027
15th November 2022
it ZT-ZE+-A+RE  ZE-Z4t-FTAHE  0537#7
T2 CE+—A+RA
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,100,000 — — — — 1,100,000
19th January 2025
it E-R¥-ACtH “T-R5-A-tAE 09281
“Z2-f-At+AR
Sub-total 2,197,027 — — — — 2,197,027
et
Others:
Hth:
In aggregate 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1 1,246,622 — — — — 1,246,622
26th November 2023
it ZT-ZEf-AZfttR ZE-ZHT-AZHHEEZE 104381
IS s B N
Total of 2011 Share 5,690,271 — — — — 5,690,271
Option Scheme
—T—FRRE
SrElgE
Notes: P

1. The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 17th 1. RZF-—NFE+ZAT+EHAIRE-_T——FREREZ

December 2014 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were adjusted BEZEREZTEEMBECRR - —NF+ =A%
for the open offer completed in December 2014. K2 AFREEELREE -

2. The share options were vested in five tranches, with each tranche 2. BRESTHEE 5925 REAREBEENRY 2

covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent —(RZATEAEBRENESZ—)  F— F -
of one-fifth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and F=  FURFAMARR-_F—ZF - ZF—=F =
5th tranche becoming exercisable from 16th of November in the years TMF —F-AFRSTAFNT AT ARBRER
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively and the years onwards T - EE-F-—F+—At+AAL-

till 15th November 2022.
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3. The share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the
extent of one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd
and 4th tranche becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years
2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively and the years onwards till 19th
January 2025.

2021 Share Option Scheme

In view of (a) the expiration of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme on 10th August 2021; and (b) no further share
options can be granted pursuant to the 2011 Share Option
Scheme after its expiration, the Company adopted another
share option scheme on 11th August 2021 (the “2021 Share
Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/or
to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. The participants of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme includes any employee (whether full time or part
time), executive or officers of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including executive or non-executive Director)
and any business consultant, financial or legal adviser of
the Company or any of its subsidiary or any other person,
who satisfies the criteria prescribed by the terms of the 2021
Share Option Scheme.

Under the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme,
the Board may, at their discretion, grant options to the
participants who fall within the definition prescribed in the
2021 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for shares of the
Company at the price not less than the highest of: (a) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of offer of the grant of
the option, which must be a business day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the grant of the option; and (c)
the nominal value of the shares.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme was up to 10% of the number
of shares in issue as at 11th August 2021 (i.e. 64,123,231).
The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2021 Share Option Scheme, together
will all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under any other share option schemes of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries (including the 2011 Share Option
Scheme), must not exceed 30% of the shares in issues from
time to time.
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Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company,
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and the share options granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
to each grantee (including both exercised or outstanding
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue for the time being.

There is no minimum period for which an option under the
2021 Share Option Scheme must be held before such option
be exercised. A non-refundable consideration of HK$10.00
is payable by the grantee to the Company no later than 28
days from the date of grant on acceptance of the offer.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was effective from 11th
August 2021 and unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain valid and effective for the period of ten years
from that date (i.e. 10th August 2031).

No share option has been granted by the Company under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

Further details of the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme
were contained in the Company’s circular dated 12th July
2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share
Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or subsisted during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or subsisted
at any time during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they
may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were
parties and in which a Director or any entities connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions for the Year are set
out in Note 39 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

To the best knowledge of Directors, none of these related
party transactions constitutes a connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
Shareholders or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete
directly or indirectly with the businesses of the Group or has
any other conflict of interests with the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 12.2% of the Group’s total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 62.5% of the Group’s total
purchases. In addition, the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 15.7% of the Group’s total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest
in the five largest suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the Year have been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and duly
approved by the Board under the recommendation of the
Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their
appointment as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year
is to be proposed at the 2022 AGM. There was no change in
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June 2022
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

aged 56, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in December 1994. He became the Chairman
of the Board in July 1999 and Chief Executive Officer in
November 2015. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yao
is a director of China COSCO Shipping Corporation Limited,
a holding company of certain companies listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”), Shanghai Stock Exchange, Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, Singapore Exchange and Athens Stock Exchange.
Mr. Yao is an independent non-executive director of China
Railway Signal & Communication Corporation Limited (listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) and Kader Holdings Company Limited (listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). He was an independent
non-executive director of Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities
(Group) Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). Mr. Yao serves as the
Hong Kong Deputy to the 13th National People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China, the chairman of Hongkong-
Shanghai Economic Development Association, the vice-
chairman of Shanghai Federation of Industry & Commerce,
the board member of Fudan University and the chairman
of the council of Lingnan University. He was awarded
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” by Federation of
Hong Kong Industries in 2004, Justice of Peace by Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (*“HKSAR”) in 2008
and “Bronze Bauhinia Star” by HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Yao
graduated from the University of California, Berkeley with
a bachelor’'s degree in science and Harvard Graduate
School of Business with a master’'s degree in business
administration.
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Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2015 and is a director of certain
subsidiaries and the chairman of environmental, social and
governance working group of the Company. He joined the
Group in June 1991. Mr. Lau is responsible for the daily
operations of the business of the Group and has held
various sales and marketing and supply chain positions in
the plastics and steels businesses of the Group. He was the
general manager of Group’s plastic business from April 2003
to November 2011 and the general manager of the Group’s
steels business from December 2011 to May 2013. Mr. Lau
graduated from Curtin University of Technology in Australia
with a bachelor’'s degree in commerce (marketing and
management) and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a master’'s degree in business administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

aged 73, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent
non-executive director of other listed companies on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely,
BeijingWest Industries International Limited, Capital
Industrial Financial Services Group Limited, GBA Holdings
Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, Starlite
Holdings Limited, West China Cement Limited and Wisdom
Education International Holdings Company Limited. He
was an independent non-executive director of CCT Fortis
Holdings Limited, which is also listed on the main board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam serves as a member of the
Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty Executive Committee
in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He was also a Past President of The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam graduated from
Concordia University, Canada with a bachelor's degree in
commerce.
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Mr. Xu Lin Bao

aged 73, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2006. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently the vice chairman of
the Institute of Real Estate Shanghai Academy of Social
Sciences. He served as the standing executive of China Real
Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the chairman
of operation and management professional committee of
China Real Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session),
the chairman of Shanghai Housing and Land Group, the
vice chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Trade Association
(the 5th and 6th session) and the chairman of executives of
Yiju China Real Estate Research Center. He graduated from
Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in EMBA. Mr. Xu is
a senior qualified economist.

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2014. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung is an independent
non-executive director of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He has over 40 years’ working experience in the
banking industry of Hong Kong and the Mainland China. Mr.
Yeung began his career with the HSBC Group in 1972 and
advanced himself in the organisation by taking up different
positions under various business streams including personal
banking, sales and services, operations as well as branches,
regional network and personal wealth management. Since
2001, Mr. Yeung was relocated to Shanghai and took
up the role of Branch Manager Shanghai and Head of
Personal Financial Services China of HSBC. In June 2006,
he was seconded to Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited and
appointed as the Head of Personal Financial Service and
Wealth Management China. Mr. Yeung was appointed
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Head of Personal
Financial Services and Wealth Management in May 2007. He
retired from HSBC Group in January 2014. Mr. Yeung is the
Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce in
Shanghai. He was a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Committee (the 11th and 12th
session) in Shanghai. Mr. Yeung was awarded the “Magnolia
Gold Award” presented by the Shanghai Municipal
Government to recognise his outstanding contributions to
the economic and social development, and international
exchanges of Shanghai. He was also awarded a Professional
Diploma in Company Direction by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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Mr. Li Yinquan

aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2018. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Li serves as an independent non-executive
director of other listed companies on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, China Everbright Bank
Company Limited (which is also listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange), Genertec Universal Medical Group Company
Limited, Kimou Environmental Holding Limited and Million
Cities Holdings Limited. He served respectively as the
general manager of financial department, chief financial
officer, vice president of China Merchants Group and chief
executive officer of China Merchants Capital Investment
Co., Ltd from 2000 to 2017. He also served as an executive
director of other listed companies on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited and China Merchants China
Direct Investments Limited and as a non-executive director
of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (which is also listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as an independent
non-executive director of Lizhi Inc. which is a company listed
on NASDAQ. Mr. Li also serves as the Hong Kong Deputy to
the 13th National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic
of China. Mr. Li graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Finance
and Economics with a bachelor’'s degree in economics. He
was also awarded a master’'s degree in economics from the
PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University (formerly known
as Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China) and a
master’s degree in banking and finance for development
from Finafrica Institute in Milan, Italy.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of
senior management of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 82 to
224, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March 2022;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

* the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st March 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the
valuation of investment properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

B M AR

BRRFITS=EHE)

Key Audit Matter
HRESER

Valuation of investment properties
REVENMGE
Refer to notes 4(a), 15 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements

B E R AN T 4(a) - 15K 20

As at 31st March 2022, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) was approximately HK$1,482.7
million and a fair value gain of approximately
HK$832,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement during the year. The Group also
has investment properties held through investments
accounted for using the equity method with the Group’s
share of their carrying amount of HK$748.1 million
as at 31st March 2022 and share of a fair value gain
of approximately HK$7.4 million were recognised
during the year. The Group performed valuations
on its investment properties and those held through
investments accounted for using the equity method,
with the assistance of two independent professional
valuers based on the discounted cash flow approach,
income capitalisation approach and/or the direct
comparison approach.
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We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
balance to the financial position of the Group, and
the significant judgement and estimates involved
in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties which is dependent on key assumptions
including market rents, term and reversionary yields
and market prices etc.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESTNAEERARETSER

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuations of the investment properties included:

B EEEHREMENREMETNRF 21 -

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of valuation and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as significant
judgements involved in determining assumptions to
be applied.

B TEHTEEBYHMHEMNRIIES KT ERE  LEB
R ET N HEE AR E A R EADE A E B EAKTE
BPIINAETE S TR ARERR S RNERHE  STHTEXR
SEImmE G R

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers.
BB EMNBER )  EXERENEEH
M o

We involved our internal valuation expert in assessing
the methodologies and the key assumptions,
including market rents, term and reversionary yields
and market prices etc, used by the management’s
expert by comparing with relevant comparable
market data and industry research.

BATE) R ER 4 B B 5E 3B L BOE B R & LY T 5 BUE K
TEME BHEMAREEEZRNOFTEZRLEER
& BREMSHEE - BR  EREREERTES -

Based upon the above, we considered that
management judgement and estimation applied in
respect of the relevant valuation were supportable by
the evidence obtained and procedures performed.
HERUU L ERHESERF  BEMMEAERENIFE
JiE PR AR B £ (B A0 8 2 1 Ol K R R

2021/22 Annual Report | &%

<

7



78

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

B M AR &

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

B M AR

EERBFREEENGAMBRREA
EENEE(E)

ERBEGEAMERERE EFERENE BE5EE
BRENED  YEERBATHRESELER
BNEE  URERBELERSTER  RIFE
ZAER BEEEBRIFLLE  AREHEME
FREVEHRITER

NASN

ERZBEQRAAEE ESENMBKEHREGEE-

%%Eﬁ?ﬁ%%‘f%éﬁﬂ%iﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁ
T
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
BN BIE RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is lvan Au.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29th June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March 2022 == - —F=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
“E-CE —E--F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT TBxT
Revenue LiON 5 2,807,900 2,073,632
Cost of sales HEMAR 7 (2,468,207) (1,820,613)
Gross profit E | 339,693 253,019
Selling and distribution expenses HERAHEX 7 (14,776) (15,728)
Impairment loss on financial assets - net SREAERERE-FE 7 (601) (293)
General and administrative expenses —RRTHZH 7 (173,880) (140,703)
Other gains - net Hiols - 58 6 5,724 8,067
Net fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties Txﬁ%%ZAﬁETEH&E/(EﬁE)%%ﬁ 15 832 (8,362)
Operating profit KRR 156,992 96,000
Finance income 1B N 10 1,066 1,110
Finance costs HBER 10 (62,502) (64,024)
Share of results of investments accounted for iR AR
using the equity method REZEE 20 (12,550) (19,724)
Profit before income tax F?Fﬁ SHAER 83,006 13,362
Income tax expense TEH X 11 (19,567) (9,539)
Profit for the year FERR 63,439 3,823
Profit/(loss) attributable to: iR/ (BE) -
- Owners of the Company -ARAEEA 65,503 1,673
- Non-controlling interests ~JEEGIE S (2,064) 2,150
63,439 3,823
Earnings per ordinary share attributable EARBEEARGEE
to owners of the Company for the year BREBREN
Basic earnings per ordinary share SREBRENER 13 HK10.22 centsi#{l HK0.26 centi& |l
Diluted earnings per ordinary share iR EEREE R T 13 HK10.22 centsi#{l HK0.26 centi# il
The above consolidated income statement should be read in FllsR G 18 2 2 8 AR P RO BT 5 — OFBIRE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEHBERR

For the year ended 31st March 2022 HEZ = - —F=A=+—HILFE

2\

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET
Profit for the year FERF 63,439 3,823
Other comprehensive income/(loss): HithZ2mEB A (BE) :
Items that may be reclassified HEREHSEA
subsequently to profit or loss: BR2HEA
- Net fair value change of —REmERZAAEE
cash flow hedge BE)FER 2,268 (1,084)
- Release of exchange reserve upon ) EVNGIE - € FE RS v
deregistration of subsidiaries bE SRR (1,131) —
— Currency translation differences —EHIEH E 5 60,117 111,847
Item that will not be reclassified to FTEEFIERBREZ
profit or loss: A :
- Change in fair value of financial asset —EARBEFAEMEZAKAZ
at fair value through other EREELQD
comprehensive income BEEEE) (1,454) 996
Other comprehensive income FEHMEM®
for the year L ON 59,800 111,759
Total comprehensive income FE2EBA
for the year Fakc) 123,239 115,582
Total comprehensive income EEEEEA
attributable to: wEE
— Owners of the Company S VNI ZEPN 119,454 102,594
- Non-controlling interests — FEIE I 3,785 12,988
123,239 115,582

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

b a2mERR

3B B O B 5 — DFBORE o
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31stMarch 2022 W —_ZE=-—F=H=+—H

‘//

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
F#& T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WE k& 14 44,141 41,682
Investment properties "EHE 15 1,482,738 1,422,582
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 28,389 13,253
Intangible assets mEEE 17 — 710
Investments accounted for using the  1Z#EREALR
equity method B 20 347,775 337,430
Prepayments, deposits and TERHIE - ek
other receivables H b Uk BR X 27 14,499 12,540
Deferred income tax assets FIERMSTHERE 21 42,550 49,326
Financial asset at fair value BAREERAER
through profit or loss LERMEE 23 3,908 —
Financial asset at fair value through BEAREEFAREMER
other comprehensive income WA CRVEE 22 2,749 4,203
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 1,966,749 1,881,726
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERIE -~ Ee Kk
other receivables H fth JE YRR R 27 111,204 99,052
Inventories rE 25 547,466 443,072
Trade and bill receivables JE W AR R e R R 26 509,598 363,814
Derivative financial instruments TESMITE 24 1,202 —
Pledged bank deposits BEEMIBITER 28 43,071 54,008
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFE 28 188,931 119,098
Total current assets MENEEARRE 1,401,472 1,079,044
Total assets EEAH 3,368,221 2,960,770
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION /
,|\/T|:|/7J-ﬁ&7l:|ﬁ;ﬂf%‘:2 «'

As at 31st March 2022 R —E=-—_F=HF=+—H

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000
TFET
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity attributable to owners of KATEEA
the Company EihER
Share capital fi& A 33 64,041 64,123
Reserves i 35 926,794 823,598
990,835 887,721
Non-controlling interests FEEHI R S 123,393 120,787
Total equity R 1,114,228 1,008,508
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables JE&T 8 & & E B TR 30 10,403 11,147
Deferred income tax liabilities EEMERAE 21 102,587 94,081
Borrowings BE 32 762,239 779,749
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 4,642 1,991
Total non-current liabilities EmEBIERTE 879,871 886,968
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bill payables EEREER 29 433,562 245,354
Receipts in advance and TE YR IE 2
deferred revenue PRI A 78,080 53,537
Accrued liabilities and other payables [Eit & & R E M E BRI 30 61,613 39,220
Provisions B 31 34,362 35,298
Derivative financial instruments mESmMIT A 24 18 1,084
Current income tax liabilities BHITSHas 11,996 11,380
Borrowings B 32 736,719 674,893
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 17,772 4,528
Total current liabilities mEN B ERE 1,374,122 1,065,294
Total liabilities B 2,253,993 1,952,262
Total equity and liabilities Bk EEHEE 3,368,221 2,960,770

The above consolidated statement of financial position AR A B RS AR S 2R e B BE R AP A — OFRIE o
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the BRAEMBBRENR B _FAZ+NLHEES
Board of Directors on 29th June 2022 and were signed on its gHE - WREKEE -

behalf.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew Lau Chi Chiu

PkiE 278

Chairman Executive Director
*E HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREmEEK

For the year ended 31st March 2022 == - —F=A=+—HILFE

‘//

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARIHEE AL
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Total interest  Total equity
BA  Hitfig RERA B FEMER  EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAn TARL TEL TEL THEL
(Note 33)  (Note 35)  (Note 35)
(WzE33)  (FrEss)  (ME3s)
As at 1st April 2020 R-E-E£MA-A 64,123 492,824 248,898 805,845 110,923 916,768
Profit for the year FERA — — 1,673 1,673 2150 3,823
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 2 EW A/ (§iE)
- Net fair value change of -BEREHZ AN ER
cash flow hedge 2858 — (1,084) — (1,084) — (1,084)
- Currency transaction differences -RHERZES — 101,009 — 101,009 10,838 111,847
- Change in fair value of financial ~-BRAAEBHAERZENAL
asset at fair value through other EREELLAEEED
comprehensive income (Note 22) (W3E22) — 996 — 996 — 996
Total comprehensive income PERARE — 100,921 1673 102,594 12,988 115,582
Transactions with owners in their ~ EEANEEEAZ
capacity as owners SRETNRS
Lapse of share options Kz Bl - (1,032) 1,032 - - -
Change in ownership interest in REBRRNEFRERED
subsidiaries without change of control iR #I B &
(Note 37) (MzE37) —  (20,805) —  (20,805) 859 (19,946)
Share repurchase of non-controlling ~ FFE#l &% 2 R
interests (Note 37) B (i 37) - 1,273 (1,186) 87 (2,701) (2,614)
Appropriation of statutory reserves REETHE — 39 (39) — — -
Dividends paid to a non-controlling 1 F— BB A I
interest of a subsidiary ErzlRE — — — — (1,282) (1,282)
Total transactions with owners in their ~ EHANEEBAZEH
capacity as owners ETNRFEE — (20,525) (193)  (20,718) (3,124) (23,842
As at 31st March 2021 RZE--%=A=1-H 64,123 573,220 250,378 887,721 120,787 1,008,508
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
l|‘/-.r\ *ﬂhﬁﬁaf@i}]%

For the year ended 31st March 2022 HE—ZT ——F=A=+—HIFE

-

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling
capital  reserves  earnings Total interest Total equity
KA HttfE  REEA g% FEGMER ER8E
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THEL TAL THR THR SR THT
(Note 33)  (Note 35)  (Note 35)
(K&E33)  (FHaFss)  (MiEEss)
As at 1st April 2021 RZE--£mA-H 64,123 573,220 250,378 887,721 120,787 1,008,508
Profit for the year EEEN - - 65,503 65,503 (2,064) 63,439
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  Eft2EYA /(E#E)
- Release of exchange reserve upon  — B LAREZ
deregistration of subsidiaries [ GERD - (1,131) - (1,131) - (1,131)
~ Net fair value change of i DA/ A
cash flow hedge R - 2,268 - 2,268 - 2,268
- Currency transaction differences ~EHERER - 54,268 - 54,268 5,849 60,117
- Change in fair value of financial “BRARBESAEMRZERALZ
asset at fair value through other SRAECDAEER
comprehensive income (Note 22) (Hi3E22) - (1,454) - (1,454) - (1,454)
Total comprehensive income FAMALE - 53,951 65,503 119,454 3,785 123,239
Transactions with owners in their ~ EEANHEEAZ
capacity as owners SRETHRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves REETRE - 396 (396) - — -
Shares repurchased (Note 33) R EEE(HE33) (82) 82 (322) (322) — (322)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling BB AT
interest of a subsidiary ERiRE - - - - (1,179) (1,179)
Dividends paid (Note 12) B S (F 12) - —  (16,018)  (16,018) —  (16,018)
Total transactions with owners in their ~ EHANEEFAZSH
capacity as owners ETNR 5105 (82) 478 (16,736)  (16,340) (1,179)  (17,519)
As at 31st March 2022 RZBZZE=F=1-H 64,041 627,649 299,145 990,835 123,393 1,114,228

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity iR SRR B R E BBEMT A A — OFRIEE o

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31st March 2022 == - —F=A=+—HILFE

V4

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETH RERE
Cash generate from operations REXBEEZRS 36(a) 145,814 144,648
Interest received BUFE 1,066 1,110
Interest paid BT (60,455) (62,169)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREEFEH (4,297) (2,403)
China corporate income tax paid BRI ERER (3,442) (2,567)
Net cash inflow from operating activities REFESCRERAFE 78,686 78,619
Cash flows from investing activities REZERERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BERE (8,715) (664)
Proceeds received from disposals of property, HEWNE  BELEEZ
plant and equipment 1S 5038 36(b) 6 135
Capital expenditures for investment properties  REWE 2 EAFHST 15 (382) (1,530)
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest FSEIE SR T 2 R E 37(a) — (20,000)
Capital injection to an investment BT IRERERE
accounted for using the equity method AR ZIHE 20 (7,201) (12,500)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERARBENABRZ
through profit or loss CTREE (3,908) (37,452)
Proceeds received from disposal of financial HERANEBEFABRZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss CREEFABHIA - 51,461
Dividend received R R 657 —
Net cash outflow from investing activities REZH RS RLFER (19,543) (20,550)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS &=
n‘/-.R Iﬁaﬁ/)lbi%

For the year ended 31st March 2022 HE—ZT ——F=A=+—HIFE

;\\

2022 2021
—E-— B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FTET
Cash flows from financing activities METH RERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZFTSRUA 472,732 240,019
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER (496,284) (309,616)
Payment for lease liabilities and hire HEABRAEBENTK
purchase liabilities (including interest) (BIEFIE) (8,889) (12,118)
Government subsidy on property, plant mE - BEREEL
and machinery T HH G — 1,052
Net increase in trust receipt bank loans ERBERTERZENFE 46,800 66,486
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits  HEIRRTEZCRD /(3 0) 12,960 (42,460)
Repurchase of ordinary shares EgeliqEk (322) —
Share repurchase of non-controlling interests FEPE M i RS 2 IR 1D BB 37(b) — (2,614)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ERARRAHEBAZRE (16,018) —
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IR S S 2 RS (1,179) (1,283)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BEFHRERA (R
financing activities FEE 9,800 (60,534)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RekBeFEL
cash equivalents FHEMCRid) 68,943 (2,465)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning FZRER
of the year Re%EE 119,098 120,045
Currency translation differences B A 890 1,518
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year FRZBeRASEE 188,931 119,098

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be LR E RS R EREHEBEM O —FRE -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted
company under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 18th February 1994. Its
registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is located at Rooms 1103-
05, 11th Floor, East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in distribution
and processing of construction materials such
as steel products; trading of sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets and property investment and fund

management businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.
These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue on 29th June 2022 by the Board.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws
of Hong Kong). They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by
financial assets/liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL") and other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) and investment properties, which are

carried at fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’'s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

2.1.1 Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
to standards for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1st April 2021:

HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4,
and HKFRS
16 (Amendments)

Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

The newly adopted amendments to existing
standards listed above did not have material
impact on the results and financial position of
the Group.

A B ERAR A

2 FESEEBMEGE)

2.1

mAEE(E)

REZERABBUBREELZZA
M RERTEFTRE THRME2THE
B R EEEEEEARNEESH
R 2 B ITEEHE - S RESE
2 B SIE M 2 B s R R fh
SR AMBHRERMEBEAZBEBR
Mzt 44 -

2.1.1 KEBFTERA 2 4515572 R)
AEBDHR-_ZE-_—FMA—H
R4 2 G 3R 25 HARS & R B A A

TRIERTER -

BEREMBRE FTELE
HERIZE 16 5% HE R
(&7]) ZHERR

BEREMBRE MR
HERIZE Q5% - HE
BB g ER — %1

FE395% - B
B 5 5 42 A
BT BB
B 5 5 42 A
FBAFERES
B 5 5 42 A
EREACHD)

LR 2 B RT A A

B SE R HRR YL BEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N
P conREmEME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 FEESTHBRMEE)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(HE)

2.1.2 New and amended standards, improvement,
interpretation and accounting guideline not yet
adopted

2.1.2 [ R 2 FT 5] RAEIEZTER] - K
# - BBREES

The following new standard, amendments to PATRETET AR~ B8R 2R - 22
existing standards, improvement, interpretation - RERgESIEEM  E
and accounting guideline have been issued R-ZE-—FM A —HRABROET
but are not effective for the financial year BREERAESR  MEABAEER
beginning on 1st April 2021 and have not been BATERG -

early adopted by the Group:

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RELT BHRB R
ZEZETHBER

1st January 2022

Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
Standards 2018 - 2020

FREBEER —E-N\FEZTZTFY —E-__%—H—H
BB 5 AR B T2 U

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

WE - B k&R —E__%—H—H

HKAS 16 (Amendments) 1st January 2022

EREFERIE 165 (185])

92

HKAS 37 (Amendments)

BERGFTERIE 37 R (ERT)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

BRI EHMEERE 3K (ER])

Hong Kong Accounting Guideline
5 (Revised)

BRGFTESIE5R(ELE)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

ERSFERIE 1 R(BET)
HKFRS 17

BRI HREAERFE 17 5%
HK (IFRIC) - Int 5

BE AR RIA
Onerous Contracts —

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BERIEESH —BHBK
Reference to the

Conceptual Framework
HSERN2R
Merger Accounting for Common

Control Combinations

HEEZEHEH G0
CIaSS|f|cat|on of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current
BESERREIERD —E_=F—H—H
Insurance Contracts 1st January 2023
REEL —ZE-=%—HA—H
Presentation of Financial 1st January 2023

Statements — Classification

by the Borrower of a Term

Loan that Contains

a Repayment on

Demand Clause

1st January 2022

—E__F—H—H
1st January 2022

2 _F—H—H
1st January 2022

—E__F—H—H
1st January 2023

B2 (BRMBREREEES) — BRI 20 - BRAYHRAN —E-=%—H—H
BEELR %%xiﬁgﬁaZm%
Z '\#E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.2 New and amended standards, improvement,

interpretation and accounting guideline not yet
adopted (Continued)

e ISR R M R

TEEHBRUEA)

2.1 RBEXE(E)

2.1.2 RN 2 FT 5] RASIEETER] - K
# - BRREES (&)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

BB ERE 1R RBEBNBHRE
EREBMES 25 2 BRI A

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

gt ERIE 8 (1EF])
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BITHERZKE

Definition of Accounting
Estimates
B ECER

Deferred Tax related to Assets

Effective for
accounting
periods

beginning

on or after

R B BB
ZEZETHBAEN

1st January 2023

1st January 2023

—ET-=%—H—H
1st January 2023

and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

BAGTERFE 125 (1EFT) 1B -QRPELZEEMAE —E_=%—H—H
MR R TR IR

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

To be determined by
the HKICPA

Associate or Joint Venture

ARV BMEERE 10K LB B G REEEEBEHAERALZ BEREEGNAE
AR 28 5 Z IERT A RWEEHEHTE HE

The Group will adopt the above new standards,
amendments to existing standards,
improvement, interpretation and accounting
guideline when they become effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment
of the related impact of adopting the above
new standards, amendments, improvement,
interpretation and accounting guideline, none
of which is expected to have a significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

NEB N LM FETER] - &8
RIERI . Mg - RERERIES
BHEANETURS - KREEE
FItAFT Ay i 3T RT2ER) ~ {5
R o RERERESIZA
B2 mEBM T AEE
ZIEREMERREEERVE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire RS IR AR MY AT

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has right to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

()

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition
method to account for business
combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. ldentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

()

(1)

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income
statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting
policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions -
that is, as transactions with the owners
of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair
value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are
also recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire RS IR AR MY AT

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)
(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. It means the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E R IR AR MY AT

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHEHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 Associates 2.3 EE&/NT

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’'s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the aggregate fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to “share of results of investments
accounted for using the equity method — net” in
the consolidated income statement.

BERBREAAEEHUEEEATE
NEEZFE2ER  —RHTH20%
E50%RFHIIEE - RBERRZ
RENEZEDEAR - BRiF#ERZE -
BREMBIAKARER - U B #R
HERE @S M) - NERIRE
ENRRERRZEIEEFHER - &
KERBERR 2 REBREKBREH
RlzEE - WERE QAR EAEER
By IREREE AR 2 AN BN S B P
HERBE AR A BB EERBERE
BEEBIIERE -

ERBE N REA RSB EINEFE
ijcwa“jj SR E A 2 Uk A R

SRR A(MER)EFHHEERE
é_o

AEEEERBR OGN REBRREE
BaRPER  MEBHEBRRERBE
BRINEM 2 E WA S ER - WAHEH
BEREZRETHE EAKERG—H
BERR zBERENNBEBEAZY
A"TZ%:&(@%EHETMMKW)‘&“
WO AEETSE - PHIE
B BFRCEDERHEERH XD
REERBERR

AEEESEARENEEREATERE
BREARBEARZREDRE - 0K
BERE  AREFERESRERR
aﬁ%’&?TH&@%%ﬁéﬁiﬁi\Eﬁ@F@Z%

W REERERT 2 BE AR
52i]\ﬁ§2$§’§2¥%f—5¥%ﬁﬁjWEEE{JEZ
TR o

2021/22 Annual Report | 3k

97



"

: %

98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire RS IR AR MY AT

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

23

24

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associate are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 - Joint
Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Under
HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures depending on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor. The Group has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangements
and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investments in joint ventures include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint
venture, any difference between the cost of the
joint venture and the Group's share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the
Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures,
including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24

25

2.6

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM"),
who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
and has been identified as the Executive Directors
that make strategic decisions. Information relating
to segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not separately reported to
the CODM.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE7#Ek

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. All foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “other gains — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as
financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into
the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ta

2

BB ERR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal (Continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit
or loss.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, is stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial year in
which they are incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

2% to 20%
20% to 33%
15% to 33%
10% to 25%

5% to 20%

— Buildings

— Leasehold improvements
— Furniture and equipment
— Machinery

— Motor vehicles
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset's
carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount
(Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised within “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the Group’s
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

(a)

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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BB ERR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

29

Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Customer contracts

Customer contracts acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair values
at the acquisition date. Customer contracts
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the utilisation method to
allocate the cost of customer contracts over
their estimated useful life.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation are calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the costs of leasehold land
over their terms. Land use rights are presented as
right-of-use assets on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

2.10 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the companies
of the Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at
its cost, including related transaction costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are carried
at fair value, representing open market value
determined at each reporting date by external
valuers. Fair value is based on active market
prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference
in the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets or discounted
cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are
recorded in consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest unit for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date
— the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed
in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

- FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.
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e B ERAR A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

- FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit
or loss and presented in net within other
gains/(losses) in the period in which it

arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments

is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in “other gains - net”
in the consolidated income statement as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately

from other changes in fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses (“ECL")
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

At each reporting date, the Group calculates
the ECL of financial instruments in different
stages. Stage 1 refers to financial instruments
that have not had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition; Stage
2 refers to financial instruments that have
had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition but that do not have
objective evidence of impairment; Stage
3 refers to financial assets for which there
are objective evidence of impairment at the
reporting date since initial recognition. For
these assets at Stage 1, 12-month ECL are
recognised and for assets at stage 2 and 3,
life-time ECL are recognised. For financial
assets with low credit risks as at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group recognises 12-month
ECL based on the assumption that the credit
risks have not significantly increased after
initial recognition. The Group determines the
level of credit risks according to their internal
and external investment grade credit rating
and the ages of financial assets. For those
financial assets are more than 30 days past
due, they would be classified as stage 2
and 3, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

For financial assets in stage 1 and stage
2, interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the asset, that
is, without deduction for credit allowance,
and the effective interest rates. For financial
assets in stage 3, interest income is
calculated on the net carry amount, that is,
net of credit allowances, and the effective
interest rates.

The Group recognises the provision and
reversal of ECL in profit or loss. For debt
instrument at FVOCI, the Group makes
relevant adjustments to other comprehensive
income at the same time as recognising ECL
in profit and loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

Impairment on bill receivables, other
receivables and deposits are measured
as either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured
as lifetime ECL, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E R IR AR MY AT

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FTESTBRRUE(R)

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments 213 EHEMTA

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

2.15 Trade and other receivables

Trade and bill receivables are amounts due
from customers for goods received or services
performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
bill receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. See Note 2.12(d) for a description of
the Group’s impairment policies.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Accounts
payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.19 Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period.

The accounting for subsequent changes in fair
value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so,
the nature of the item being hedged. The Group
designates certain derivatives as either:

e hedges of the fair value of recognised assets
or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value
hedges),
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E R IR AR MY AT

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FTESTBRRUE(R)

2.19 Derivatives and hedging activities (Continued) 219TET AR HES (&)

. hedges of a particular risk associated with
the cash flows of recognised assets and
liabilities and highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedges), or

e hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation (net investment hedges).

At the inception of the hedging, the Group
documents the economic relationship between
hedging instruments and hedged items, including
whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging
instruments are expected to offset changes in the
cash flows of hedges items. The Group documents
its risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking its hedge transactions.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non-current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months; it is classified as a current
asset or liability when the remaining maturity
of the hedged item is less than 12 months or if
the counter party has the right to terminate the
hedging instruments anytime. Trading derivatives
are classified as a current asset or liability.

Cash flow hedge that qualifies for hedge accounting

The effective portion of changes in the fair value
of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges is recognised in hedge reserve
within equity. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss within “other gains — net”.
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BB ERR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Derivatives and hedging activities (Continued)

Cash flow hedge that qualifies for hedge accounting
(Continued)

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in
the periods when the hedged item affects profit or
loss, as follows:

e Where the hedged item subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset,
both the deferred hedging gains and losses
and the deferred time value of the option
contracts or deferred forward points, if any,
are included within the initial cost of the
asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately
recognised in profit or loss as the hedged
item affects profit or loss.

e The gain or loss relating to the effective
portion of the interest rate swaps hedging
variable rate borrowings is recognised in
profit or loss within finance cost at the same
time as the interest expense on the hedged
borrowings.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold
or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative
deferred gain or loss and deferred costs of
hedging in equity at that time remains in equity
until the forecast transaction occurs, resulting in
the recognition of a non-financial asset. When
the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred
costs of hedging that were reported in equity are
immediately reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Borrowings

2.21

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisitions, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year is the
tax payable on the current year’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
Group measures its tax balances either based
on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides
a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where
the Company is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
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BB ERR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution
plan. The schemes are generally funded
through payments to insurance companies or
trustee-administered funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination when the entity has a detailed
formal plan to terminate the employment
of current employees without possibility of
withdrawal. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonus. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting
date. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(e)

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
long service payments to its employees
upon termination of their employment or
retirement when the employees fulfil certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plan that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group.

2.24 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining as employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

including the impact of any non-vesting

conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E R IR AR MY AT

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FTESTBRRUE(E)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued) 224 LRI AER 2 ()

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The total
expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant date
and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated
for the purposes of recognising the expense
during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertaking in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertaking, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.
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BB ERR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25 Provision

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when:
the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and
employee termination payments. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E R IR AR MY AT

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FTESTBRRUE(E)

2.26 Revenue recognition 2.26 K A FERR

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied
and service rendered, stated net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group;
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below.

(a) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has full discretion over channel
and price to sell the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs until the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risk of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customers, and either the customers
have accepted the products in accordance
with sales contracts, or there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products.

Revenue from these sales is recognised
based on the price specified in the contract.
Accumulated experience is used to estimate
and provide for the returns, if any, using
the expected value method, and revenue
is only recognised to the extent that it is
highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with
credit terms that are consistent with market
practice.

HﬁU\HzE%Z&JEHMﬂ ZRAREEE

- RIS fn R ATERR TS < B UL
%E ORRITH0 ~ RE RIBERIRIIR -
BUWA BB AT E - RREF
SR A EREREE - MAKEESRE
B9 A LR IGIFR (W XAt - A
SEAISRHBWA -

(a) Em#Hg
EAHEROCHEMRINTE
FrEFPHHEEEMIRERE

SHMB TR RER  BUWEXRE
/TZ§T£TE;§E‘%}ET§X§DD
FEMREREE EmTE
?:T‘Effiﬂz%ﬁ PREREE AR
PEHETEP BEPEREEED
BEMERSIMERETER Tf’c—hv
BEPEMER  XNFTHRERR -

ZEHEZWATIRIEAHETH
ZERER - EHRLRNU
BHEEEG REBERRE(
B) BRSERBRAETEE
EEAELEER - HEZEE
HIEmIBEL - AR ER
HEREK D

2021/22 Annual Report | &%

123



>

124

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB KM

n\/—_l_\

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Service income

Revenue from providing service is recognised
in accounting period in which the services
are rendered, by reference to stage of
completion of the specific transaction and
assessed on the basis of actual services
provided as a proportion of the total service
to be provided.

A contract liability is the obligation to
transfer of goods or render of services to a
customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration
that is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or renders services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognised
when the payment is made or the payment is
due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised goods or services to
the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHEHRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.27 Interest income 2.27 F B WA

Interest income is calculated by applying the FEWALNSHEEEFERMEIRTEREN X

effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount E51E - EEBHIREZEREZSME

of a financial asset except for financial assets EBRIN - HIEEREBEZE/REE I

that subsequently become credit-impaired. For SR EEREEZcREERTDFE

credit-impaired financial assets, the effective HHEBRANERE -

interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount

of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss

allowance).

2.28 Dividend income 2.28 REWA

Dividend income is recognised when the right to I8 B WA A EE B RN ER N IB R fERR o

receive payment is established.

2.29 Leases 229 HE

As a lessee ERFRBEA

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and HEBERAIHALEFAE BIFER

a corresponding liability at the date at which the AEREEEIEMREASE -

leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non- BHF R EHER D MIEFHE S

lease components. The Group allocates the Do REBIZHEEIN D MIEHE LD

consideration in the contract to the lease and non- ZHEEBEREAIREIEZES

lease components based on their relative stand- e

alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are MEEGE EERBEVBREREES

initially measured on a present value basis. Lease E-THEAEREUATHENKZFR

liabilities include the net present value of the 18 :

following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance o [EBEFENZEEFEEZETENK)
fixed payments), less any lease incentives HREMEREEES
receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an o IRIE—TBIEEFIXRFE A E
index or a rate, initially measured using the MEMNK  YIIRERAGBBEZ
index or rate as at the commencement date; BERABES R E

e amounts expected to be payable by the o RBEFSKEBEREAEHEHS
Group under residual value guarantees; z&%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that

option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security

and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions

since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost

comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of

lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease

incentives received;
° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &
mETBREMTE S

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEBEE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.29 Leases (Continued) 229 HE (&)
As a lessee (Continued) ERARBA (1E)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If the Company is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.
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BB ERR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessor

Lease income where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
respective leased assets are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position based
on their nature.

2.30 Dividend distribution

2.31

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
the Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’'s shareholders or Directors, where
appropriate.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value when there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to assets are deducted
against the carrying amount of the assets.

2.32 Hire purchase liabilities

Property, plant and equipment acquired under
hire purchase are capitalised in the consolidated
financial statements and depreciated in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 2.7 above. The
corresponding outstanding obligations due under
the hire purchase after deducting finance expenses
are included as liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements. Finance charges are allocated
to profit or loss over the period of the hire purchase
agreements on a straight line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
foreign exchange risk, and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by a
central treasury department at Group level under
policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Group treasury identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as
well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk.

(a) Market risk
(i) Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity
price risk because certain subsidiaries
of the Group are engaged in the trading
of steel products. As at 31st March 2022
and 2021, the Group had committed
sales orders for steel products for
which the selling price is fixed, which
exceeded the aggregate amount of
on-hand inventories. As the prices of
steel products can fluctuate materially,
the Group’s results may be affected
significantly by future fluctuations in
steel prices (Note 4(c)). To manage
its commodity price risk arising from
committed sales orders, the Group is
closely monitoring the market price
of steel products and adjusting its
procurement strategy accordingly.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(1)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE7#Ek

Price risk (Continued)

The Group also exposed to price risk
mainly arising from investments held
by the Group and classified on the
consolidated statement of financial
position as financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss and financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Management considers that their
price risks are insignificant.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollar
(“US$") and the Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to
require group companies to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currency.

The Group has certain investments
in foreign operations, of which the
net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets
of the Group's foreign operations is
managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign
currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(ifi)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31st March 2022, if HK$ had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021: 5%)
against RMB with all other variables held
constant, profit before income tax would
have been approximately HK$89,000 (2021:
HK$338,000) higher/lower, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/(losses) on
translation of RMB-denominated monetary
assets and liabilities.

As HK$ are reasonably stable with
US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, the management considers the
Company’s foreign exchange risk arisen
from US$ is insignificant. Thus, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group's income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates as
the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets except for cash and
bank deposits, which earn low interest
rate. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk
except those under hedge accounting to
change from variable rate to fixed rate.

R R R M

MR REREE(HE)
3.1 MBEREE(E)

(a) HHERE (&)
(i) SMEE R (&)
F_$::¢555+*
WA TR AR B
/Tﬁme_g_fi
5%) - AT H M #EE
RN BIBRETERIATR
7 FE 12 hn 3 > 4989,000
BIL(ZZF Z—4F : 338,000
BIT) DEBHR AL
ARBGEZEYEERE
BEZERWRE (BE)A
g(o

RN EBEERGE BT
AETAEEBE  EHER
RARTREXTTZINEE
RECHN o FItE - I 2 518K
RE DA

(iii) T2 RERZTIEEFFE
MR AEERRVES X2
R RRITEFIMIEER
MEEE  ARBEZRAR
KREReREBE LIE™
BHNEREHMTE - AKE
ZHERBRETEREESR -
FRERERAKRERERS
MENERRER - HEZFRE
HEHETRIBNEELS
& EF R A& E IR o

2021/22 Annual Report | &%

131

%f



>

132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE7#Ek

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk (Continued)

As at 31st March 2022, borrowings of
HK$98,000,000 (2021: HK$128,000,000)
are converted from quarterly variable
interest payment to a quarterly fixed rate
payment, ranging from 3.89%-3.92%,
through interest rate swap arrangements
with maturity dates expire in August
2022 and January 2025. The interest
rate swaps and the corresponding
bank borrowings have similar terms,
such as principal amounts, currency,
interest period, maturity dates and the
counterparty, and the Directors consider
that the interest rate swaps are highly
effective hedging instruments and
are designated as cash flow hedging
instruments from floating interest rates
to fixed interest rates.

At 31st March 2022, if interest rates on
floating rate borrowings had been 100
basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$14,011,000 (2021:
HK$13,103,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

The credit risk of the Group mainly
arises from trade and bill receivables,
deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks
which are leading and reputable with
investment grade credit rating. The
Group has not incurred significant loss
from non-performance by these parties
in the past and management does
not expect so in the future. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at
bank is assessed to be immaterial and
no provision was made as at 31st March
2022 and 2021.

The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to reputable
and creditworthy customers with an
appropriate financial strength, credit
history and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Majority of the Group’'s revenue is
received from individual customers in
relation to trading of building products
and distribution and processing of
construction materials. As at 31st
March 2022, top 10 customers of the
Group accounted for approximately
28% (2021: 34%) to the total trade
and bill receivables of the Group. The
Group has set up long-term cooperative
relationship with these customers. In
view of the history of business dealings
with these customers and the collection
history of the receivables due from
them, management believes that there
is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding receivable
balance due from these customers
saved for the debtors related to the
impaired trade receivable disclosed
below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the recoverability
of trade and other receivables and
considers whether any increase in
credit risks and loss allowances
based on historical payment records,
the length of the overdue period, the
financial strength of the debtors, the
overall macro-economic environment
and whether there are any disputes
with the debtors. Financial assets are
written off when there is no reasonable
expectation recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan
with the Group or the counterparty
has been liquidated or bankrupted.
The Group’s historical experience in
collection of trade and other receivables
falls within the recorded allowances
and the Directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables has been made in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

— trade receivables;

— cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits; and

— other financial assets measured
at amortised costs (including
deposits, other receivables and bill
receivables).

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements
of HKFRS 9, the Directors consider
that the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group measures the expected credit
losses on a combination of both individual
and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ta

BB ERR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE7#Ek

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

The expected loss rates are based
on the payment profiles of sales over
a period of 24 months before 31st
March 2021 and 31st March 2020 and
the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this year.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. For customers
relating to the trading business in the
PRC, the Group has identified the
CPI inflation and industrial production
growth to be the most relevant factors.
For customers in Hong Kong, the
Group has identified Hong Kong's
unemployment rate and GDP as one of
the most relevant factors for trading and
manufacturing business in Hong Kong,
respectively. The Group adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors accordingly.

To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on the nature of
customer accounts, shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR MR

A\\

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiEREIE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 Bi¥EAKREE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEEE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) EAMEEHREE)
On the above individual and collective A AR R ERIEET
basis, the loss allowance as at 31st R _FR-ZE-—F
March 2022 and 2021 were determined —A=t+—HzEBEREE
as follows: T -

61-120 121-180 181-365 Over
1-60 days days days days 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due past due Total
=8 1-60 H 61-120 H 121-180 H 181-365 H 365 H £
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FTET FTET FET FET FET FTET FTET
At 31st March 2022 R-Z-—F
=A=+—H
Gross carrying amount — BEEI42(E —
trade receivables e R 348,567 74,731 31,310 8,290 14,513 21,941 499,352
Loss allowance BiERE (771) (140) (709) (810) (1,785) (12,321) (16,536)
Net carrying amount — REFE—
trade receivable FE R BR X 347,796 74,591 30,601 7,480 12,728 9,620 482,816
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial

risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

3

MR REREE(E)

3.1

B 7 LB R = (48

(b) EFEmE(E)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) ZEEEREE)
61-120 121-180 181-365 Over
1-60 days days days days 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due past due
B B B B BHRRB
= 1-60 B 61-1208  121-180H  181-365H 365 H
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
B B T B B FBx
At 31st March 2021 R-ZBZ—F
=A=+—-8”
Gross carrying amount —  BRE4E(E —
trade receivables MR R 284,471 26,408 16,004 10,692 7,061 21,170 365,806
Loss allowance BiERE (529) (911) (404) (608) (752) (17,587) (20,791)
Net carrying amount - BREF(E—
trade receivable e R X 283,942 25,497 15,600 10,084 6,309 3,583 345,015

Impairment losses on trade receivables
are presented as “impairment loss on
financial assets - net” within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised costs

Management considers that its credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference
to the counterparty historical default
rate and current financial position. The
impairment provision is determined
based on the 12-month expected credit
loss which is considered insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

(c)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the
operating entities of the Group and aggregated
by group finance. Group finance monitors
rolling forecasts of the Group’'s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash
to meet operational needs while maintaining
sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed
borrowing facilities (Note 32) at all times so
that the Group does not breach borrowing
limits or covenants on any of its borrowing
facilities. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group's debt financing
plans, covenant compliance and compliance
with internal ratio of the consolidated statement
of financial position targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating
entities over and above balance required
for working capital management are
transferred to the Group’s treasury. The
Group’s treasury invests surplus cash in
time deposits, marketable securities and
other instruments with appropriate maturities
or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient
head-room as determined by the above-
mentioned forecasts. At the reporting date,
the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$188,931,000 (2021:
HK$119,098,000) (Note 28) and trade
and bill receivables, net, of approximately
HK$509,598,000 (2021: HK$363,814,000)
(Note 26) that are expected to readily
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity
risk.

BB ERR M

an\

3 MEBRREEE)

3.1 MBEREE(E)

(c) TEBEZERE
BenEBlREAEEZBK
LEBRT ITHEERBA
it AREMBERAKE R

BeHmR2ZRHER - BERAR
WERETERNELEHFE - TRER

0] By ] 4 455 78 B 2 AR B BUSGRR
EEREME32)  UEAKHE
TEREIMEERBEREMEE
MERE - HWFEBEAZRIIALE
BEKRENE  ZHEARART
ERMEAMBHRKLERBER -

EREERRA NGRS EE
LEEANEEMTHER 98

BEAEERE - AEEREH
AR S HRERNTEHERLREE
FBENBBRE EMFERRE A
EEBIBAEARSE T
B -RH{ER AEERFAERS
&iﬁf“ﬁi’mszz 931,000 7T
— & — — £ :119,098,00078
70 ) (B sk 28) R E W BR & &TTF
H %3 #9509,598,000/8 L(— =
— — £ : 363,814,000 7T ) (B

i26) HEHMARARELRSR
ANERRBE SRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R MR

A\ 4

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 &I EMREE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEAKREE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) nEELEMEE)
The table below analyses the Group's THREBINAKEEzEHAE B
financial liabilities into relevant maturity BAEHAER BRERBEEES
groupings based on the remaining period at AEMB 2R THRETOWN -
the reporting date to the contractual maturity TREBEBZSEAEBSYARIRIEA
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are B °

the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years

DPR1E 1E25F 2FE55F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT THxT FTHT

At 31st March 2022 R-—E-Z—
=A=+—H
Trade and bill payables ERBRR N EE 433,562 — — 433,562
Other payables H A FETBR X 31,711 4,314 6,089 42,114
Borrowings BE 736,990 696,498 66,842 1,500,330
Interest payable FE 7 & 53,127 17,140 2,108 72,375
Lease liabilities Heas 18,306 4,742 — 23,048
Derivative financial PTHES R
instruments TH 18 — — 18
1,273,714 722,694 75,039 2,071,447
At 31st March 2021 R-ZB=—F
=H=+—H
Trade and bill payables ERERERR 245,354 — — 245,354
Other payables H A FETBR X 24,752 4,301 6,846 35,899
Borrowings BE 674,987 63,660 717,096 1,455,743
Interest payable FER 7 & 57,273 36,077 17,302 110,652
Lease liabilities HEBE 4,688 2,078 — 6,766
Derivative financial PTHES®
instruments TH 1,084 — — 1,084

—_

,008,138 106,116 741,244 1,855,498
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
and lease liabilities less pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity (excluding non-controlling
interests), as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2022 and 2021
were as follows:

A\\

e ISR R M R

3 MEEKRERE(E)
32 EEARER

AEEERESZ AERREAEER
BREZEESN  URBRREHRDHRES
Hprtr HRMENE - YRS —ExE
BARBABDERRA

REFHAHERNRE - NEE A FHEN
AR ZREE2HE - REAEART R
R BITHBRMNAHEEEARE °

RERZX—H AKERBEAEELL

REREN - ZULETIAFEBERIAE
AEEERY - FREDUAEERR

ERBERBRCEMRTERARES
EReEHEEAE - RS MBEARERM
R BABBEAER (T EEIFEIT
‘) IFREAE

RN E-——FER - T-——F=fF=+—
AZERBELEEROT

2022 2021

—E-C —EC—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FTHET

Total borrowings (Note 32) BERE(MEI2) 1,498,958 1,454,642

Total lease liabilities (Note 16) HEBERE(MHE16) 22,414 6,519
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and & : & RIREZEEIUR
pledged bank deposits BEBIRITIF R

(Note 28) (FfF3E28) (232,002) (173,106)

Net debt FETE 1,289,370 1,288,055

Total equity (excluding 4R

non-controlling interests) (M ERIEFEE SR ) 990,835 887,721

Total capital B 4BEE 2,280,205 2,175,776

Gearing ratio BEARBELE 57% 59%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair
values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in
the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has
classified its financial instruments into the
three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards. An explanation of each level
follows underneath the table.

3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B EREE (&)
3.3 AAEEMGE

@)

RAEEZR

RETE A ERB B REAR A
BEERIANGTENERIA &
ERABER PTG A E R
te REHEBEAREBEMAZ
WABBOAERERERSR A%
BRESHEAKEESHTAED
REZEER - EBEZHAWLT
RFTR °

Level 3
BB
At 31st March 2022 HK$’000
R=B==%=Zf=+—H T
Financial assets CRMEE
Financial asset BAREBERA
at FVOCI Hibz2mEBRAZ
TREE
- Listed securities — ETEH 2,749 — — 2,749
Financial asset BAREERA
at FVPL Ba emEE
— Unlisted securities —JEEmES — — 3,908 3,908
Derivative financial PTHES R
instruments TH
— Interest rate swap — FI| 245 AR = 1,202 = 1,202
2,749 1,202 3,908 7,859
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2\

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HEERREREE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 MAEEME(E)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) AREEZRGE)

At 31st March 2022
R-B-Z§=A=+-—H

Financial liability =N
Derivative financial MESE
instruments TH
— Interest rate swap — F =45 1 = (18) = (18)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—/F -l F=/8 Bz
At 31st March 2021 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
R-ZZE-_—-F=A=+—H FHET FET FE T FET
Financial assets cRMEE
Financial asset BAREBERA
at FVOCI EtaEmBAz
TREE
— Listed securities - EW#EH 4,203 — — 4,203
Financial liabilities =N
Derivative financial TS
instrument TH
— Interest rate swap — Fl| %45 A — (1,084) — (1,084)
There were no transfers between level 1, 2 RERNE—RB - F_BRFEF=-E
and 3 during the year (2021: Same). ZHEWEELER( T —4F
R -
See Note 15 for disclosures of the investment FHRE=EBs A ANEBEFEZ
properties that are measured at fair value WEDNEZHEEER  F2HEW
which is included in level 3. F15 0
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e B ERAR A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial
instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives and equity securities)
is based on quoted market prices
at the end of the reporting period.

Level 2: The fair value of financial
instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined using valuation
techniques which maximise the
use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable
inputs). This is the case for
unlisted equity interests.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised
cost approximate their fair values as at the
reporting date since either the instrument are
with short maturities or the interest rate is
close to the current market rate.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R

3

s B ()

F—E: RNEBMmHEEZS
BMTAMWMARZRS
BPTAE T AR E
F)ZARBETR
R EHIR 2 5

ExtE -

FE: YEREBRMEHE
B2 2T A
SINTETER) - K
AREEERMGEE
TRETE - MaFih
BIAERI L ERA
BRZMEHE X
WA T8 2R
et - MEtE—HE
MITAEZAREEMR
BZBERBAL
RABEHSE - BZ

TRTABRES

°

E=E:  AERAMEDIHEKE
TEETEHEE
AGETBERA) -
S LR A B R
BB -

IR BIR AN S B SRR AR D BR 2
TR TANRE A MMKREER
HERAnEERE  AR/ZITAN
HABR #5048 3 A R AT E A 5 A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques are used
to value of the aforementioned financial
instruments include:

e for listed securities - the quoted market
prices for similar instruments

e for interest rate swaps - the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
based on observable yield curves

° for unlisted securities - discounted cash
flow analysis.

All of the resulting fair value estimates are
included in level 1 and 2 except for unlisted
securities where the fair values have been
determined based on present values and
the discount rates used were adjusted for
counterparty risk.

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)
The following table presents the changes in

level 3 item - unlisted securities for the year
ended 31st March 2022:

;\\

e ISR R M R

3 MBRBREEHE)
3.3 AABEMHE(E)
(i) FIREERAEEREER

BEHERTEANRET Lile
MTEEE ZZT2T AR
o

s LHREHF-BRRBEIAZM
BEE

o FEEH-REABEREW=
KHRREFTRKRERE
MR E

s FLMEHF-MBEDRD
#r o

B REBEEFEREES
RE1TBRFE2ET - BRIRERE
AR FRIA BB 32 5 77 [ B 2 B 3R
REEEAAEBENIELDESFNA
B o

(i) EAEATTHEBAEHEAR
1 (E3/E)
THEEHBE-FE-—F=5
—+ AIEFEEsEEA — 3

BT BB

2022
:g::

HK$’000

FRxT

At 1st April REA—H —

Addition RE 3,908

At 31st March R=A=+—H 3,908
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/—_l_\

3

BB ERR M

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(v) Valuation process and inputs

The Group’s finance department performs/
reviews the valuations for the aforementioned
financial instruments as included in financial
assets at FVPL (including derivative financial
instruments) and FVOCI required for financial
reporting purposes, including the level 3
fair values. These valuation results are then
reported to the Group’'s management for
discussions and review in relation to the
valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The main level 3 unobservable input adopted
for the measuring the fair value of the
unlisted securities (included as financial
asset at FVPL), is the risk-adjusted discount
rate, ranging from 30%-50%. Discount rates
are determined to reflect the current market
assessment of the time value of money as
well as the risk specific to the asset. The
higher the adopted risk-adjusted discount
rate, the lower the fair value of the financial
asset at FVPL.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value
of investment properties was determined by using
valuation technique and management updates
their assessment of the fair value of each property,
taking into account the key valuation assumptions,
including adjusted market yield. Details of the
judgements and assumptions have been disclosed
in Note 15.

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred income
tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers it is likely
that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. When the expectations are different
from the original estimates, such differences will
impact the recognition of deferred income tax
assets and income tax charges in the period in
which such estimates have been changed.

A B ERAR A

4 EETETHEERME(E)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Onerous contract provision

(d)

As at 31st March 2022, the Group had committed
sales orders which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories and committed
purchase orders. If the cost of certain future
purchases to fulfil these sales orders exceeds the
contracted selling prices of the sales orders, a
provision for onerous contracts would be made.
In estimating the amount by which the cost of
purchases are expected to exceed sales prices of
committed sales orders, management takes into
account the cost of on-hand inventories and the
forecast market price of future purchases where
that can be reliably estimated.

Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
review internal and external sources of information
to identify indications that the property, plant and
equipment may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised may be reversed.

If an indication of impairment is identified, the
Group is required to estimate the recoverable
value, representing the greater of the asset’s fair
value less cost to sell or its value in use. Changes
in any of these estimates could result in a material
change to the assets’ carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

)

(9)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and variable
selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer demand and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle. Management
reassesses the estimations at each reporting date.

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to
determine when trade and other receivables are
impaired. This determination requires significant
judgement and estimation based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. In
making this judgement and estimation, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration of
receivables and the financial health and collection
history of individual debtors and expected future
change of credit risks, including the consideration
of factors such as general economy measure,
changes in macroeconomic indicators etc. Details
of the assumptions and inputs used are discussed
in Note 3.1(b).

Useful lives and depreciation expenses for
property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. Actual economic lives
may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in useful lives and
therefore depreciation expense in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

p

5

e TSR M R

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's revenue consists of the following:

5

WA R EHER

REBZWABREWT :

2022 2021

—E2__ —E_—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHERT

Sales of goods EmiEE 2,710,794 1,979,423
Service income BRA U A 47,096 56,563
Rental income e WA 50,010 37,646
Total revenue W A 458 2,807,900 2,073,632

The Group’s businesses are managed according to
the nature of their operations and the products and
services they provide.

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”) that are used to making
strategic decisions. The CODM is identified as the
Executive Directors of the Company. The Executive
Directors consider the business from a customer
perspective and assess the performance of the
operating segments based on the segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as these consolidated
financial statements. During the year ended 31st
March 2022, management has renamed the operating
segments to reiterate the business focuses. The CODM
considers the Group operates predominantly in three
operating segments:

(i) Steels Distribution and Processing Business
(formerly known as Construction Materials Business);

(i) Building Products Distribution Business (formerly
known as Building and Design Solutions Business);
and

(iii) Property Investment and Fund Management
Business (formerly known as Property Investment
and Project Management Business).

The CODM assesses the performance of operating
segments based on a measure of profit before income tax.

The revenue from external parties reported to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment assets by geographical market consist primarily
of property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets, investments
accounted for using the equity method, prepayments,
deposits and other receivables. They exclude financial
instruments and deferred income tax assets.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to investment
properties and property, plant and equipment for the
year ended 31st March 2022.

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for

the year ended 31st March 2022 is as follows:

5

B HRRM

an\

WAR 7 RRER (&)

B mIZE D 2N HEETZEEME
BEREH REVE EREEE B
BE NWEBSZEARZEKE BARE &
EREMEWRIERR - BT AMREMSH
BEATERERDBEE -

BHE-_T-_—_F#=A=+—HILEE &K
X BEFE 2 REDNEARYE  BENM

=
AaxX

AEERBE_T-_—_F=-A=1+—HLF

BIRE 0 B2 KB

DT -

Steels Property
Distribution Building Investment
and Products and Fund
Processing Distribution Management
Business Business business Unallocated Total
Fif et BEMR BHERE
RMTEH DHER RESEEEL AAE ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FTERT FTER TEx FTER
Revenue from contracts with customers REBFANZBA
- Recognised at a point in time — AR -EBEER 2,317,125 393,669 — - 2,710,794
- Recognised over time —E-BERNER — — 47,096 - 47,096
- Rental income -HAEhA 29 — 49,981 - 50,010
2,317,154 393,669 97,077 = 2,807,900
Operating profit/(loss) BERF/ (B18) 107,177 48,217 57,523 (55,925) 156,992
Finance income TN 830 7 160 5 1,066
Finance costs YHER (19,649) (5,192) (35,151) (2,510) (62,502)
Share of results of investments L REREANR
accounted for using the equity method ZIRBTEE = - (12,550) - (12,550)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSRATEF], (B518) 88,358 43,096 9,982 (58,430) 83,006
Other gains/(losses) - net Hiodess/(B18) — 38 (1,588) 1,792 3,057 2,463 5,724
Fair value gain on investment properties BEMEZ AR BEKE - = 832 - 832
Capital expenditure EXAY 7,263 303 574 959 9,099
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (4,061) (4,885) (1,417) (6,617) (16,980)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARSHER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for REBRHE-_E-_—F=A=1+—HB1It&F
the year ended 31st March 2021 is as follows: F&%ﬂ‘&"%Z%i DATEAT

162

Steels Property
Distribution Building Investment
and Products and Fund
Processing Distribution Management
Business Business business Unallocated Total
D8 BEMH BHERE
BRI PHEKR RESELXH ROE okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TEx TERT TER
Revenue from contracts with customers REBFANZHMA
- Recognised at a point in time —EX-BEEZ 1,660,669 313,867 — 4,887 1,979,423
- Recognised over time —E—BRERE AR — — 56,563 — 56,563
- Rental income 5 ON 93 — 37,553 — 37,646
1,660,762 313,867 94,116 4,887 2,073,632
Operating profit/(loss) R (B8) 55,722 38,854 51,473 (50,049) 96,000
Finance income B YA 917 41 105 47 1,110
Finance costs BSER (15,931) (4,663) (39,432) (3,998) (64,024)
Share of results of investments accounted — FE{F AR E A SR
for using the equity method ZRBTEE — — (19,724) — (19,724)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETERATER,/(B18) 40,708 34,232 (7,578) (54,000) 13,362
Other gains - net Hiplias— 8 276 955 2,352 4,484 8,067
Fair value loss on investment properties ~ REMEz AR EERE — — (8,362) — (8,362)
Capital expenditure EAREY 275 316 1,595 8 2,194
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH (5,089) (5,786) (1,630) (13,632) (26,137)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARSHER(E)
(CONTINUED)

The Group's main business is domiciled in Hong Kong NEBFTEBEBENE B LPE ARE o KNE
and Mainland China. Analysis of the Group’s revenue B2 W AR IS T

by geographical market is as follows:

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FE&T
Hong Kong aE 2,078,884 1,393,815
Mainland China EalEiPN 7 729,016 679,817
2,807,900 2,073,632
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and GEeRMTERELEREHREENZIEREE
deferred income tax assets, by geographical market is EiRthEmis o BT
as follows:

L ) 2022 2021
—E=-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FTET
Hong Kong B 423,543 394,128
Mainland China LSS 1,493,999 1,434,069
1,917,542 1,828,197

(a) Revenue recognition in relation to contract (a) BEGHNABZRAER

liabilities

As at 31st March 2022, contract liabilities RZE-_—_F=B=+—H st AE

included receipts in advance and deferred WHBEZANDEBREERAZS

revenue amounting to HK$78,080,000 (2021: ¥4 /78,080,000 t( =& = — F:

HK$53,537,000). 53,537,000/ 7T) °
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARZHEH(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Revenue recognition in relation to contract (a) BRESHEBEZRARER (&)

liabilities (Continued)

The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised in the current reporting period
relates to carried-forward receipts in advance and
deferred revenue:

T%%ﬁﬁ/\ﬂﬁﬁi%ﬂ?ﬁﬁfa%ﬂ%Zﬁ%
IR S REWAFERBRAZ 2H

2021
—E--F
HK$'000
FiEx
Revenue recognised that was REET ATEUFTE &
included in the receipts in R AN B R R
advance and deferred revenue WA Z &8

at the beginning of the year 53,537 57,258

(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract

(b) RETZREEH

The following table shows unsatisfied performance TREMMNE —(ARESERAZEEE
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term BERIABESYNMELEZABITZEL
sales contracts recognised at a point in time: %

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
TR

R=ZA=t—HoEEHHK
ol EEJETTZEHH% BH
LR BEEER

Aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to long-term sales
contracts that are partially or fully
unsatisfied as at 31st March

671,568 409,094

Management expects that 65.9% (2021: 93.4%) EEEBEIHE T _F=A=1+—

154

of the transaction price, totalling HK$442,690,000

AOBERBITZBONRB IR HER

(2021: HK$382,297,000) allocated to unsatisfied Z265.9% ' #5F 442,690,000 L(=F
performance obligations as of 31st March — — % :93.4% * #251382,297,000/5

2022 will be recognised as revenue during the

TO) AT —ERE PR REA - 8

next reporting period. The remaining 34.1% of THI34.1% @ 4)228,878,000/8 L( ==
approximately HK$228,878,000 (2021: 6.6% of T —F: B TH6.6%  #926,797,000
approximately HK$26,797,000) will be recognised BITIEBR = /W FE(=ZZ
in the 2023/24 financial year (2021: 2022/23 T—F T/ =HE)ER -

financial year).

All other contracts are for periods of one year
or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.
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6 OTHER GAINS - NET 6 Httz—FE
2022 2021
—E-C —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Dividend income P EHA 657 —
Net exchange (losses)/gains FIER (BB, a (1,466) 277
Impairment loss on property, Y - BE REERESE
plant and equipment (Note 14) (PfsE14) — (572)
Gain on modification of lease HEET 2 W= 1,141 2,865
Penalty income from tenants in REMEPRARLE
relation to early termination of HE =
rental agreements SFUA 2,671 2,402
Release of exchange reserve upon B /88 X B4 S R A e
deregistration of subsidiaries ZIENFEERLD 1,131 —
Sundry income HETE A 1,590 3,095
5,724 8,067
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 BRMEESZXH
Expenses included in “cost of sales”, “selling and SFATSHERAR]  [#HERHEIH ][5t
distribution expenses”, “impairment loss on financial BEREBEESR - FEIR—BRETERSZEIR
assets — net” and “general and administrative expenses” BT 9T

are analysed as follows:

2022 2021
—E-— —EB-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Cost of finished goods sold Bk M ER A 2,362,219 1,703,668
Reversal of impairment of inventories e RISNEIEe (1,051) (1,825)
(Reversal of)/provision for BEZL 2 (B5),/ #iE
onerous contracts (Note 31) (F3E31) (213) 33,280
Depreciation of property, W - WE R
plant and equipment (Note 14) ZIE (M 14) 6,470 13,046
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZINE
(Note 16) (PfF5E16) 9,800 12,308
Loss on disposals of property, HEWS - KERE#EZ
plant and equipment (Note 36(b)) B8 (MH3E 36(b)) 96 145
Amortisation of intangible assets | EE B
(Note 17) (B5E17) 710 783
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) EERAIZ M (FizEs) 133,802 98,603
Expenses relating to short-term or FRARHMEEERE
low-value leases (Note 16) 2 (HiFE16) 3,153 946
Property tax for investment properties WEMEZMER 7,996 7,160
Provision for impairment of trade and FEW R R EIBRE
bill receivables — net (Note 26) Bl — (M3 26) 601 293
Auditor’'s remuneration ZE BN &
— Audit services — X RS 2,667 2,650
- Non-audit services — IR ERTS 275 116
Legal and professional fees ERNEXEER 5,489 3,393
Freight charges BE 79,556 63,654
Storage and handling charges BEEREEE 8,373 7,487
Others A, 37,521 31,630
Total Pk 2,657,464 1,977,337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

e ISR R M R

8 EEEMNXH(BESEEZME)

Salaries and allowances (Note a) e kR (Hita) 86,501 74,045
Bonus TE4L 31,811 14,202

Pension costs RIS A
— defined contribution plans (Note b) — #)TE HRETEI (FsEb) 7,611 2,863
Welfare and benefits & F) & M = 7,879 7,493
133,802 98,603

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31st March 2021, wage subsidies of
HK$3,632,000 and HK$5,596,000 granted from the Employment
Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund was recognised
in “cost of sales” and “general and administrative expenses”
respectively and had been offset with the employee benefit
expenses. No wage subsidies were received by the Group for
the year ended 31st March 2022.

(b) The Group maintains two defined contribution pension schemes
for its employees in Hong Kong, the ORSO Scheme and the MPF
Scheme. The assets of these schemes are held separately from
those of the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, each of the Group and its employees
make monthly contribution to the scheme at 5% (2021: 5%) of
the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of employees who
have terminated employment could be utilised by the Group to
reduce its future contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees
make monthly mandatory contributions to the scheme at 5%
(2021: 5%) of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Both the Group's and the employee’s contributions are subject
to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested for the employees.

MRE

(a) BHEZT--—4F=A=+—BILFE PHEHEE
® THIRBE S EIPTH H 8) T & #8E 3,632,000 %
JL 15,596,000 7T + B 2 RIS &R A | K[ —
M RATB PR - WE R HAEN R B & T
YH - HEZZT-_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE &&E
B EESTEME -

(b) AEESEMENERASHRAETERZE
B ARSI RBESHS - W EEZ
BEDHEAKRECEENRARNA  THBURSE
I o

REATREHE  ARENEEBAZER%ER
o 2o5%(ZT = —%F:5%)Akat G A
R RIMEMZEEARBEB Mm@ mAEEAE
TR ARG o

REERSHE  ARENEREBAZERELSS
B ATE S EGOITRERZEERBAEAZ
5% (=T = —4% : 5%) At #1ET A @bl k4t
R AREREEE ZHR LR LS A 1,5008
T o WREB ARG TIES -
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| NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- b E RS
e B IS J&at
8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 8 EERALIH(BESEEMS)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED) (#8)
Notes: (Continued) Misx - (&)
As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the BANF B KERZLERBE  AEBEEER
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for MR BKEE 2 B A R B IRERR E B EIRGT
employees of its subsidiaries established in Mainland China. B - BEEEREBSEKRS  ©HEL2RBESRNK
The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated with BrEARNHFS LREEHIREBENERTES
reference to their basic salaries on retirement and their length of H oo BREZESHPIN  REBHESITIMEMER
service in accordance with the relevant government regulations. BRRSTERIKEEN - ZEHREBEKRFEIEA
The Group has no further obligations for the actual payment of EREKREESZNEERAKE -
pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond these contributions.
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.
During the year ended 31st March 2022, the aggregate amount BHE-_Z-_—F=-A=1+—HILFE AEEH-L
of the Group’s contributions to the aforementioned pension MUR RS 5T EIEH 2 485649 /457,611,0008 7T
schemes was approximately HK$7,611,000 (2021: HK$4,888,000, (ZZ = —4 :4,888,000/8 T * K ZUWEHZTLD
net of forfeited contributions of approximately HK$2,025,000). As 2,025000/87L) M- E-_—_F=A=+—8 -
at 31st March 2022, there is no unutilised forfeited contribution AR B )R WAL TR AT R D AN e E R A 2 it
which could be utilised to reduce future contributions of the e
Group.
9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EERENREEAEME

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=

The remuneration of every Director for the year
ended 31st March 2022 is set out below:

HE_Z__F=-A=+—HBILFE -
BUEEHFMOT

Employer’s
contribution to
a retirement

Discretionary

Salaries and bonuses benefit
allowances (Note) scheme
ExXY
WA RIEF
Me HEREH (=) EiE A Fot ]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TET
Executive Directors BoES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew PRE LA - 4,908 1,950 18 6,876
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu AT E = 1,236 153 64 1,453
Independent Non-executive Directors BUERITESE
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERIELE 225 - - - 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao HHELE 207 - — — 207
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike HRESEE 180 — — — 180
Mr. Li Yinguan Fo|RELE 180 - — - 180
792 6,144 2,103 82 9,121
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every Director for the year

ended 31st March 2021 is set out below:

e ISR R M R

9 ESEKRSNEEAENE(F)

(a)

EE=Ms (8

BE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HILFE -
FNEBREHFMOT

k3
HK$'000
TERL

Salaries and
allowances

HaRR
HK$'000
TERT

Employer's

contribution to

Discretionary a retirement

bonuses benefit

(Note) scheme

ExH

EisTA RINER
(FifzE) sTEZ R k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET TERT

Executive Directors BOES

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew PR LA — 5,118 1,950 18 7,086

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu AFEE — 1,413 — 40 1,453

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFRITES

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERELE 225 — — — 225

Mr. Xu Lin Bao BIEEE 207 — — — 207

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BB E 180 — — — 180

Mr. Li Yinquan Fo|RELE 180 — — — 180
792 6,531 1,950 58 9,331

Note: MEzE -

The Executive Directors are entitled to discretionary bonuses
which are determined with reference to their performance and

the performance of the Group.

No incentive payment as an inducement for joining
the Group or compensation for loss of office was
paid to any Director during the years ended 31st

March 2022 and 2021.

Also, no Directors waived

their emoluments during the years ended 31st

March 2022 and 2021.

MITES P IIIBILAL - EA2EH
ERBEE -

KARAE

REBEZZE-_—_FR-FT=-—F=H
=t+—HIFE  BESAE FEMA
EEDMEEE A AL B KB (E -
b TEEEREE T - —Fh_
T —FZ A=+ HIFEREEN

Eal
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A

9

B 5% SR AR B

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the Directors received any retirement
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2022
and 2021.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the Directors received any termination
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2022
and 2021.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available of Directors’ services

During the years ended 31st March 2022 and
2021, no consideration was paid by the Company
to any third parties for making available of
Directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of Directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and/or any
entities connected with such Directors

During the years ended 31st March 2022 and
2021, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of Directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and any entities
connected with such Directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
Director has a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of 31st March 2022
and 2021 or at any time during the years ended
31st March 2022 and 2021.
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EERNER
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EERIEERER
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ZEEERFIZEAANBREZEES Y
FREBEREAT=AZER  BUE
RREMZ G2 -

EERNRS  RESEHPZEX
B

R-_EBE——FR-_FE-_—FZA=+—
AERIN S -—FER-_FT-—F=
AZ=+— B FERTMAEENFER
RNEBMEFBBBBARHEATHT &
ETEHESHERAEAESMNEARAR
5 THEREH -



9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals with highest emoluments in
the Group include one Director (2021: one) whose
emoluments is reflected in the analysis presented
in Note 9(a) above. The emoluments paid/payable

to the remaining four (2021:
during the year are as follows:

four) individuals

e ISR R M R

EEREREBEAEH S (E)

(9) EBREHFAL
AEBREARSWNEALEE—ZRES

(ZT=—%F: —%&) B XM
E9(a) AFIDHTH R - REZER,

ENESRNE(ZE_—F  mF) AL
ZBsuT

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET BT
Salaries and allowances e MoERh 7,447 6,779
Bonus TE4L 2,812 3,197
Pension costs RIREKAR

— defined contribution plans —HEHRREE 332 208
10,591 10,184

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e T AT EHE

- HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
- HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
- HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

- HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000

—1,000,001 BTE
2,000,000 7T
—2,000,001 BTE
3,000,000 7T
—3,000,001 BTE
4,000,000 7T
—4,000,001 BTE
5,000,000 7T

Number of individuals

AB

2022
S =

— i re——

2021
—E-—F

No emoluments were paid/payable to the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
the Group or as compensation for loss of office

during the year (2021: Same).

AEZWHESLN,EREMME T RE
S A T IAVES B IA K S E AR B
BEE(ZZ=—F  48R) -
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10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 10 BBRBRAKREH
2022 2021
—E2-— —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
; FTHET
Finance income U3 ON
Interest income: A2 145()\
— short-term bank deposits R2ERERITIF 5K . 106 1,110
Finance costs 5B
Interest expenses: FELZH :
- borrowings and hire —fEER
purchase liabilities HEaE (56,921) (59,719)
— transfer from hedging reserve —RE R R EE D
- interest rate swaps designated —EBTEARESRE R
as cash flow hedges (Note 24) FZf8 BR (P 3T 24) (794) (144)
— lease liabilities (Note 16) —HEBEKE16) (477) (824)
Bank charges RITEA (4,310) (3,337)
(62,502) (64,024)
Net finance costs BI 7% & F 58 (61,436) (62,914)
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FiBHEH
Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the NEFBDIRKEMERR 2T B AN E
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation Bt ERBUOS MNETE IS M 2 B8 -
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% EABNGEHIIER R 16.5% EH B E - H—
except for one of the Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries METBEMET 2B RRRIN ¢ RAF
which is subject to 8.25% for its first HK$2,000,000 of ERBERASFSHBEER - HE 2,000,000
assessable profits under the two-tiered profit tax regime HETERB S IR R 25% EH B (—
during the year (2021: Same). Subsidiaries established in T —F : HE) - RPBEKERKS 2B A
Mainland China are subject to China corporate income tax at T?ﬁz%ﬁl 205% (—E——1F : 25%)H N+

25% (2021: 25%). EFEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR MR

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11 FBHZd (E)
The amount of income tax expense recorded in the WA BRmERDYEFAEH X H B

consolidated income statement represents:

2021
—E_—F

HK$'000
THET

Current income tax B HIFTIS AR
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNEH 5,068 4,129
- China corporate income tax —FREEMSER 2,913 3,138
Deferred income tax (Note 21) EIEFTISEE (FI5E21) 11,415 1,010
Under-provision in prior years FEBRETR 171 1,262
19,567 9,539
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs RNEBRBADEFN 2 BB BTG S T2 % T
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the ERAZINEESRERAE 7B e BAaE

weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the B BT

consolidated entities is as follows:

—E_—F
HK$'000
FET
Profit before income tax R BT 1S 50 A& A 83,006 13,362
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates 5 Bm A FriE A
applicable to profit B EGTE
in the respective countries ZBIE 10,120 924
Income not subject to tax BARB 2 A (1,725) (2,241)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AT 2 % H 4,932 2,447
Tax losses not recognised as W EERRLEMSHEE
deferred income tax assets 2 TIEEE 6,032 8,440
Deferred income tax liabilities in LA B K B R R 2 )
respect of withholding tax on 2 TEE
Mainland China unremitted earnings BT AG 423 70
Utilisation of previously unrecognised 1% A3 72 AR R A
tax loss MG EE (386) (1,363)
Under provision in prior years AERETE 171 1,262
Income tax expense PS> 19,567 9,539
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12 DIVIDENDS 12 B2

Interim dividend of HK1.50 cents AR ERRR B tﬂxiﬁﬂﬂ 50 711l
(2021: Nil) per ordinary share (Note a) (ZZ— ,\\)(Fﬁ&a) 9,606 —
Proposed final dividend of HK1.50 cents Emﬂiﬁﬁﬁx% B 1.50 1L
(2021: Nil) per ordinary share (Note b) (=% CaE) (MEED) 9,606 —
Special dividend of HK1.00 cent %}E'J'Jﬂx,u tﬂxiﬁﬂﬂ 00781l
per ordinary share (Note c) (FsEc) = 6,412
Notes: B3
(a)  An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30th (a) ARFARZZT_F-ANBAR-T=—F+=
September 2021 of HK1.50 cents per ordinary share (six months ATt BBIRAERBRRAM 2 BRRIAR IR
ended 30th September 2020: Nil) was paid in cash on 4th HE-_Z-—FNAA=tHLEXNEARZHPHERES
January 2022 to shareholders whose names appeared on the EBRAS0BIN(BE=S=_FFLA=1THL
Register of Members of the Company on 17th December 2021. NMEA ;) e
(b) A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st March 2022 (b) ARABREEREBEFASEZIREEZ=-F
of HK1.50 cents per ordinary share (2021: Nil), amounting to ZF=ZA=T-HUEFEZREREEREERK
approximately of HK$9,606,000 (2021: Nil), is to be proposed 1508 (=T =—4 : £) + #8584/ 9,606,000
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The amount of the BT(ZTZ—F: &) - ZEHRARBHEED
proposed final dividend is based on 640,414,315 ordinary shares HRWR ZE - —F=-HA=+—H2640,414,315%
in issue as at 31st March 2022. These consolidated financial BET2ERR ZEREUBRRTARREE
statements do not reflect this proposed dividend payable for the - ZF=-A=t+—HIEFEREREMRE -

year ended 31st March 2022.

(c) A special dividend in respect of the year ended 31st March 2021 (c) BE-ZE-—F-ZA=Z1+—HLEFENEIREST
of HK1.00 cent per ordinary share, amounting to approximately % & @Ak 1.00 81l - ©74/6,412,000/87C © 7
HK$6,412,000 was approved at the annual general meeting of —E_—F\A+—BRIHARARFEFRE
the Company held on 11th August 2021. The special dividend FEAE c ARBRZTE=—F=A=F+—HHRK
yet to pay out by the Company as at 31st March 2021 was SRR E46,412,00058 T © ZRBEER
approximately HK$6,412,000 which was paid on 27th August TZ—FNAZtEAXM -

2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated
by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

e ISR R M R

13 BREERER
(a) EXK
R B AR A T IR A D A A

ﬁwmﬂ%u$¢ﬁaﬁﬁ A% YN
BEHEETE

Profit attributable to owners of RATHB ANELRTF

the Company (HK$'000) (F%&m) 65,503 1,673
Weighted average number of BT WA I T 8L

ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F1) 640,889 641,232
Basic earnings per ordinary share TR AR E AN T

(HK cent(s)) (AL 10.22 0.26

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated
by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Company’s dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from share options, for which a calculation
is done to determine the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined
as the average annual market share price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options.

Diluted earnings per ordinary share for the years
ended 31st March 2022 and 2021 equal to basic
earnings per ordinary share as there were no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares for both years
end.

(b) #F
FRCEBRANEEEN T RBRAEE

BCEME 2 B m A 2 B A M AR
BERTEINEBRZ BT HOHTE -

ARRABEEEEE 2 LB ERK

mEL - EAEREBEEARITEBRE
PR ER 2 S EBEFL - BUETE

RREARABE(EESARBRGZ
2EFHMERE)RB2ROEKE -
BT AT E O R BB BERRITE
BREMETORMBBETLR -

BE-_E-_—ER-_FT-—F=5
=t+t—HIEFE AREWEFETE
AEEBTEEME TRk  BREBER
NESER A ESERERERRNEN R
F o
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\ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2 T S

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERRZE

Leasehold
improvement,
furniture and Motor
Buildings equipment Machinery vehicles

BENX

R &R
BF R#&fs W e e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEx TER TER TER

At 1st April 2020 RZZ_TFMA-A
Cost A 162,914 59,726 48,979 6,976 278,595
Accumulated depreciation ZiTHE (155,206) (53,239) (16,081) (5,090) (229,616)
Net book amount FEFE 7,708 6,487 32,898 1,886 48,979
Year ended 31st March 2021 Hz-Z-—-F%
ZA=+-HILFE
Opening net book amount BEmTE 7,708 6,487 32,898 1,886 48,979
Additions RE — 637 27 — 664
Disposals e — (140) — (140) (280)
Government Subsidy (Note 1) Bif#8h(FizEi) — — (1,052) - (1,052)
Depreciation e (5,409) (2,901) (4,023) (713) (13,046)
Impairment loss (Note ii) AR (FE) — — (572) - (572)
Transfer from investment BREMEER
properties (Note 15) (F3E15) 6,861 — — — 6,861
Currency translation B,
differences =5 (3) 48 — 83 128
Closing net book amount BREE TR 9,157 4,131 27,278 1,116 41,682
At 31st March 2021 RZEZ—F=ZA=1+—H
Cost A 169,775 57,417 47,859 5,950 281,001
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
and impairment RAE (160,618) (53,286) (20,581) (4,834) (239,319)
Net book amount EREFE 9,157 4,131 27,278 1,116 41,682
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

e ISR R M R

14 Y% - BERRE ()

Buildings

¥
HK$’000

Leasehold

improvement,

furniture and Motor
equipment  Machinery vehicles

BEME

&5 - &
e e A e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 QLT

TER

Year ended 31st March 2022 ~ #ZE-T__F

TER TER FTER TER

ZA=+-HIFE

Opening net book amount BORRFR 9,157 4,131 27,278 1,116 41,682
Additions (Note iii) B (Wi - 1,228 7,487 - 8,715
Disposals HeE - (100) - () (102)
Depreciation e (548) (1,725) (3,753) (444) (6,470)
Currency translation EWES

differences =8 273 20 — 23 316
Closing net book amount BREBFE 8,882 3,554 31,012 693 44,141

At 31st March 2022 RZE-—#=A=1—-H

Cost AR 170,059 57,967 55,266 6,076 289,368
Accumulated depreciation ZEE

and impairment RAfE (161,177) (54,413) (24,254) (5,383) (245,227)
Net book amount REFE 8,882 3,554 31,012 693 44,141

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$3,240,000
(2021: HK$3,451,000) was charged to “cost of sales”
and approximately HK$3,230,000 (2021: HK$9,595,000)
was charged to “general and administrative expenses”
in the consolidated income statement.

8 X H 493,240,000 T(Z T = —F:
3,451,0007% 7T ) & #93,230,000/% 7t(= &
——1F 19,595,000 7C) A RIA A BT K
FFATSHERA IR — M RITHEZ A -
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 9% - BERRZE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Notes: B3 -

(i) There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies (i) BB ER AN ABITHRESEtmiESE
attaching to the grants. 18 o

(i)  During the year ended 31st March 2021, the Company has (i) HE-Z-—FZA=Z+—BHLEFE KXQFYHHE
recognised HK$572,000 impairment loss of certain specific TR FEMEATHE U2 — F 5 | NFERR
machinery in “other gains — net”. 572,000 7T ©

(iii)  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the financial (i) R BEERAMENE 2 ME « BERRE

year were financed by:

2022

—E-CF B —

e

HK$’000 HK$'000
TER BT

Payment by cash R &= 2,643
Hire purchase liabilities HEamE 6,072
At end of year RER 8,715
Net book values of certain machinery which are under hire MEELTHET A THEEREFENT

purchase arrangements are as follows:

2022

TR

—s-= —E-—

HK$’000 HK$'000

Cost A 6,072

Accumulated depreciation 2 E =
6,072

The terms of the hire purchase arrangements is for 5 years. THELH 2 IR A5 4F

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M R

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REY=
2022 2021
—E-C —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FET
At fair value RAREE
At beginning of year REH 1,422,582 1,324,824
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERATETER 382 1,530
Transfer to property, HEEEYIE - HER
plant and machinery (Note 14) Mg (T 14) — (6,861)
Fair value gain/(loss) on WEMEZ ANEE
investment properties Wz, (EE) 832 (8,362)
Currency translation differences EWER =5 58,942 111,451
At end of year RER 1,482,738 1,422,582
(i) Amount recognised in consolidated income (i) REEEBRITBRAZREVES
statement for investment properties as follows: R N
2022 2021
—E-— —EB-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FTET
Rental income HEUWA 50,010 37,646
Direct operating expenses REEEHESBA
from properties that ZUEZEE
generated rental income AR (9,576) (11,706)
40,434 25,940
(ii) Non-current assets pledged as security (i) ERHERBEE
Investment property of approximately #71,482,096,000/ 8 T 2 & EWME(Z
HK$1,482,096,000 (2021: HK$1,421,966,000) was T = — 1 11,421,966,0007% 7T ) i #
pledged as collaterals for certain of the Group’s {E B 7N £ B 49418,880,000/8 (=&
bank borrowings of approximately HK$418,880,000 — — 4 1 411,621,000/ 70 ) & TR
(2021: HK$411,621,000) (Note 32). TER(ME32) 2R & -
(iii) Valuation technique (iii) fHEFEAM

As at 31st March 2022, investment properties
of approximately HK$1,482,738,000 (2021:
HK$1,422,582,000) were stated at open market
value based on valuations assessed by an
independent professional qualified valuer and
reviewed by the Directors.

R-ZTE-—F=A=+—H KEM%E
#71,482,738,0008 (& = — & :
1,422,582,0008 L) NI B HES
AR EEMTH 2 EELARTEYR
MAEEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R MR

15 REWE(HE)
(iii) fHEM (&)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

The following table analyses the investment TRAMGEESTARABEIIEZE
properties carried at fair value, by valuation B o

method.

Fair value hierarchy RAAEBEZER

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2022 using
R-EBE-_—§=H=+—H

EATHEEETZAREEFE
Quoted prices
in active Significant

Description

markets

for identical

assets
RIERBN S

BEEE

ZHE
(Level 1)
(5—F8)
HK$’000

FHET

other
observable
inputs
BEAHAM

GIf -k

W AEE
(Level 2)
(8=/8)
HK$’000
THET

Significant
unobservable
inputs

EX

THHER
wAHE
(Level 3)
(B=PE)
HK$’000
THT

Recurring fair value EEEAREE
measurement =

— Commercial units —EHEETT
— Mainland China — AR K B — — 1,482,738

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2021 using
R-ZBE-_—F=H=1+—8H

Description

EATHEBETZRAABENE

Quoted prices
in active
markets

for identical
assets
RIERM S
BEEE
ZHE
(Level 1)
(8—FE)
HK$'000
FTHET

Significant
other
observable
inputs
BAHM
CIE Sk
A B
(Level 2)
(6=H)
HK$'000
THT

Silelalliler-Tal
unobservable
inputs

EZDN

FAHE
wWARE
(Level 3)
=)
HK$'000
THET

Recurring fair value KEERAAEE
measurement =

— Commercial units —EEETT
— Mainland China — B KRE — — 1,422,582
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REWE(E)
(iii) Valuation technique (Continued) (iii) fE{ER M (&)
Fair value measurement using significant BEHEATTBEGAEBEZ LA EE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) EEZE)
Mainland
China
e lETPNES
HK$'000
FExT
As at 1st April 2021 RZFEZ—FEOHA—H 1,422,582
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERZBTER 382
Fair value gain on investment properties WEYEZ NREERE 832
Currency translation differences EHER =5 58,942
As at 31st March 2022 RZE-__F=A=+—AH 1,482,738
Total unrealised gain for the year included RZEZZF=H=+—H
in the consolidated income statement IR EERAFEEF AGREEREK
for assets held at 31st March 2022 ZARERW S EEE 832
As at 1st April 2020 RZFE_EFOA—H 1,324,824
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERAZBTER 1,530
Transfer to property, EEEYE - BER
plant and machinery (Note 14) HER(PFTEE14) (6,861)
Fair value loss on investment properties wEMEZ NEEEIS (8,362)
Currency translation differences EkE SRR 111,451
As at 31st March 2021 RZEBE-_—F=A=+—H 1,422,582
Total unrealised loss for the year included RZEZ—F=A=+—H
in the consolidated income statement FIFEERAFEFT AGEEREE
for assets held at 31st March 2021 ZARBEEEETE (8,362)
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e B ERAR A

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the
investment properties in Mainland China are as

follows:

15 REWE(HE)
(iii) fHEM (&)

BHEXT TEFBABBEL LA EE

FrE(E=F)(#)
BRABRPBEAENREMEERERT
IBRBARER(E=F) 2 AREER

EZERMT

Fair value

(HK$'000)
AREE
(F#&x)

As at 31st March 2022
RZB--£=A=1-H
1,482,738

As at 31st March 2021
R-Z-—%F=A=+—H
1,422 582

Valuation
technique

fRERI

Income capitalisation
approach

b ERE

Direct comparison
approach

HELBE

Income capitalisation
approach

W EAILE

Direct comparison
approach

ERL®E

Range of
unobservable
inputs
FARE
BABBEE

Unobservable
inputs
TARE
BAYE

Adjusted 4.00% to 5.00%
market
yields
KREHS 4.00% £ 5.00%
K=
Adjusted Car park:
units’ rates RMB300,000/space
KREENER FE:
AE#300,000 %/ EfI
Adjusted 4.00% t0 5.00%
market
yields
TS 4.00% £5.00%
Yk
Adjusted Car park:
units’ rates RMB300,000/space
EREBAER [F85
AE#300,0007, /i1

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
FTABRBAHESR
NEEZEE

The higher the adjusted
yields, the lower
the fair value

BRERRZME
AABEBE

The higher the adjusted
units’ rates, the higher
the fair value

SREENERES
AREEES

The higher the adjusted
yields, the lower
the fair value

SRR EEER -
AABEWE

The higher the adjusted
units’ rates, the higher
the fair value

CRBENERER -
AABEES
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REWE(E)

(iii) fHEEM (&)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group engages external, independent and
qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the
investment properties at the end of each financial
year. As at 31st March 2022, the fair value of the
investment properties owned by the Group was
determined by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2021:
Same).

The Group’s finance department reviews the
valuations performed by Knight Frank Petty
Limited for financial reporting purpose. These
valuation results are then reported to the Group's
management for discussions and review in relation
to the valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is
derived and evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yields

The adjusted market yields have been determined
by making reference to the investment returns
implied from recent sale transactions, with
adjustments to reflect the differences between
the comparables and the investment properties
in terms of location, building quality and other
factors.

Adjusted units’ rates

The adjusted units’ rates have been determined
by making reference to the comparable market
transactions of similar properties, with adjustments
to reflect the differences between the comparables
and the investment properties in terms of time,
location, environment and other factors.

REYEZ G EFRF
REBMEBBINDBY KA ERGEME
FREVBREERLEDEZ A AE
B -R_ZE-—_F=ZA=+—H ' @AK
EEBEECREAMEZANEBEDH
RIAEMTARAREES(ZE=—
F R -

AEE 2 HBHFIE RV BREMT
At R ASTRIE BT AR A RIMEL 2 7T
- FRAREARERBAANEEERE
EBER - UstEERF REEERNE
IR TR H &*ﬁ &1 e

AEBFHANEZEE =E@ AR LT
R

Z‘“;ﬂ”miﬁl&/\l‘ T2 ERMEER
SEERENREHEARKRALR
MERKREMEMENLE  BTFEER
HMRETMZEZR) TINEE -

AEFREER

KRPABRBMNERDE2ERORENE
Z AT BT 45 AR (R S B A RBR AT L
R ERREMFEMERRE - LE - IR
BELEMAZRTEZEZR) TINERE -
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2 T S

16 LEASES 16 HE
This note provides information for leases where the A RMERE(EREBEEBA)2ER -
group is a lessee.
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REEHBERRREIZLEHE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position = ABFEARNE 25| A T A EEE Y
shows the following amounts relating to leases: TR -

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FTET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use rights b {E AR 8,413 8,615
Sites, outlets, offices and warehouses I - FJE - WAENER 19,976 4,638
28,389 13,253
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current mE 17,772 4,528
Non-current FETRED 4,642 1,991
22,414 6,519
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the HE-_ZT-—_F=-A=+—HILFE®F
year ended 31st March 2022 were HK$33,166,000 FH#EEARE A33,166,000/8 (==
(2021:HK$3,064,000). Z——% : 3,064,000/ 7L) °

174 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR MR

A\\

16 LEASES (CONTINUED) 16 HE (&)
(ii) Measurement of right-of-use assets (i) FAREEFE
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the EHERNEAEEERTYEERRE
following types of assets: 7 :

Sites, outlets,

Land offices and
use rights warehouses Total
Tih - w4
TiEHE BWAERER HmaE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#R Fi# T
As 1st April 2020 RZZEZ_ZTFMHH—H 8,817 23,273 32,090
Additions //J\\E — 3,064 3,064
Depreciation e (202) (12,106) (12,308)
Modification of lease HEAHK
contracts (Note) 1EET (BFEE) — (9,666) (9,666)
Exchange differences PE N Z — 73 73
At 31st March 2021 and RZE—_—F
1st April 2021 —“A=+—H8kK
—E-—FmMA—H 8,615 4,638 13,253
Additions NE = 33,166 33,166
Depreciation e (202) (9,598) (9,800)
Modification of lease HEEH
contracts (Note) 1&5T (KEE) — (8,232) (8,232)
Exchange differences HEH R = 2 2
At 31st March 2022 .
—A=+—H 8,413 19,976 28,389
Note: FsE -
During the year, the Group has entitled rental concession from FR - AEBZEREAETINHRLER - HRTE
the landlords. For a lease modification that is not accounted A—IEEEHEETErRIEZHEB  £E:T
for a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability A AR AEBIEBKEIHENTE @18
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting FRAKEFTBIR RGBT ERIEE /TR L E
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at HHAEREAGBE  AEBBBEBYHEHRTAEELSE
the effective date of the modification. The Group accounts for HITHERAR  YHEaEETENTE - HE
the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding BHEERAEEEABRZENTFMZENGEER EE
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets. Any differences [E b st — F58 PR (HMIzES) ©

between the adjustments of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets are recognised in “other gains - net” in the consolidated
income statement (Note 6).
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16 LEASES (CONTINUED)

(iii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

(iv)

income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

16 HE (&)
(iii) AfreEERERZSHE

FeBaRIINTEEERBE S

2021
—E_—F

HK$'000
TR

Depreciation of FREEEZRE

right-of-use assets
Land use rights T Hb{E AR 202 202
Sites, outlets, offices Tih - EJE

and warehouses RRENER 9,598 12,106

7 9,800 12,308

Interest expense for HEaE

lease liabilities ZFEBHX 10 477 824
Expenses relating to FHREBEE

short-term leases 53 7 3,153 946

The total cash outflow for leases for the year
ended 31st March 2022 was HK$8,378,000 (31st
March 2021: HK$12,118,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various sites, retail outlets,
offices and warehouses. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 3
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R

MERBZ-_Z-_—_€=/A=+—H1
IEFE 235 €% L 42 % 48,378,000
BT ZEZ—F=A=+—8:
12,118,000 7T) °

(iv) 2EE2HEFBRAESH AR

AKBHAESETH  TEHHA - HD
EREE - HEAHN—RIZETHR—
E—E'E nT_L °

HEGFIZENEERE  BES &R
PEHEFR B A - B E a0 & 5 I
MR HEEEETSREREZER
Han e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M R

INTANGIBLE ASSETS BEEE
Customer
Distribution contracts
Goodwill rights (Note) Total
EEEH
5k 2 R (&) o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T FExT FET
At 1st April 2020 RZZE-ZFNA—H
Cost PR 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation RETH#
and impairment KoR{E (13,158) (7,939) (3,210) (24,307)
Net book amount BR A58 — — 1,493 1,493
Year ended 31st March 2021 HE—ZT-—%
ZA=t+—HLtFE
Opening net book amount HRRAR TS ER — — 1,493 1,493
Amortisation B — — (783) (783)
Closing net book amount HIRARTE S 58 — — 710 710
At 31st March 2021 RZZE_—F=H=1+—H
Cost B 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation 2T
and impairment KR E (13,158) (7,939) (3,993) (25,090)
Net book amount REFE — — 710 710
Year ended 31st March 2022 #HE_T__4
ZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount HAFAR TS EE = - 710 710
Amortisation i = - (710) (710)
Closing net book amount HARBR TSR — — — -
At 31st March 2022 RZEZ=F=A=+—H
Cost DN 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation KT
and impairment SRS (13,158) (7,939) (4,703) (25,800)
Net book amount BRTEDFRR — — — —
Note: PfIEE -

Customer contracts were acquired as part of a business combination,
and are recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition and are
subsequently amortised based on the timing of projected cash flows of

the contracts over their estimate useful lives.

Amortisation expense of customer contracts has been included in the
“general and administrative expenses”

statement.

in the consolidated income

BEPRNTIEREBE G — 8D WIS - WU B
REQNABEER  HERBESHRMGAERFHAE
TR R o

BEPANBEXH B AR RARTAO —RRITEX
Hle
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

18 €RITESE
AEBBEEUTERIA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
— Trade and other receivables

TREE
REHAT SR SR E
— FEMAR SRR At FE MR R SR

2022
B

HK$’000
FERx

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000
TET

(excluding non-financial assets) (TBIEEERmEE) 558,312 388,477
- Pledged bank deposits —BEBIRITER 43,071 54,008
- Cash and cash equivalents -ReKREEE 188,931 119,098
Financial assets at fair value through H?’A/LFTE;#J\TE £
profit or loss SHEE 3,908 —
Financial assets at fair value through BEAREBERFAEMEEKRAZ
other comprehensive income SHEE 2,749 4,203
Derivative financial instruments eI A 1,202 —
798,173 565,786
Financial Liabilities SRIEE
Liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAY R BE
- Borrowings —EE 1,498,958 1,454,642
- Trade and bill payables —ENERAREE 433,562 245,354
- Other payables (excluding — H A ET IR
non-financial liabilities) (“TefEjEemas) 42,114 35,899
— Lease liabilities —HEa®E 22,414 6,519
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA 18 1,084
1,997,066 1,743,498
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19 SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March

2022 are as follows:

e ISR R M R

19 HELQH

R-CBE-—H#=A=+—HHNIEWEA
BT

Name of entity

BRER

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
EMAL/ RIS

RERRRME

issued share capital/

Particulars of Percentage of
equity interest attributable
to the Company
KAREL
BARZEAL

2022 2021
e

o5 m—

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TEXH
RiEEHY

registered capital
BRATRE/
AMER 2

Asia Infrastructure Resources ~ Cayman Islands, HK$0.2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong
THEREREBARARA FEHS BRAR 0.287 REBREER
Fanrich Consultants Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Provision of investment
(Shanghai) Limited” limited liability company consultancy services
in Mainland China
KEREHA(LE)RRAR ERE  BRELAF AR10,000,0007C R BAEREREFARE
Hongkong and Shanghai Land ~ Cayman Islands, UsSs$s 100% 100%  Fund Management outside
Capital Ltd. limited liability company Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEMEERERAA ReHS AREALAR 5%TT REBRPEAREN
HEESEE
Hongkong and Shanghai Land  British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEESBEERAA AERAES  AREARA 1%7T REBRPEAEREZR
Hongkong and Shanghai Land  British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Fund Management outside
Management Limited limited liability company Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEREERERAA ERBLES  AREMRA ES REBRPEAREN
HEESEE
HSL Asset Management Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of management
(HK) Limited limited liability company services in Hong Kong
BEEEER(ER)BRAT &% BAREMLAF 1A REBREER RS
HSL Investment Advisary Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of investment
(HK) Limited limited liability company advisory services
in Hong Kong
BEREFAER)BRAA &% ARELRA 18T REBREREHARE
Plentiful Praise Limited British Virgin Islands, US$100 62% 62%  Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BHARAR AERAES  AREARA 100%7T RERRTEREREER
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19 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

19 KB4 R ()

Name of entity

Ly 2

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
MR/ L

REaREME

Particulars of

issued share capital/

registered capital
BRiTRE/
AMERZFE

Percentage of

equity interest attributable
to the Company

AR AR
BAg#E
2022

I

———

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TERH

REBEHE

Shanghai Bao Shun Chang Mainland China, RMB26,700,000 83.3% 83.3%  Stockholding and
International Trading Co., Ltd.*  limited liability company trading of steel
in Mainland China
LEERERREHARAT hEARE  BREELT AR RPEAEFEREERS
26,700,000 7T
Top Bloom Group Limited British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
AERAES  BREARA 1%7 REARTEAREREER
Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) British Virgin Islands, Uss$e 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited (i) limited liability company in Hong Kong
RERLES  AREMRT CE REBRERR
Van Shung Chong Hong Limited Hong Kong, HK$2,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company and HK$10,000,000 services in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
EIEETAR AR FE BREEAT 2,000 BT EBR REBREERRY
510,000,007
ERFEELRN
VSC Building Products Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company and kitchen cabinet
in Hong Kong
EEEREMHARLA A ARALAF 28T REBEEGAZALER
VSC Building Products (Macau) Macau, MOP$30,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company in Macau
EIREREMK(RM)ERAA  RF ARELARF EFI% 30,0007 REMEEERZA
VSC Construction Steel Hong Kong, HK$156,568,000 100% 100%  Provision of steels
Solutions Limited limited liability company processing services
in Hong Kong
EEEREHETIRARRT & AREMALA 156,568,000/ RERREAENTRE

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#&H& 1%
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19 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

“JJK

19 HE2ATE (&)

B HRRM

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of

Percentage of

Principal activities

establishment and issued share capital/  equity interest attributable  and place
Name of entity kind of legal entity registered capital to the Company of operations
RLWNEWE E S BRIRE/ KA ER FTEXH
BEEH RERERME EMERz#E REgZEDL REBEHL
2022 2021
—B-C “EC--F
VSC Steel Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$38,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Stockholding and
limited liability company and HK$20,000,000 trading of steel
non-voting deferred in Hong Kong
BIREHE AR AT A ARREAHA 38,0008 TEAEK REBFHREERS
220,000,000 %7
ERFEELERN
VSC Steel Processing Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong,
and provision of
logistic and management
service of steel
EIBS MMM TARBRA A &% BAREMLAF 18T REBRAZRRARE
REDTRERRS
VSC Steel Processing Limited ~ Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Operation of the land
limited liability company situated in Tsing Yi
EIREANMIARRA &% ARELAR 1B BEURERZ L
LN REXERLF Mainland China, RMB479,130,000 100% 100%  Property investment
limited liability company ~ (2021: RMB429,130,000) in Mainland China
MEAKE  EREEAT AR#479,130,0007 RAEAEETHERE
(2%
AR 429,130,0007T)
LELRELERAA Mainland China, RMB92,835,165 100% 100%  Property investment
limited liability company in Mainland China
ERE  BRELAR AR 92,835,165 RABAEETYRRE
LERZEEEREARAA Mainland China, HK$20,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of asset and
limited liability company investment management
services in
Mainland China
PEAE  BRELAF 20,000,000% 7T RPBAERHEER
REEBRE
LEMEEECEBRAT Mainland China, US$2,000,000 100% 100%  Property agent
limited liability company (2021: US$1,500,000) in Mainland China
ERE  BRELAR 2,000,000 R EAREREN SRR
(ZF=-F
1,500,000% )
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19 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 19 KB AT (&)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of Principal activities
establishment and issued share capital/  equity interest attributable  and place
Name of entity kind of legal entity registered capital to the Company of operations
HEMAL/ L BRARE/ KA ER TEXK
BEER RERERME EMERz#E REgZEDL REEHY
2022 2021
—E-C “E--F
MHEEBRES(L8)ERAT  Mainland China, US$6,500,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
PERE  BRALAT 6,500,000% T RPEAEEEFAZR
EBE(LE)%EEERAE  Mainland Ching, US$7,280,000 100% 100%  Provision of management

limited liability company

service and trading
of sanitary wares
and kitchen cabinets
in Mainland China

PEARE  EREELAF 7,280,000% T RPEARREERRE
NREEGRZAREE
REZSRMERARA Mainland China, RMB 10,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
MEAE  FREEAT AR 10,000,000 RAEAEEEEAZE

Note:

(i) The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited are held directly
by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held
indirectly.

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

For identification only
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(i) Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited Z B B AR
RIEERE - HWB AR 2RO BIMERESE -
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20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 REDEARZRE
EQUITY METHOD

Set out below are associates and a joint venture of the LTHIANREBR - E-——FN —_FE - —F
Group as at 31st March 2022 and 2021. The entities —A=FT—RAZBERRAR—HEEAA -
listed below have share capital consisting solely of TP EREEAEETBIR KA AAE
ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. EHEEE -

Details of the principal investments in associates and RZEBE-_—_FR-_FE-_—F=A=+—HBR
a joint venture as at 31st March 2022 and 2021 are as BANA R —BAY A A T EREEBN
follows: T

Place of
business/country % of Nature
CRELIE T Eh ownership of the [EERTE N
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship  method Carrying amount
BERsE MY ER BEREZEIL BELE TREE FEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—B-C —E--& —B-C “EBE--F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T TER
HSL Shanghai Office Mainland China/ 15% 15%  Jointventure  Equity method 289,056 282,091
Partners | Limited British Virgin (i)
("HSO") and its Islands
subsidiaries
(collectively as
*HSO Group”)
HSL Shanghai Office B AR/ ARQF() %
Partners | Limited EERENHE
(THSOJ) REMB AT
(G TBIHSO%E )
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Mainland China/ 5% 5%  Associate (i)  Equity method 58,719 55,339
Limited (“Skyling”) British Virgin
and its subsidiaries Islands

(collectively as
“Skyline Group”)

Skyline Holdings (BVI) ~ HEARE/ BENR(() R
Limited ([ Skyline ) HERETHS
REMBRT

(4EHI Skyline &8 1)
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20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

20 BEZEARZKRE(H)

Place of
business/country % of Nature
establishment/ ownership of the Measurement
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship  method Carrying amount
BEWY
Bl SR LE R EEREGAIHL BEMLE stRA FEE
2022 2021
—g-- —FT-F
% HK$’000 HK$'000
=il TET TER
Inmaterial as below:
HUTEERTEA:
China Able Limited Mainland China/ Deregistered Deregistered  Associate (i) ~ Equity method = —
("China Able") British Virgin
Islands
China Able Limited hEAKE,/ B B BEQRG)  EHE
([China Able]) RBRUES
Total investments 347,775 337,430
accounted for using
the equity method
NESEARNRA R
Notes: MisE -

(i) HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and
fund management business in Mainland China and is owned as
to 15% by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62%
owned subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria
Private Limited (“RECO”) (an independent third party). As at
31st March 2022, Plentiful has contributed capital, aggregated
to US$36,909,000 (2021: Same). An indirect subsidiary of the
Company has entered into a management service agreement
with HSO for providing management service. The management
service income is disclosed in related parities transaction (Note
39).

(i) Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment
and fund management business in Mainland China and is
owned as to 95% by Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (“Apollo”)
(an independent third party) and 5% by Top Bloom Group
Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company). As at 31st March 2022, Top Bloom has
contributed capital, aggregated to US$8,569,700, equivalent to
approximately HK$67,315,000 (2021: US$7,645,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$60,114,000). An indirect subsidiary of the
Company has entered into the management service agreement
with Skyline for providing management service. The management
service income is disclosed in related parities transaction (Note
39).

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R

(i) HSOSBEXERFTRAENEFHERERES
BEEK  HEBHMEMERQR(ER] AARRAH
5 62% < 8 5 I J&§ 2 5] ) % A 15% M B Reco
Wisteria Private Limited ((RECOJ * BB F =
F)ERBS% R E-_—FE=A=+—H &
wea /\mése 909,000F (= F = — 4 : #f
/) o ARRM—HEEHNBARCEHSORLE
IEEEE%WJ% C BHIREEERRY - ERREWAR
BEHE T X SR EE (MEE39) »

(i) SkylneEBETZRFAFEAREREEZHERE R
H 4B L ¥ H fApollo Skyline Holding
Limited ([Apollo]  BE L E =7 )% % 95% & B
Top Bloom Group Limited ([Top Bloom] + A7%
AEIEE2ENBRATEBS% R-ZE==
=H=+—H8 ' Top BloomZ 4 & 8,569,700
ET(HERK67,3150008 T )(Z T = —4:
7,645,000 7T HHE 460,114,000 7T ) © &
A8 — B B A B2 B Skyline 5] 2 B 12 AR
BinE - WIRHEERE - SRR AR T
RSB (HEE39) -



20

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

China Able was engaged in the property business. It is a
contractual joint venture which is held in equal shares among Fit
Team Holdings Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Nanyang Industrial (China) Limited, an
independent third party, and Marvel Champ Investments Limited,
another independent third party. During the year ended 31st
March 2021, China Able remained inactive and deregistered in
the British Virgin Islands.

As of 31st March 2022, Skyline Group had capital commitments
of HK$6,912,000 (2021: HK$38,945,000) while HSO Group had
capital commitments of HK$1,652,000 (2021: Nil).

As of 31st March 2022, there were no material contingent
liabilities incurred relating to Skyline Group and HSO Group
(2021: Same).

The movements of interests in associates and a joint
venture are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M R

20 BEZEARZKRE(H)

(i) China Able{t EFMEXT - HAKAR —HHE
E2 &AM B AR Fit Team Holdings Limited * %
VE=ZFEFAIE(FRE)ERARRS—BIE=
7 Marvel Champ Investments Limited M 2[R 4
EEERMNz—BaERA - BE_T-_—F=A
=+—HIFE ' China Able & EK AN KE
B BB RGN -

(iv) BE-ZT-__F=A=+—H8"Skylnek &
HH6,912,0008 T2 EAREEZT = —
38,945,000/ 7T) + M HSO £ E#A 1,652,000 7%
TTHERFE(ZEZ—F - §) -

vy HEZT--_F=ZA=+—8 SkylneEBE K
HSO R B W EAEMEARABB( T =—F : 18
@) o

REERA R —HAERARZEZESHN

2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
At beginning of year REAT 337,430 313,823
Share of loss of investments accounted JEIEILHEREARZ
for using the equity method wEBE (12,550) (19,724)
Investment in Skyline (Note) 7 Skyline 2 & (Fi7E) 7,201 12,500
Currency translation differences EHEIE N R 15,694 30,831
At end of year RER 347,775 337,430
Note: Mzt -
Apollo and Top Bloom committed to make a contribution to Skyline in Apollo 2 Top Bloom & & 43 Bl LA 5 B 2077 24 /A Skyline

the form of shareholder loans of US$190 million and US$10 million,
respectively. During the year ended 31st March 2022, Apollo and
Top Bloom have together contributed US$17,557,000, equivalent to
HK$136,821,000 (2021: US$29,610,000, equivalent to HK$229,544,000)
and US$925,000, equivalent to HK$7,201,000 (2021: US$1,559,000,
equivalent to HK$12,500,000) into Skyline, by way of interest-free
shareholder loans, respectively. These shareholder loans are interest
free and the repayment of which requires an unanimous approval of all
directors of Skyline. As such, these shareholder loans are regarded as
part of the investment in the associate.

&émooooooo%m&woooooo%n REBEE=FT

ZFZA=+—BILFE - Apollo & Top Bloom &5 5
Lxﬁgﬁx%i% K2 f2 2 R Skyline JE & 17,557,000 %
(% 136,821,000/8 7T ) (ZZ = — 4 : 29,610,000
T 0 M5 10229,544,00078 7T ) K 925,000 % 7T(H8 %
7,201,000 7T ) (=2 = —4% : 1,559,000% 7T * %
712,500,000 7C) - ZEMRRERREE  MBHAEE
Skyline2BEE—HRE - At - ZERRERWEER
REERARRE 2 —55 -
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20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate

The tables below provide summarised financial
information for the joint venture and the associate that
are material to the Group. The information disclosed
reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of the relevant joint venture and associate
and not the Group’s share of those amounts.

20 BEZEARZKRE(HE)

BEQNARBEQRUBERRE

TEREHBASEMEBEZZAZAR

Ak

BERRZHBEHRME - IEBEZERKR
BR2FIN AR S & AR R E QR M B HRK

A2 MIELAREZEEDHE

HSO Group (Note (i)) Skyline Group (Note (ii))
HSO &8 (K& (i) Skyline & B (Ffz (i)
31st March 31st March  31st December ~ 31st December
2022 2022 2021
—E-C —EC-F —E-C —EC-F
=A=+—H =A=t—H  +=A=t+-8 | t=H=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TEx TR TEx
Summarised statement HERREHE
of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents BeHe5E 1,842,626 10,717 86,280 173,758
Other current assets EtRneEE 52,324 87,370 42,536 58,931
Total current assets MBEELER 1,894,950 98,087 128,816 232,689
Financial liabilities and SREER
total current liabilities LryaE (1,923,989) (97,261) (203,944) (102,799)
Investment properties REME 4,384,688 4,205,565 1,807,574 1,586,043
Other non-current assets HibFEREEE 6 10 2,233,946 2,196,435
Total non-current assets FREEELE 4,384,694 4,205,575 4,041,520 3,782,478
Other non-current liabilities EERsak (2,428,617) (2,325,792) (2,838,805) (2,821,101)
Net assets BEFHE 1,927,038 1,880,609 1,127,587 1,091,267
Summarised statement of PHBEEAME
comprehensive income
Revenue WA 142,120 127,444 179,191 75,487
Fair value gains/(loss) on RENEZAR
investment properties Bk (B8) 4,333 (4,999) 135,845 (8,348)
Finance income BBBA 1,040 407 - 592
Finance cost HBER (123,480) (117,403) (137,927) (71,461)
Loss before tax BRERIER (43,815) (66,047) (96,850) (210,747)
Income tax (expense)/credit FEB(L)/E& (1,083) 1,250 (19,451) 10,655
Loss for the year FEBA (44,898) (64,797) (116,301) (200,092)
Currency translation differences ERERER 91,327 170,680 39,875 104,589
Total comprehensive income/ FERERA/
(loss) for the year (BR)BE 46,429 105,883 (76,426) (95,503)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information for
individually material joint venture and associate

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in the joint venture and the associate.

B HRRM

an\

20 BEZEARZKRE(H)

>

EEIEAS &
Hik
FIERVBERBE

BELRA

ENTERBE

RRMBERBE(E)

REAIRBERAZHBEEHNHUE

HEASRERGERR R
ZHEm 2 Bk E%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ °

2022 2021
—E=-= —EB-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FExT
Summarised financial information HBEREE
Net assets at beginning of year REN 2 BEFHE 2,987,381 2,727,001
Capital injection by shareholders KR EE
(Note (iii)) (P& (i) 144,020 250,000
Loss for the year FEEE (161,199) (264,889)
Currency translation differences HHEIE N 131,202 275,269
Net assets at end of year RERZEEFH 3,101,404 2 987,381
Investments accounted for using FAEREAR
the equity method ZIE
— Carrying value —fREE 347,775 337,430

Notes:

HSO engages external, independent and qualified valuer to
determine the fair value of the investment properties at the end
of the financial year. As at 31st March 2022, the fair value of
the investment property was determined by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (2021: Same).

As at 31st March 2022, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of HSO’s subsidiaries in Mainland China
amounted to HK$229,637,000 (2021: HK$202,612,000). Deferred
tax liabilities of HK$11,482,000 (2021: HK$10,131,000) have
not been recognised in its consolidated statement of financial
position of HSO Group in respect of the withholding tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as
HSO controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries in Mainland
China and it has been determined that it is probable that such
retained profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

HSO ZESSHMNERB L & KR EED - LA E & B

BEEFREEMEZ A REE R —F=
A=1+—H REVMEZAABEHRFEBITEE
A RAAERAREE(ZF-—F : 8R) -

RZEBEZZF=ZA=+—H HSORFEHK
fezWBARSRADREN 2EREEA
229,637,000/ yt(= & = — 4 : 202,612,000 4
JL) ° B HSO I S HI B R A AR BB H
ﬁE}}aET{—IEH#KTTam&%&&%ﬁ%mmﬁﬂ
ﬂﬁiﬂiEHsoﬁlZi? ISR R R

/)EEZ%%%m?’kﬂﬁﬁﬁ’éﬁ?ﬁ?ﬂﬁlﬁfﬁff&mﬁﬁjﬂ
5 E1E 11,482,000/ 0 (—ZF = —4 : 10,131,000
BT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B ISR M

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
for individually material joint venture and associate
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(if)

(i)

The financial year of this associate is not conterminous with
that of the Group and the financial statements used for equity
accounting are for the year ended 31st December 2021
(2021: the 12 months period ended 31st December 2020).
This associate uses 31st December as its financial year end,
which is conformed with its holding company’s reporting date.
Subsequent to the financial year ended 31st December 2021
(2021: 31st December 2020) and before the Group’s year
end date of 31st March 2022 (2021: 31st March 2021), Top
Bloom has further injected US$300,000 which is equivalent
to approximately HK$2,340,000 (2021: US$100,000 which is
equivalent to approximately HK$776,000) to Skyline which
contributed to the net assets shared by the Group as at 31st
March 2022 (2021: 31st March 2021).

Skyline engaged external, independent and qualified valuers,
Cushman & Wakefield Limited, to determine the fair value of the
investment properties as at 31st December 2021 and 31st March
2022 and Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited to determine the fair value of the investment properties
as at 31st December 2020 and 31st March 2021. No significant
change in fair value during the subsequent period to 31st March
2022.

During the year ended 31st March 2022, Top Bloom and Apollo
made a capital injection in the form of shareholder loans for
Skyline, totalled to US$18,500,000 which is equivalent to
approximately HK$144,020,000 (2021: US$31,169,000 which is
equivalent to approximately HK$250,000,000).

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R

20 BEZEARZKRE(HE)

SENRARBEARMBEERME (&)
EFIEAEERARBERAZHBEEHHE
#HikE (&)

MisE - (88)

(if)

(iii)

ZHMERB M BRFEEAEETR - EBB®
RILDRAERGE REBE_T-_—F+=
R=t—RLIFECZE-_—F B=-Z2-%

TZA=t+t—HALE+T=@EASRR) - ZBZEQRR

At A=+T—R{EAHVBFEFLEAD - LA
HERAFMREBE B - #HE_T=_—F
TZA=T-—BUEMBEFRE(ZE—F: %=

TFEF A+ BB ERRAKESEE T
FZA=+—RHBE#H(ZT=—F: _7_,¢
=A=+—H)A1 Top Bloom 2 A Skyline i —
25 )% & 300,000 3 7T.(18 & H 42,340,000 7T )
ZZ = —4 : 100,000 % 7t (18 E M %7 776,000 /&
) BER T —F=RA=+—RA(ZT=—
F B —F=ZA=+—R)AEEEEEEF
e

Skyline Z #24 \\ﬁﬁﬁj&A§$i1ﬁﬁam§ﬁﬁﬁ;@?%ﬁ
RAREENR=_Z=—F+=-A=+—HBK=
—ZF=A=+— E&ﬁ%%ﬁ’)’&ﬁ{“@ﬂﬁ:g i
ThETERERERARBETNR _E-_2F+=
B=t—AR-ZZE-—F=-A=+—AKREMEN
NAEE- - REEZ 7,,¢ A=+—HM%E
B ARBETESEAE

HE-Z-_—_F#=ZRA=+—BILFE" Top
Bloom & Apollo LA & & B 3K 7 =, 1@ Skyline & %
¥ & 18,500,000 % JT (48 & 7 %) 144,020,000 %
L= & = — & :31,169,000% L(HH & R 4
250,000,000/ 7T)) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets against current income tax
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as
follows:

e ISR R M R

21 ELEFBHEE (&E)

EEAKHBMENREERNBMAEHAERE
HIH 2 BRRTINITHE - ARER—HBEHE
BRZERTERATRERNERIRT
S EEMRERBFHEBERMMAEN -
Hh GRS IIR R A LB ER - BT
SREERABH AT EAREE - HIHS B
T~

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET
Deferred income tax assets: BEFTEMEE :
— Deferred income tax assets expected —FEHHR+ @A %BIE >
to be recovered after 12 months EIEFTSHERE 28,538 36,306
— Deferred income tax assets expected —JEHEHR+_EARKEZ
to be recovered within 12 months EIEFTSHERE 14,012 13,020
42,550 49,326
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEMBHARE
— Deferred income tax liabilities —TEHERTZEAREEZ
expected to be settled after BERGHAE
12 months (102,587) (94,081)
Net deferred income tax liabilities BEFTERMBE TR (60,037) (44,755)
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N NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R MR

‘//

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 21 BEEFBHREE (AE)(#&)
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)
The movements in net deferred income tax liabilities are EEFEHRAEFEEHNT
as follows:

2022 2021

—E=-= —E &

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FTHET

At beginning of year REH] (44,755) (36,437)

Charged to the consolidated EREREBER T R

income statement (Note 11) (FFEE11) (11,415) (1,010)

Currency translation differences EHEE N =R (3,867) (7,308)

At end of year RER (60,037) (44,755)

The movements in deferred income tax assets AREEREFMEHREERBEQE MR —
and liabilities during the year, without taking into MG A ER AN &) 28T -

consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: RIEPMSHEE -

Cumulative Decelerated

tax losses depreciation Others Total
25t
BIEEE BBITE Hih #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAET TAET FET FTET
At 1st April 2020 RZBE-ZTFWA—H 50,312 9,406 1,052 60,770
(Charged)/credited to the BERGZAERERT
consolidated income (F0BR),/FTA
statement (2,090) 335 (539) (2,294)
Currency translation BHEER
differences =5 443 — — 443
At 31st March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—H 48,665 9,741 513 58,919
(Charged)/credited to BERGEBRET
the consolidated income (8),/FTA
statement (11,578) (876) 1,545 (10,909)
Currency translation HHEETE 3,
differences 5 192 — 25 217
At 31st March 2022 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 37,279 8,865 2,083 48,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax liabilities:

an\

21 ELEFBHEE (&E)

EREFEHAR -

B HRRM

(#4&)

Investment Accelerated

properties depreciation Others Total
REME hEFTE Hith @st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FERT FET BT
At 1st April 2020 R-Z-ZEMA—A (92,852) (4,330) (25) (97,207)
Credited/(charged) to the BERGEERRT
consolidated income A (408)
statement 2,090 696 (1,502) 1,284
Currency translation EME N
differences b (7,751) — — (7,751)
At 31st March 2021 N —F=A=+—H (98,513) (3,634) (1,527) (103,674)
Credited/(charged) to the ERGABRERD
consolidated income A (F08R)
statement (208) (641) 343 (506)
Currency translation EMER
differences =5 (4,084) — — (4,084)
At 31st March 2022 W-E-—f#=A=+—8 (102,805) (4,275) (1,184)  (108,264)

As at 31st March 2022, investment properties located
in the Mainland China amounted to HK$1,482,738,000
(2021: HK$1,422,582,000) are held by certain
subsidiaries with a business model to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. The Group has measured the deferred tax relating
to the temporary differences of these investment
properties using the tax rates and the tax bases that
are consistent with the expected manner of recovery of
the investment properties.

At 31st March 2022, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiary companies
amounted to HK$284,606,000 (2021: HK$270,768,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of HK$14,230,000 (2021:
HK$13,538,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Group controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiary companies and
it has been determined that it is probable that such
retained profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

W_E::EEHE+—E'm%FW%
7%%&%*.KFZ&£%¥%%

1,482,7380008 t(— T —— 4

/%71:)

1,422,582,000

HEGEASEREERRENERS

RO EENz - MIFBEVERLE - AF
B EXEREVEREERACERERE
156 P B4 B W) R TR Y (3 A0 — B B R Ko

RZZB-—_H=A=+—H HWEA

&

/%7[1(—? —

RS BEHIZE

Gilzibza

3R i K 2 B RS M = 8 /5 284,606,000
£ 270,768,000/ 7T) ° B
WER

AR EHE - A

HEREAEA R KA zT/TfR% % F R

Bw A

BHIWAERD

7k % F R

%>m7rlJFﬁJE1‘J‘$RIEﬁﬁ/*/F&E’] B IAAE

14,230,000 t(Z & = —F :

ABIT) e

13,538,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31st March 2022, the deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$35,259,000 (2021: HK$42,200,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely. The remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$2,020,000 (2021: HK$6,465,000) will
expire in five years from the year they were incurred.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of approximately HK$50,132,000 (2021:
HK$51,500,000) and approximately HK$10,909,000
(2021: HK$5,979,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately HK$303,828,000 (2021:
HK$323,565,000) that can be carried forward
indefinitely and approximately HK$43,637,000 (2021:
HK$23,916,000) that will be expired in five years from
the year they were incurred respectively.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

21

22

ELEFREHEE (BE) (&)

BEEFSHEETAERBERGH =B B
RIERTUE N EIRMBLATEE 2 RIBEIE/E
R RN_FE__F=A=+—H B
TH S EER 2 IEEFTS B & E 435,259,000
BIL(ZZEZ—4F 1 42,200,000/8 70 ) A] LA £
FREAAE8E o 82 T U IH 518 492,020,000 % 7T
—EF - — 1% :6,465,0008 ) BREEF
ERAFEBKRN -

7N £2 [E 3 #8 5E 4 303,828,000 8 T (- B~ —
F 1 323,565,000/8 70 ) Al A [R B 45 82 2
70 T8 B 48 LA} 49 43,637,000 TT(—&F =~ —
% : 23,916,000/ 7T ) < T 18 B B (X 5 K
BERELEFEEAFERI) D AERY
50,132,000 jt(=Z = — 4 : 51,500,000
HIT) A R #910,909,0008 T ( —F — —4 ¢
5,979,000/ 70 ) ZIBILFT SR EE °

BARBEFAHMZEHKBAZEH
aE

2021

—E-_—F

HK$'000

TERT

At beginning of year ) 4,203 62

Addition NE = 3,145
Change in fair value recognised in other Eﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬂlkqﬂﬁﬁ%

comprehensive income (Note 35) BABEEE(ME3S) (1,454) 996

At end of year RER 2,749 4,203

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income, which is stated at fair value and denominated in
HK$, represents shares listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

2R BB AR

BAREBEFARBEARAZEREER
’A REENRLIAETIHE  EREBEA
REAERAR EH 2D -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23 BRAREBEFAESZ2EMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021

—E-_—F

HK$'000

FET

Unlisted securities ELEMFES 3,908 —

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, BARBET ARG ZeMEELRANEE

which is stated at fair value and denominated in DIBRWLAETTAHE @ FE AR R R BB MK

US$, represents the Group’s investments in a private VZIARTINRE c BEAAEETEZ
company incorporated in Hong Kong. For information B B2HRAVBmMERMESS -

about the fair value measurement, please refer to Note
3.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

24 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24 fTEEWMIA
2021
—E-—&F
HK$'000
T
Current asset/(liability) RBEE/(AfE)
Interest rate swaps — cash flow FEEH-RER=E
hedges, at market value o BTE 1,184 (1,084)
As at 31st March 2022, the notional principal amounts RZTBZZF=A=+—H REEHFE
of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts were HEI A #) 2 % & A % %% 98,000,000 % 7T
HK$98,000,000 (2021: HK$128,000,000), which has —E- 128 000,000/ L) * B #1E
been designated as the hedging instrument for the EAABTRITEREFFEINME T
committed interest payment of certain bank borrowings. A o R EPZ%T/EM:%ﬁEPﬁE R U 2R K B
Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve B3 KT B REGEERK  EE
in equity (Note 35) will be continuously released to the FEHEERIE -

consolidated income statement until the settlement of
the interest.

(i) Fair value measurement (i) AREETE
For information about the fair value measurement BRUTESRTIEAREBAENEZE
of the derivative financial instruments, please B FHREGAMEHRERMESS
refer to Note 3.3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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24 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24 fTHEEWMIA (&)

(CONTINUED)
(i) HHEE

(ii) Hedging reserves

AEBERGAPERRM AT RE
ZH P REEEATEH T TABER

The Group’s hedging reserves disclosed in Note
35 to the consolidated financial statements relate
to the following hedging instruments:

2022 2021
—E-C —EB-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TERT
Interest rate swaps Fl 2= 5
At beginning of year REH] (1,084) —
Add: Change in fair value of o REMEERAR
hedging instrument RZEHPTA
recognised in other NABEED
comprehensive income 1,474 (1,228)
Less: Transfer from hedging reserve & @ {t ¥R BEREEER
to profit or loss — included — s ABBER
in finance cost (Note 10) (FFEE10) 794 144
At end of year RER 1,184 (1,084)
25 INVENTORIES 25 &

2022 2021

—E_— —E-_—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FET

Finished goods K 543,927 441,927
Work in progress TE®E 3,539 1,145
547,466 443,072

472,362,219,000/8 L(=Z = —%F : 1,703,668,000
BIIZBEERAEEREBSH  WEFTAL
BEERZ[HENRA]F -

The costs of inventories recognised as expenses
and included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated
income statement amounted to approximately
HK$2,362,219,000 (2021: HK$1,703,668,000).

194

The Group made inventory provision for obsolete
inventories and write-down of the inventories to net
realisable value. As at 31st March 2022, there is a
provision of HK$9,600,000 (2021: HK$10,937,000)
netted off with the inventories in the consolidated
statement of financial position. A reversal of provision
for impairment of inventories of HK$1,051,000 (2021:
HK$1,825,000) was included in “cost of sales” in the
consolidated income statement.
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26 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 26 BUWERMRKREE
2022 2021
—E_-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET BT
Trade receivables FEULBR 3R 499,352 365,806
Bill receivables R ZE & 26,782 18,799
Less: Provision for impairment B RERE (16,536) (20,791)
Trade and bill receivables — net FEUER T R 2E — 55 509,598 363,814
Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open HEHUNEREREEEH 2SR RE
account with credit terms of 0 to 90 days. 7 EEHNTOEIHTE -
Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice EWERREEREZEZBHAZRE TN
date is as follows: ™

2021

—E-—F

HK$'000

TERT

0 to 60 days 0z=60H 338,506 282,560

61 to 120 days 61=120H 101,857 45,458

121 to 180 days 1212180 H 35,368 14,490

181 to 365 days 1812 365H 23,729 16,762

Over 365 days A 365 H 26,674 25,335

526,134 384,605

Less: Provision for impairment B B (16,536) (20,791)

509,598 363,814

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide AEBGEBABMBEHRELENFEIREAM

for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS {LAFTIRBEEREE - AP AT EIER

9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected HEREHEREBERE Y EBHEE

loss provision for trade receivables. To measure the B8 WERWEREREREERREFIE

expected credit losses, these receivables have been LREBRERREE FHEREEEEREZ
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics E—HERREMFEIA(D) °

and the aging from billing. See Note 3.1(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.
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26 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 26
(CONTINUED)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and
bill receivables are as follows:

W AR R R % ()

FEUERF R R R ERBEES T

2022 2021

—E_— —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT FET

At beginning of year REAT 20,791 18,905
Provision for impairment, net AR TR 601 293
Write off during the year as uncollectible F Afi$5 A&7l Ug @] (1,726) (16)

Write-off upon deregistration B — AT B A R

of a subsidiary ! (3,887) —
Currency translation differences EHEIE N R 757 1,609
At end of year RER 16,536 20,791
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables JEWERLRERSE EASEHEN —-F

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2022
and 2021.

The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables
were denominated in the following currencies:

TR E - FZA=Z+—HBZRAREE

B -

MR LR FREZEHSRUATIEE

SHE -

2022 2021
—E__ —E_—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

RMB AR 173,208 135,742
HK$ BT 336,298 228,061
Other HEih 92 11
509,598 363,814

Bill receivables of approximately HK$20,729,000 (2021:
HK$18,109,000) were pledged as collateral for certain
of the Group's bill payables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

e ISR R M R

27 AMNFRIE  BREREMBEBRIRNK

2021

—E-_—F

HK$'000

FET

Prepayments for purchases TET R R 65,300 72,314
Rental and other deposits e hEMRs 12,794 14,425
Value-added tax recoverable A] Uk [B] 1 (B 7 11,689 14,615
Others Efh 35,920 10,238
125,703 111,592

Less: Non-current A FERNER (14,499) (12,540)
Current BER 111,204 99,052

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2022
and 2021 and were denominated in the following
currencies:

e hEMERERZFEOSEREN
T CENCEF=ZA=+—HZANE
BERE - WATHEEEE

3 A

2021

—E_—F

HK$’000

FRexT

RMB AR 10,976 8,257
HK$ BT 37,668 16,127
Us$ ETT 70 279
48,714 24,663
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28 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH 28 BEBBRTER BERBREE

EQUIVALENTS =l
2021
—E-_—F
HK$'000
FET
Cash on hand FEE® 150 215
Cash at bank RITFERK 231,852 172,891
232,002 173,106
Less: Pledged bank deposits A BEIFRITER (43,071) (54,008)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEE 188,931 119,098
Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents EEBRTERILESNRESSEUNTIE
were denominated in the following currencies: Mg

2022 2021
—E2-— —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T
HK$ BT 132,560 79,936
RMB AR¥E 80,165 81,752
uss$ T 19,227 11,376
Others Eh 50 42
232,002 173,106
The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and CHEFRTERILABE SRR EE2ER
cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair SHEEAER T——E&_Qj\:—ggﬂ
values as at 31st March 2022 and 2021. =t+—HZAREBERS -
The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 0.43% PITFEARZERMNE ATF0.43% (—ZE =
(2021: 1.06%) per annum. These deposits have an F:1.06%) - ZEEFEHHFEY 'J,HﬂEIZ%,31
average maturity of 31 days (2021: 28 days). H(ZZ=——%F :28H) °
As at 31st March 2022, the Group’s bank deposits of R-ZTBE-_—_FE=B=+—H" $%IE’1$E
approximately HK$43,071,000 (2021: HK$54,008,000) T R H) /43,071,000 T(ZF = —4F -
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables. 54,008,000/ ) B E B RN EREFERRZ

BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31st March 2022, pledged bank deposits and
cash and bank deposits totalling approximately
HK$77,719,000 (2021: HK$80,713,000) and HK$39,000
(2021: HK$1,972,000) were kept in banks in Mainland
China and denominated in RMB and HK$ respectively.
These funds are not freely convertible in the international
market with exchange rate determined by the People’s
Bank of China.

TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of
credit or open account with credit period of 30 to 180
days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice
date is as follows:

28

29

e ISR R M R

BEMBRTER BRERRES
B (&)

RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—8 oBFRITEF
FARIR € RIRITF KA H£4) 77,719,000 7%
T(—Z = —4 :80,713,000;8 7t ) & 39,000
B (ZEZ—F 1,972,000 L) FRH
B ABERITI D BIAARE KB ITTEHE © 1t
EEBTTHEEREMEER LR R EESE
AP ARRITET

BNERRREE

R ER 2 NS AE AE S B E B H
ZRBEAN#ET EEHNT30= 180T

ENEREREEREZEE BB RE DT
T

2022 2021

—E_C —E_—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FTET

0 to 60 days 0F60H 358,632 244,911
61 to 120 days 612 120H 5,273 196
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 68,900 30
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 498 33
Over 365 days 8 365 H 259 184
433,562 245,354
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29 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2022
They were denominated in the following

and 2021.
currencies:

29 BENRAERER)

ENEFAERE RO EREARN T -~
FR-F-_—F=ZRA=t—HZAREEMN
%o ENRREEBATIEEE

2022 2021
—E2__ —E-_—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT FRxT

RMB AR 79,674 94,590
HK$ BT 17,615 8,765
Us$ ETT 336,270 137,147
Others Hih 3 4,852
433,562 245,354

30 ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

30 EsfEEREAMEMRNK

2022
—E-C

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000
THET

HK$°000
THET

Accrual for employee benefit expenses [EiHEE AL 27,258 12,087
Accrual for operating expenses FERHE A 25,532 21,859
Rental deposits received DR ERS 16,582 14,040
Value-added tax payables FETILETRE 2,644 2,381
72,016 50,367
Less: Non-current R FERNHER (10,403) (11,147)
Current BVEA 61,613 39,220
The carrying amounts of financial liabilities in accrued i aEREMEMERRZSREBERT
liabilities and other payables approximated their fair SHEHAN "S- —FKR T -—F=A

values as at 31st March 2022 and 2021 and were
denominated in the following currencies:

=t+—BZAREERE WA THNEE
& :

2022 2021
—E-— —EB-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
HK$ BIT 12,405 10,418
RMB AR 29,552 25,481
uss$ Eiv 157 —
42,114 35,899
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR
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31 PROVISIONS 31 B
2022 2021
—E-C —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THAT FET
Provision for onerous contracts BERY) 2 BE 33,067 33,280
Others Eh 1,295 2,018
34,362 35,298

Movements on the Group’s provision are as follows:

AEBEBRBZEBNOT

Onerous
contracts Others
BERY Hth
HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT THER
At 1st April 2020 RZZE-TFMA—H — 4,025 4,025
Addition of provision FAREIN
during the year B 33,280 — 33,280
Utilisation A — (2,007) (2,007)
At 31st March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—H 33,280 2,018 35,298
(Reversal)/addition of FR(ELD)/
provision during the year REONE (213) 397 184
Utilisation A — (1,120) (1,120)
At 31st March 2022 RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H 33,067 1,295 34,362
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32 BORROWINGS 32 BE
2022 2021
—E2-— —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current RIHA
— Trust receipts bank loans (i) 1?*&14&%)5?&?‘?%%0) 593,598 546,798
— Short-term bank loans (i) —RHARITER() 86,099 62,699
— Current portion of long-term —ﬁHHfEfTEEJ’\ZEﬂHHEB/
bank loans, secured (ii) BEA (i) 49,856 48,834
— Current portion of hire-purchase —HEaE Y
liability, secured (iii) *ﬁ%ﬁﬁ#ﬁ(iii) 862 —
_ Other loan (iv) —HE K (iv) 6,304 16,562
736,719 674,893
Non-current JEBNER
- Long-term bank loans, secured (ii) —RHIRITER - BEA () 746,444 779,749
— Hire-purchase liability, secured (iii) —MHE&E - HEMA i) 3,320 —
— Other loan (iv) — HAMERK (iv) 12,475 —
762,239 779,749
Total borrowings -Gk 1,498,958 1,454,642

Notes:

(i) As at 31st March 2022 and 2021, trust receipts bank loans were
secured by the Group’s inventories held under short-term trust
receipts bank loan arrangement and corporate guarantee while
short-term bank loans were secured by corporate guarantee.

(i) As at 31st March 2022, the long-term bank loans of approximately
HK$418,880,000 (2021: HK$411,621,000) were secured by the
pledge of the Group’s investment property of approximately
HK$1,482,096,000 (2021: HK$1,421,966,000) (Note 15) and
corporate guarantee. The remaining long-term bank loans of
approximately HK$377,420,000 (2021: HK$416,962,000) were
secured by corporate guarantee and Group’s equity interests
in certain subsidiaries and in which HK$40,000,000 (2021:
HK$70,000,000) was further secured by floating charge on all of
the assets of a subsidiary.
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REBZ—FR-F-—=A=+—H8 5K
BROTERBEAEEEHETRETIHE 2R

BRABRRERR - MAERRITERAARBE
RIEIRAR -

WZZZZ—#=F=+—H " %418,880,000/%
JL(=ZZF = —F 411,621,000 7T ) 2 K B R 1T
ERmAEEREYEL1,482,096,0005% 7T (=
T~ —4F : 1,421,966,000 7T ) (Fif 3£ 15) tE & 4
N EPER o FI#4377,420,0008 (=2 = —
416,962,000 ) 2 REFIRITE R AL EE
REBAREENE THBARNESEER - M
#40,000,000% Jt(—= & = — 4 : 70,000,000 %
TE—FTE-—EHBAR A EEETFHIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 32

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group has certain machinery financed by hire purchase
arrangement. The rights to the assets will revert to the
financier only in the event of a default of the terms under these
agreements.

e ISR R M R

B8 (H)

FiEE : ()

(iif)

AEEHEETHEBTHREBENKS - HE
ENRMNNERZERERTORIBSERET
BEAA -

Gross hire purchase liabilities — minimum lease payments THEaRERE - &EREMNK

Not later than 1 year TER1F 1,023

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years B FETERSF 3,580
4,603

Future finance charges on hire purchase TAEH AR BEER (421)
4,182

Total present value of hire purchase is as follows: HBaENARENT :

Not later than 1 year TEMN1F 862

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years ER1FETERSF 3,320
4,182

As at 31st March 2022, other loan represents a loan from
a financial institution denominated in US$, unsecured and
repayable by quarterly instalments in accordance with the
repayment schedule as stipulated in the loan agreement until
March 2025. The loan bears interest at floating rate (2021: Other
loan represents a loan denominated in RMB, unsecured and due
on 31st July 2021.The loan bears fixed interest rate at 6% per
annum).

(iv)

RIZBZ-H=ZA=+—RH HEFIEmEE
AERTTAHEZ ER ﬁiﬂ%‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ*%%ﬂ%:ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ
ZENFBRFESONT BEE-T-RF=
B BERBFBHEFB(ZT=—F: EER
BUAARBHEZER  BERIN-Z-—F+
RA=+—HEIH - EXIZ 6% NEEFFETE) »
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32 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The maturity of the Group’s borrowings in accordance
with the repayment schedule:

B8 (H)

AEEREEARNERKERZIHEB

T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

gl

2021

—E_—F

HK$'000

FTiExT

Within one year 1R 736,719 674,893
Between one and two years 15226 695,784 63,659
Between two and five years 2E5F 66,455 716,090
1,498,958 1,454,642

Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

tEEA N IIEEHEHE

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THT FRT

HK$ BT 886,825 836,093
RMB AR 504,979 490,882
Us$ ETT 107,154 127,667
1,498,958 1,454,642

The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum)
at the reporting dates are as follows:

R&\ER - BEZEREMNR(BF)0T :

RMB AR
HK$ BT
us$ e

5.9%

2.4%
2.6%

5.9%
3.2%
2.7%

Majority of the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March
2022 and 2021 are on floating rate basis and the
carrying amounts of the borrowings approximated their
fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The Group has the following floating rate undrawn
borrowing facilities:

an\

32 BE (&)

B HRRM

REBBRNATRERZFEBIEERE

2022 2021

—E__ —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FiEx

— expiring within one year —— & REH 205,778 505,587
— expiring beyond one year —— &£ 84,000 86,000
289,778 591,587

33 SHARE CAPITAL

33 BR&

Authorised
(Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each)
EE

(BRO.10BTZEER)
Number of Nominal
CLHETCH] value
RGO E E{E
’000 HK$’000
TR FHET

Issued and
fully paid
(Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each)
ERTRHE
(BR0.10BT2EER)
Number of Nominal
shares value
BB H{E
’000 HK$’000
T & THET

As at 1st April 2020 and RZZEZZTFHA—HR
31st March 2021 —E-—-#%=H=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 641,232 64,123
Less: Repurchased and A B
cancelled R 5t 84 = — (818) (82)
As at 31st March 2022 RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,414 64,041

During the year ended 31st March 2022, the Company
repurchased and cancelled the ordinary shares on The
Stock Exchange of Hong kong Limited as follows:

BHE—
AIRNER

T__HF-ZA=Z+T—HLFE A2
BERXZPABRAFIEENEHE

BRI

Month of purchase

Number Highest

of shares price paid

repurchased per share

) BRXAM

BRAEE BefE

’000 HK$

Tk BT

September 2021 —ZEZ—FhA 318 0.300
November 2021 I 346 0.450
December 2021 —“E-_—-F+-H 154 0.450

Aggregate
Lowest consideration

price paid  paid (before
per share expenses)
2RRE

gRX (M
REE B2 0)

L [€] HK$’000

BT THERT

0.300 95
0.435 153
0.450 69
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34 SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company (the
‘2021 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 11th
August 2021 and the previous share option scheme
of the Company adopted on 11th August 2011 (the
‘2011 Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 10th
August 2021, notwithstanding that the share options
which have been granted and remained outstanding
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to
and in accordance with the terms on which the share
options were granted, the provisions of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme and the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
terminated or amended, the 2021 Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date (i.e. 11th August
2021) and will expire on 10th August 2031. The
purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group. Eligible participants of
the 2021 Share Option Scheme include any employee
(whether full fume or part time), executive or officers
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including
executive or non-executive directors of the Company)
and any business consultant, financial or legal adviser
of the Company or any of its subsidiary or any other
person, who satisfies the criteria prescribed by the
terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted no later than
twenty-eight (28) days from the date of grant, provided
that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after
the expiry of the period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date of the 2021 Share Option Scheme or after
the 2021 Share Option Scheme has been terminated.
The amount payable by each grantee of options to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
options is HK$10.00.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E & 1ZRER A R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The subscription price in respect of any option under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the
grant of the relevant option and must be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the options, which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares of
HK$0.10 each. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Board of Directors but in
any event, not longer than ten (10) years from the date
of grant.

The total number of the Company’s shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options under 2021
Share Option Scheme and the options granted under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries to each grantee (including both
exercised or outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue for the time being. Where any further grant
of options to a grantee would result in the Company’s
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such
person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of Company’s shares in issue,
such further grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and
his close associates (or his associates if the grantee is
a connected person) abstaining from voting.

A B ERAR A

4 EkE(E)

T FRRER SR T T EARE R
BEAHEFENELERBRER 2D
BEE BERLIBEATIRSERE ()
ARARBORBELBREER(LARER
B)EBRPTE B ®REXRMHRZEHE : (i)
ARRB AR B L REIHE B HIR1 A (5) @
LERAEBZAEERERMBIFHKRD
B R(i)ANRAB RO EESR0I10E T
ERBBEREZITERIHEZTSETE  #
ERMATSEER B HEFN T (10)F
HAMR -

RABETE T - —FHEREASIETH
BRELREBEARDE R, SENBARNE
o] L At i AR 1 &1 17 & AR AR O i B
(BRETEH R RITEANERAE) M MEW
T EARED BT REETOROAET
SHEEMARTZEHITRNAI 1% o R
BRAE—TREBEERERARRAEITE
“E - FRBREEIRARR R REN
B AR IR EAMBARETSIE T HHEN
PrAERBIE M BAMERA TR ENBEREE
BETHE - CEERAEARTTEBBRE) MR
T EAREEE(RR)ZE—PRHAH
ERTRBETORNEREARBEHET
B 1% A £ - BIZE - PR HBERRER
BRAE LEEE  MAERARAREER
EHMEA(K(HZARARBBEAL) HBER
NIBRERSE °
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34 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme, together with all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
(including the 2011 Share Option Scheme), must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries if this would
result in the 30% limit being exceed. In addition, the
total number of Company’s shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme (“General Limit"). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the General Limit.

Unless otherwise imposed by the Board and stated in
the offer letter, the exercise of an option is not subject
to any performance target which must be achieved
before the options can be exercised or any minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The 2011 Share Option Scheme has expired on 10th
August 2021. No options were granted, exercised
and lapsed under 2011 Share Option Scheme during
the year ended 31st March 2022. The terms of the
2011 Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of options granted prior to its expiration.
Movements of share options granted under 2011 Share

34

e ISR R M R

B (4]

— T FBEREFICR T =%\ A
THERM -BE_T__F=-A=+—HIF
EE;:gffiﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁTwﬁ%%
RS TR Z T — —FRERE
%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ@ﬁa%mawm
BRETEXRN UHTTREN -BE_T
TR —F=-A=t+—HILFE "
—EFBREFIETRE CBERES

Option Scheme for the years ended 31st March 2022

and 2021 were as follows:

E N

Date of grant Validity period
RFRH X8

For the year ended 31st March 2022
HE-B-CEZA-t-ALEE

Exercise
price
per share

SRTEE
HKS
BT

Adjusted
exercise
price

per share (i)
e
BRIOEE()
HK$

AT

As at
1st April

REA-H
000
Tk

Cancelled/ As at
Granted lapsed  Exercised  31st March

BF  H#/%% Bfif W=A=t-A
000 000 000 000
Tk Tk Th Tk

20th January 20th January 2015 to 3 0.928 0.928 2,100 = = = 2,100
2015 19th January 2025
“5-1%F “E-Rf-fZTREE
-A=t8 “RCRE-RTAR
27th November 27th November 2013 to 1 1.300 1.043 1,246 = = = 1,246
2013 26th November 2023
:T = ﬁﬂ' ﬂ +tEI
Vitn  Srthrnitar
16th November 16th November 2012 to 1,2 0.670 0.537 2,344 = = = 2,344
20 15th November 2022
—5-CE ZE-CEt-ATARE
t-AtxH :?::Er At1H
5,690 = = = 5,690
For the year ended 31st March 2021
BE-EZ--F=f=1-RLEE
20th January 20th January 2015 to 3 0.928 0.928 2,100 - — — 2,100
2015 19th January 2025
“5-1% “E-E-A-THE
-B-tA “2-RE-A+hA
27th November 27th November 2013 to 1 1.300 1.043 1,246 - - - 1,246
2013 26 h November 2023
:z\_zg —? —g-‘— ﬂ ﬂ'J[EK
+-A=ttA ZEICET-AZT5R
16th November 16th November 2012 to 1,2 0.670 0.537 2,344 — — — 2,344
2012 15th November 2022
5 “E-“F+-Bt5BE
t-AtxH :2::¢+ At1H
5,690 - — - 5,690
Notes: Bzt -
1. The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 1. RZE—NF+_A+tHARE-Z——F§

17th December 2014 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were
adjusted for the open offer completed in December 2014.

BEAERL CBRETEERKBER -F
—MET-ARKZ ARBEEFELEE -
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34 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

2. The share options were vested in five tranches, with each
tranche covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable
to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant options and with the 1st,
2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming exercisable from 16th
of November in the years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
respectively and the years onwards till 15th November 2022.

3. The share options were vested in four tranches, with each
tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable
from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019
respectively and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.

No options were granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31st March 2022.

The total number of shares available for issue upon
exercise of all outstanding under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme and 2021 Share Option Scheme is 5,690,271
shares (2011 Share Option Scheme: 5,690,271 shares
and 2021 Share Option Scheme: Nil), representing
0.89% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31st March 2022.

The maximum number of shares available for issue
upon exercise of share option not yet granted under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share
Option Scheme is 64,123,231 shares (2011 Share
Option Scheme: Nil and 2021 Share Option Scheme:
64,123,231 shares), representing 10.01% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 31st March 2022.

SRBRERRAR

B R (4]

BT - (88)

2. BRESTHEE  §— 555 SEREREN
Aoz —(AEZA{TERBERENAYZ—)
F—F- F= FORERHPSFINR=ZT—=

FOZ-=F _ZT-NF  _ZE-RFK-T
—NEMt+— A+ BRI FIIFE BEE T
F+—A+HABL-

3. BIREDNESE 85— Ho s REREERED
Moz —(A&EZ A TERBEEBRENTS 2 —) -
F— FZ FZRFEEHAIRIR_ZT—RF - =
T—+F —E-)\EER-ZT-NEFH—HA=+H
A FIIE BEE-T-AF—A+NB1E-

RBE-_ZT__F=A=+—HHH #E
RIE—ZT - —FBRE R D EABRE -
RE-_FT-——FEREFER-_FT=_—

BIRERE - SRACSEREMERTRZ
BRRETER A TERTZENDAHS

569,271 ( =T — —FHERK#EE
5690271l kT - —_FHEKRE S !
) (hARARFR-_ZE-_—F=A=+—H2
BEITIRZAR0.89% ©

$E%F_T——¢B§Hxﬁé AEIRTEFH
ARAERTE - M RER D 2 BRI TR
Al TEIT2RMEE LR A64,123,2311%
(ZE——FERETE 2R _FT-—F
BERRREET 2] 64,123,231 %) » 1EARRA AR
T —FZA=Z+t—HZEBETRAHN
10.01%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS /
sopwmams | N

35 RESERVES 35 {#E

Cumulative

Share 0 e n { / bdge atio Retained

premium (i ) Other ] eamings Total

ik

As at 1st April 2020 HE-ZERR-A 426,253 7,851 80,624 16,068 58,355 - (15,703) (42n) (82,197) 248,898 4,722
Proftfor the year ER] - - - - - - - - - 1673 1673
Otter compretensive incomeyfloss) ~ E284// (65
Net fair vlug change of iﬁ%m;ﬂﬁz/&ﬂﬁﬁ

cash flow hedge - - - - - (1,084) - - - - (1,084)
Currency translation differences - - - - - - - - 101,009 - 101,009
Change in financial assets B fﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ@”&m

at FIOC (Note 22) e Five ollio/) - - - - - - - % - - %
Transacion with owners SREERE\G5h

intheir capacty as owners EiHis
Lapse of share options BhERH - (6.794) - - 5762 - - - - 1032 -
Change of ownership inferest T

in subsidiaries B2y - - - - (24363) - 3558 - B B (20805)
Share repurchase of HesllER L

non-controlling interests ek - - - 1,283 (10) - - - - (1,186) §
Appropriation of statutory reserves  EEEEHE - - - kY - - - - - (39) -
As at 31st March 2021 W-F-£2A=1-R 426,253 1,067 80,624 19,39 30,744 (1,084) (12,145) 569 18812 250,378 823,598
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R MR

A 4

35 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 35 fE&#E (&)

Cumulative

Financial foreign

Share Capital assets currency
Share option  redemption Statutory Capital Hedge Other atFVOCl  translation Retained
premium reserve  reserve (i) reserves (i) reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings

NMEE
FARMEE
&4RE Az 2itp%
ROEE  RRERE Rl EERE() BARE Hhdk ARE  SREERR EXRR e a8
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tir Tir i fir

As at 1st April 2021 H-3--§Mm8-A 426,253 1,087 80,624 19,390 39,744 (1,084) (12,145) 569 18,812 250,378 823,598
Proftfor the year ERg| - - - - - - - - - 65,503 65,503
Otter comprelensive incomefloss)  Z#280)/ (65
Net fair value change of RefiEHn MER
cash flow hedge FH5E - - - - - 2,268 - - - - 2,268
Currency tranglation differences ~ EXE7ZE - - - = - - - - 54,268 - 54,268
Release of exchange reserve HER TR
upon deregistration of subsidiaries B2 R - - - - - - - - (1,131) - (1,131)
Chenge infinancial assefs BOABRIAZRZERAN
at FYOCI (Note 22) SREE/ 2 (M) - - - - - - - (1,454) - - (1,454)
Transection with owners in HEE\NEREABSS
their capacily as owners EHRE
Shares repurchased and cancelled B RiE (240) - k72 - - - - - - (322) (240)
Dividend paid FGIES - - - - - - - - - (16,018) (16,018)
Appropriation of staiufory resenves  RAZTEE = = = 3% = = = = = (396) =
As at 31st March 2022 HZEZZF=R=1-R 426,013 1,057 80,946 19,786 39,744 1,184 (12,145) (885) 1,949 299,145 926,794
Notes: Bt
(i) Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve fund (i) EEREBERPRAES FHBARR I ZDE
and general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries in LEREEES N —REEES - HBHBEAREX
Mainland China. As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, HETRE - N BARER Y REE B AT AR
the subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are HEREEN (KEEBFEERIE) BEIES
required to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after ENERREBEESR—REBES  LLETYAH
offsetting prior year losses) to the enterprise expansion reserve HEOEEeET —REEESTHEEREE
fund and general reserve fund, at rates determined by their EREMEA  MAEEEFEES Y AELN
respective boards of Directors. The general reserve fund may BEAN o

be used for making up losses and increasing capital, while the
enterprise expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing
capital.

(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established upon (i) [EEN L TRy A E L s - VA
repurchase of shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax

36 #LE

to net cash generated from operations is as

follows:

nVT\

BERER

(a) FRFTEHAIEFEEE

FEEENT ¢

B HRRM

FEeRE

2022 2021
—E-— B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Profit before income tax B ETIS R AT @ A 83,006 13,362
Share of results of investments [ RIE T A
accounted for using the AR ZIEE
equity method ZEE 12,550 19,724
Interest income B A (1,066) (1,110)
Interest expenses FEXZE 62,502 64,024
Dividend income AR B (657) —
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BE LB
and equipment ZIE 6,470 13,046
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEECTE 9,800 12,308
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - WER&E
plant and equipment ol it 96 145
Gain on modification of lease MEE 2 = (1,141) (2,865)
Unrealised exchange gain REIR I e 2,378 (817)
Release of exchange reserve B /88 X R A S R A AR
upon derecognition of subsidiaries 2 IE R R (1,131) —
Impairment losses of property, ME - BE LB
plant and equipment BIEEE — 572
Amortisation of intangible assets mpEE B 710 783
Fair value (gain)/loss on Txﬁ%%Z@ AEE
investment properties @)/ (832) 8,362
Provision for impairment of trade J'EJ%ZQE AR EBRE
and bill receivables - net BfE—F5E 601 293
Reversal of impairment of FEREERD
inventories - net — 55 (1,051) (1,825)
(Reversal of)/provision for BERY(EE)
onerous contracts B (213) 33,280
Operating profit before working EEFEHFI 2
capital changes %%&w&ﬁl 172,022 159,282
— Inventories 78 (99,551) (78,589)
- Trade and bill receivables — YRR R BB (140,113) 6,810
— Prepayments, deposits and —TERRIE -« me RHAM
other receivables JE W BR 3R (10,773) (4,163)
— Trade and bill payables L e 182,518 70,314
- Receipts in advance and —TEYGRIE K
deferred revenue EIEWA 23,094 (6,506)
— Accrued liabilities and —EEAER
other payables H M ERBR R 18,617 (2,500)
Net cash generated from operations L& 1321 ¢ /F5E 145,814 144,648
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R MR
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36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36 MEBHEREXRE)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REZEERERERT  HEWE -
proceeds from disposals of property, plant and BEEREZREREBLE

equipment comprise:

2022 2021

—=E2__ —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHT T

Net book amount (Note 14) BREVFRE(MIEE14) 102 280
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BERE#E 2

plant and equipment (Note 7) 8 (Mt 7) (96) (145)
Sales proceeds of disposals HEYE - BERE#E 2

of property, plant and equipment SHEFTISIA 6 135

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) MEEZBZ2AEBHIER
activities

Liabilities from financing activities

REEDES
Borrowing  Borrowing Hire
due within  due after Lease purchase

1year liabilities  liabilities Total

—F#
Iz EE FMzE HEEE HBaR #zg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TERT TERT TET

Net debt as at s

31st March 2020 ZAZ+—BHZFE® 560,555 855,083 27,192 — 1,442,830
Proceeds from borrowings & EFTE A 69,019 171,000 — — 240,019
Repayment of EEBRT

bank borrowings B8 (79,616)  (230,000) — —  (309,616)
Net decreased in SEWIERITER

trust receipt bank loans TR 66,486 — — — 66,486
Additions NE — — 3,064 — 3,064
Interest expenses on MEEE

lease liabilities 2B — — 824 — 824
Payment for lease liabilities A& & ENR — —  (12,118) — (12118
Other non-cash movements  H R4 & 48,834 (47,980)  (12,531) — (11,677)
Foreign exchange HE

adjustments R 9,615 31,646 88 — 41,349
Net debt as at i —:S

31st March 2021 ZA=ZT—HZEE® 674,893 779,749 6,519 — 1,461,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36 MEBREREXR(E)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) MEITH2EEHKR(E)

activities (Continued)

Liabilities from financing activities

MEEHERE
Borrowing Borrowing Hire
due within  due after Lease purchase

1 year liabilities liabilities Total
—F#&
IMzEE HERE HEEE wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THERT THET THET TR

Net debt as at NZE-—%F

31st March 2021 =A==+ B FER 674,893 779,749 6,519 — 1,461,161
Proceeds from borrowings fEEmEA 95,680 372,452 — 4,600 472,732
Repayment of BIERIT

bank borrowings BE (116,516)  (379,768) = —  (496,284)
Net increased in trust EARERITER

receipt bank loans SFREM 46,800 — — - 46,800
Additions NE = — 33,166 = 33,166
Interest expenses FlEx — — 477 93 570
Payment for lease liabilites/) FE&E HERE

hire purchase liabilities (OF: = — (8,378) (511) (8,889)
Other non-cash movements ~ Eft 3£ EE) 30,241 (29,695) (9,373) — (8,827)
Foreign exchange HNE

adjustments S 4,759 16,181 3 — 20,943
Net debt as at NZE-—F

31st March 2022 =A==+ B FEH 735,857 758,919 22,414 4,182 1,521,372
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liﬁ

B ISR M

37 TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#BH&

Acquisition of remaining 40% equity interests
in Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd.
and HSL Capital Holdings Limited

On 4th December 2020, the Group acquired the
remaining 40% of the issued shares of Hongkong
and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd. and HSL Capital
Holdings Limited (Together the “HSL Group”) at a
consideration of HK$20,000,000. The differences
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
interests in the HSL Group of HK$4,523,000 and
the consideration paid is recognised as Capital
reserve, totalling to HK$24,363,000.

Deemed acquisition of Shanghai Bao Shun
Chang International Trading Co., Ltd

On 18th January 2021, Shanghai Bao Shun
Chang International Trading Co., Ltd (“BSC”), a
80.9% owned subsidiary of the Company, had
repurchased from two of the shareholders of their
2.9% equity interests in BSC at a consideration
of RMB2,182,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,614,000). Upon the completion of the
transaction, the Group’'s shareholding in BSC
increased from 80.9% to 83.3%. The differences
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in interests in BSC of HK$2,701,000 and the
consideration paid resulting in net increases in
reserves of HK$87,000.

2R BB AR

37 HEFEFIMEREZIRS

()

(b)

it B Hongkong and Shanghai
Land Capital Ltd. X E&E KT
RAERATERT 40% M IR &

ZE-TFF+-AMNAE - KRB
X 1€ 20,000,000 7T Y B Hongkong
and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd. &
/B/%ﬁjK? HXﬁﬁEZ\\T( 7 FEIHSL &
@J)%TEMO%E%*HJ&T o JEIE

P& 1 25 A I BR A HSL £ B 4 25
éﬂﬁﬂ’ﬁtﬂéﬁé%ﬂ 523,000 /8 o E 2 1

RENZBCERAENHE LA
24,363,000/ 7T °
HEWELISEIEEEEREZ TR

/'\_J

RZZE-_—F—A+/\B ' LBEIES
BEREZHERARIBIES (KA HE
HEB80.9% Em M BAR) UAREA
R ¥ 2,182,000 7T (FHE 1 492,614,000
BILIEMARRELHESEREIES
BEWM29% K- X HERE K
EEREIEERIRERS0.9%EMNE
83.3% o FE IR EREARMNE
g & #2452 B i 1E K H 88 2,701,000
BITHEENRENZEREREFER
87,0007 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &
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37 TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST (CONTINUED)

37 HEEHIMEREZRS (H)

(c) Acquisition of remaining 40% equity interests (c) UlEChina Sources Technology

in China Sources Technology Limited

On 1st April 2020, VSC China Property Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired the entire
issued shares of China Sources Technology
Limited at a consideration of US$1. Upon the
completion of the transaction, the Group deemed
to acquire the remaining 40% equity interest
in China Sources Technology Limited and the
differences between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in interests of HK$3,664,000 and the

Limited 82 T 40% Y B #&

R-ZE-_ZTFMNA—H 2EWERA
VSC China Property Limited LARR(E 1
Z U8 China Sources Technology
Limited ) 2 #BE BTG - XHTAK
& - NEBEWR AU China Sources
Technology Limited BT 40% HORRHE -
BRI IR i 2 DA R B e 25

i /B H # % %8 3,664,000 78 7T B X
BENERCBERASEMEE L8R
3,558,000/8 7T °

consideration paid is recognised as Other reserve,
totalling to HK$3,558,000.

REBE_Z_—F=-A=tT—BLEFEAXE
EEA ARIGRANFESMIDT

The effect on the equity attributable to the owners of
the Group during the year ended 31st March 2021 is
summarised as follows:

P B SR P 1 1 A

Carrying amount of non-controlling

interest acquired ZEEMEE 1,842
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests =1 JEiEHI M E SR & (22,614)
Exchange difference N =58 54
Excess of consideration paid recognised EmAREPERE A

in reserves within equity REZZER (20,718)

BE_T-__F=A=+—HILFE HE
EIEE B RETERNR S

There were no transactions with non-controlling
interests for the year ended 31st March 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB ERR M

38 COMMITMENTS

(@) Commitments under operating leases

(i)

(i)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&#A

Lessor

The Group leases investment properties
under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The lease agreements are
renewable at the end of the lease period at
market rate.

As at 31st March 2022, the Group had total
commitments receivable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in
respect of rented premises of HK$29,800,000
(2021: HK$25,235,000).

Lessee

The Group leases various retail outlets,
offices, warehouses and sites under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The
majority of lease agreements are renewable
at the end of the lease period at market rate.
See Note 16 for further information.

As at 31st March 2022, the Group had total
commitments payable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in
respect of short-term and low-value leases
of HK$638,000 (2021: HK$781,000) which
will be recognised as an expense in the
forthcoming consolidated income statement.

ERRER AT

38 RiE
(a) EEHEERIE

(i) HEA
AEBRBENARE Z EEALY
HHEEEDE - Y ERSE
MBUTSRESES -
RZZE-_Z_F=A=+—H" ' K
EEMEEDEMmMIILZZ T
RIS ETH A 2 R
% /529,800,000 T (— & = —
F : 25,235,000 °

(i) AEHEA

A SR BRI T AU 2 SR
EEZETERE MAE H
BRI - KE82D M4 A £ 78 5
ERBRATSEEES E—F

BERAHIFE16

R-ZFE-_—_F=ZA=+—H" 'K
SERZHEEHAMEKEEEEDN
THHEZEXHOAET RN
A R638,0008TT(ZE = —
% 1 781,0007/87T) K KA
REBBERPEIR/MA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Capital commitments

Significant commitment contracted for at the end
of the reporting period but not recognised as
liability and capital commitment is as follows:

e ISR R M R

8 &I (&)

(b) BEAENE

RBEHREFTNERRERSRER
BARREZERAEWT ¢

Contracted but not provided for
renovation work for an investment

ERTAMERREEZ
—EREME2BETRE

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
TET

property 81 39
Commitment to provide funding for FHENBEERREZE AT
associate’s capital commitments, EE 2R
if called 11,196 18,313
11,277 18,352

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The major shareholder of the Company is Mr. Yao Cho
Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”), who directly owns 0.61% of
the Company’s shares and indirectly owns 13.95% and
29.73% of the Company’s shares through his controlling
companies, namely Perfect Capital International Corp.
(“Perfect Capital”, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Island and 100% owned by Mr. Yao) and
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Island, in which Mr. Yao directly holds
approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owns approximately 42.86%), respectively. The
remaining shares of the Company are held by general
public.

Mr. Yao is the Chairman of the Board.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the significant related party
transactions are disclosed below. The transactions
with related parties were conducted in the ordinary
and usual course of business in accordance with terms
agreed between the Group and its related parties.

39 BEEARS

RABMEZERR AEBLE(THEE]) -
BEERAARDA061%RM - AREBR
H ¥ i% A F]Perfect Capital International
Corp. ([Perfect Capitall + —FHREBEZ
HEFMKLZ AR - BHEERE100%
%5 ) & Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (—RERH
BREZBESEMKZ AR Akt ERRE
5B 4948.81% #E 0 & 5 B Perfect Capital
MERER42.86% Em) D hlHEEE AR
7] 13.95% % 29.73% R0 o AN AR TR
HAREA o

MAEEREFTSER -

BB RREMBOABEEN > BEX
B AR ZWELT - BB IR ZRAKE
SH BT 0 E 2 RN — R K BB ERE
TR ETT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R MR
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 BHMAE RS (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Related parties balance and transactions (a) BABAEERRRS
Balances with related parties HARAR 7 2 4

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiEx
Deferred revenue EEH A
— a joint venture ——fEAEE AT (i) 6,019 5,979
- an associate ——EHERE (ii) 1,258 1,114
7,277 7,093
The balances with the related parties are included HE AR T 2 A eRET AL TR UEIE IR TE
in “Receipt in advances and deferred revenue”. I oNIK
Transaction with related parties HEH T ZXE
The following is a summary of significant related RAEEERXRBBETETERM
party transactions, which were carried out in the BRXIMENT -

normal course of the Group’s business:

2021
—E__ —E_—F
HK$'000

T
Management fee income for EREBWARREHREST
services provided to
— a joint venture = /N (i) 23,938 23,843
— an associate — — A& A A (i) 15,723 26,923

39,661 50,766
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e ISR R M R

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 BEEARB (E)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Related parties balance and transactions
(Continued)

Transaction with related parties (Continued)
Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31st March 2022, management
services were provided by an indirect subsidiary of the
Company to HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited, a
joint venture of the Group at prices mutually agreed by
both parties.

(i) During the year ended 31st March 2022, management
services were provided by indirect subsidiaries of the
Company to Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited, an associate
of the Group, at prices mutually agreed by both parties.

(b) Key management compensation

(a) BBATEHRRXS (&)

HEHT X5 (1)
P 2

(i) RBE-_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—RHLEFE"
BARRZ —HBEENBARKRESR
BE2ERMAEER -4 % D AHSL
Shanghai Office Partners | Limited H2 1t
ZEBRS ©

iy REE-TE-_-—F=A=1+—-BLEE-
HARARIZHEENBARKRESFRAEZ
B 1% A1 7 & @ Bt & A 7 Skyline Holdings
(BVI) Limited 12t 2 B IR AR °

(b) FEEEERM

2021

—E_—F

HK$’000

FRxT

Salaries and allowances Fre MoERL 13,054 13,310

Bonus TEAL 4,915 5,147
Pension costs — defined BIREKA —FRTE

contribution schemes HERETE 414 267

18,383 18,724
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40 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40 FHAREE

In carrying out the ordinary course of business, REEEKBIES  AEBEmYHERKES
the Group is subject to the risk of being named as 7&5?%.#*/\ ZENFEMAASRE 2R -
defendant in legal actions, claims and disputes in HAEBREZAEZREFHEEFTERFEAE
connection with its business activities. The nature BRI AEERISGIREZEERZR - K
of the legal proceedings initiated against the Group EEEKRER MBEREERE EFRAMET
mainly includes claims for compensation by the MZEHARER  IRERERFEZEFN
Group’s existing or former employees for work related T —F A=+ —REHTEHAKEEE
injuries. The Group maintains insurance cover and, BER TR B E

in the opinion of the Directors, based on current
available evidence, any such existing claims and legal
proceedings against the Group are not expected to
have significant adverse financial impact to the Group
as at 31st March 2022.

Other than the above, as at 31st March 2022, the Group BluiEsN R—FE-_—F#=HA=+—8 -
did not have any material contingent liability (2021: Nil). AEBWEFHNEAXNABE(ZZTZ—F
/=) o
41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND A AATBBERRRE FEEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000
TR
Non-current assets IREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZIRE 671,304 667,597
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE - Be REM
other receivables JE U BR X 119 121
Cash and cash equivalents BekReE 3,958 328
4,077 449
Total assets HWEE 675,381 668,046
Equity R
Capital and reserves attributable to  AATHEEABERER
owners of the Company e
Share capital fi& 7 64,041 64,123
Reserves Gl 609,944 603,090
Total equity ERBE 673,985 667,213
Liabilities =N
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables Bt & & L H A FERERF 1,396 833
Total equity and liabilities EEREEEE 675,381 668,046
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41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 ERBUBMRRKRRFEESD
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) ARTFEEE
Capital
Share Share  redemption  Contributed Retained
premium option reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
RiEE BRERE EXRDRE BB REEH g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Note (i) Note (i)
iEd() iEA()
At 1st April 2020 RZTZ% 426,253 1,059 80,624 53,986 17,229 579,151
mA—H
Profit for the year  FE&7 — — - — 23,939 23,939
At31stMarch 2021  RZZ=—% 426,253 1,059 80,624 53,986 41,168 603,090
ZA=1+-H
Profit for the year FERF - - - - 23,112 23,112

Transaction with ~— HBEANZFEA
owners in their ZEREST
capacity as owners  HX%

Shares repurchased (i (240) - 322 - (322) (240)
and cancelled Nt
Dividends paid ERRE
- 2020/21 special -Z%-% = = = - (6,412) (6,412)
dividend ——ERAIRE
- 2021/22 R - — — — - (9,606) (9,606)
interim dividend mERE
At 31stMarch 2022 R-Z=-—% 426,013 1,059 80,946 53,986 47,940 609,944
=A=1-H
Notes: B3 -
(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established (i) EARER FEDARIBRR DR -
upon repurchase of shares.
(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the (i) ARXFBABBEAWELHREMBR
difference between the aggregate of the nominal values a2 & T B A2 A B2 KN B At BT DA
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired at the date of RO EEMER EZ5 -

acquisition, over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies BIREHZFIN  BERBRE—AN—FERQ
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus anE (&&5]) @ ARBBIA DK TR
is also available for distribution to shareholders. However, oo R M)A R BN E SR B RE
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make TR MBIz &8E () AQR ZAT#
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) the Company HEEBERNEABREBITRARKR S
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its HEEZATE AR TEEHARG
liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value FEIRSRERESEHD IR

of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.
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42 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Since late March 2022, the COVID-19 outbreak in
Shanghai has caused momentarily disruption to
business and economic activities. Although the situation
remains fluid as at the date of the consolidated
financial statements which are authorised for issue, the
Directors considered that the direct financial impact
arising from COVID-19 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements are not material. The fair values of
the Group's investment properties and the investment
properties held by the Group’'s associate and joint
venture at 31st March 2022 was estimated based on a
range of forecast economic conditions as at that date
and information available on that date without undue
cost or effort. The impact on certain key assumptions
will be considered when determining the severity and
likelihood of downside economic scenarios that will be
used to estimate fair values of investment properties.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other
significant subsequent event after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire RS IR AR MY AT

RERREE

E_E-__F=AKNUK 20198 RS
BREBERE  BREBRLCEIDEYE
B ARNEBELSGRAVERRERET
BEEHMNBRDTREL  EFRE2019
BRESREAEBGAUBHRERELE
BEEWESESYTER - R_E__F=A
=t —HAEENKREMERAEERZ QD
RAIREERRFBEZREME L AAEER
& ENZE— RIEEA TR R E S
TRBRASIEHANAEZERMESL - R
BB NTERZBREME NG (H A
R EMEZ AR EBE)SEEESTEH
BERZZE -

Bk L P EE &SI
HEXREER -

AEERHRERERGE
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